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Among different Chinese medicine brands,
Wai Yuen Tong is recognized as the
brand providing best Chinese medicine quality.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Awards #& JH (2023-2024)

The Nielsen Company & NielsenlQ
JE B 7 2 7] & NielsenlQ

Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder Ranked 1st in Sales Value &
Sales Volume for 10 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong

B 76 5 % R bR R BSOS 104 S B R B B 2 R —

Based in part on data reported by the Nielsen Company (June 2013 to May 2020) and NielsenlQ
(June 2020 to May 2023) through its MarketTrack Service for the defined Hou Cho Powder
segment of Cough Remedy category for the 10-year period ending May 2023, for Key Account
Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong. (Copyright © 2020, The Nielsen Company;
Copyright © 2023, NielsenlQ)

* RBEBHZAF Q013468 E202045H) B NielsenlQ (202046 A 20234 58) » & E 20234548 1-
0FHE - 2B EHEET  BHERERCREREREARER) TEASHRE (0 2020EAH
A AR BT A R © 2023 NielsenlQ iR 4 BT &)

The Nielsen Company
EBRRAR

Madame Pearl’s was ranked first in the Cough Syrup category
for 14 consecutive years

B R N b W B A 1440 A ik g 08—

Based in part on data reported by the Nielsen Company (January 2010 to December 2019) and
IQVIA (January 2018 to December 2023) through its Cough Syrup Product Sales Data for Key
Account Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong. (Copyright©2010-2019, The Nielsen
Company; Copyright©2018-2023, IQVIA)

* RBEBARAF20106F1AE2019F128 RIQVIA 2018F1AE2023F 122 B EHBAT S  EF
ERERREKRTERHERE - (02010-2019/2 f #& 2 &) R A4 : ©2018-2023 IQVIAWREFTE)

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
EELEREHS

+
years

Wai Yuen Tong — 15 Year Plus Caring Company
arlngcompany PiJE % — 154F Plus 7 5 & B %

Awarded by The Hong kong Council of Social Service
AT ERBHE A

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
EETERBES

Luxembourg Medicine — 15 Year Plus Caring Company

W AR K EE R — 154 Plus 7 5 & BA 3% carlngcompany

Awerded by The Hong Kong Coundil of Social Service
AT ERBHENR
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Chairman’s Statement
By R &

In constant pursuit of excellence over the past 125 years, “Wai Yuen Tong”

has withstood a century with established reputation in providing Chinese and
Western pharmaceutical products and Chinese medicine out-patient clinic
services. | hereby express my heartfelt gratitude to all colleagues for their
dedication during the past challenging year in the inheritance of tradition, and

contribution to the health of people in the community.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
EN XA )

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Wai
Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company’, together with its
subsidiaries, the "Group”), | present to the shareholders the annual report for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year” or the “year under review").

Wai Yuen Tong has upheld the philosophy of “Preparing Medicine with
Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation” since its establishment in 1897.
With sincerity in promoting the profound healthcare wisdom of Traditional
Chinese Medicine (“TCM"), it has always been Wai Yuen Tong's mission to
promote the national TCM industry to the world and lead the industry in
establishing higher quality standards, while providing comprehensive and
attentive pharmaceutical products and services to every customer.

Business Review

Currently, the Group holds “Wai Yuen Tong”, a widely-known Chinese medicine
and health food brand, through Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited
("Wai Yuen Tong" or "WYT Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries, the
"WYT Medicine Group’), and holds “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, two
world-renowned Western medicine brands, through Luxembourg Medicine
Company Limited (“Luxembourg Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Luxembourg Medicine Group’), creating synergy through the two-
pronged development of the Group’s Chinese and Western medicine and
healthcare businesses.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

After the COVID-19 pandemic, while there are occasional resurgences and
mutations, the life of the public has largely returned to normalcy. Despite the
various uncertainties and challenges during the past difficult times, the Group
has actively faced and bravely resolved difficulties, achieving growth in its
pharmaceutical business throughout the Year. During the year under review,
the demand for Chinese medicine clinic services in Wai Yuen Tong retail
stores continued to rise, with particular growth in residential districts. During
the current financial year, the Group opened 3 new stores in Hong Kong and
Macau, located in Causeway Bay, Yuen Long and Areia Preta, Macau.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had over a hundred stores in Chinese
Mainland, Hong Kong and Macau, with more than 80 Chinese medicine
practitioners in Hong Kong. According to Ipsos’ market survey on consumers
of Chinese health supplement products conducted in April 2023, Wai Yuen
Tong is considered as the most trustworthy brand among TCM practitioner’s
network by the majority of respondents. Our products are sold in over 30
countries worldwide where Chinese people are present, and such cooperative
operation has lasted for around 30 years. As for the Chinese medicine
business, with the help of the business operation model of franchised stores,
the business development of our stores has been rapidly expanded.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EN XA )

During the year under review, new products have been launched in the
five major product categories of Chinese medicine (proprietary Chinese
medicines, dietary supplement, homology of medicine and food, decoction
and concentrated granule, and lifestyle products), providing a richer and more
diverse selection of products within each category. Wai Yuen Tong has three
flagship products, including the most well-known “Angong Niuhuang Wan (%
B4 EN)" series (including gold-packed Angong Niuhuang Wan which uses
three natural ingredients and Angong Niuhuang Wan with pharmacopoeia
prescriptions), our most classic “Young Yum Pill (% B2 }.)", also known as
“Young Sheng Pill (% 4 #)", which was awarded the Lingnan Traditional
Chinese Medicine Cultural Heritage of Guangdong Province in 2009, and last
but not least, “Hou Tsao Powder (& ZBr % A1)", ranked first in sales for 10
consecutive years in Hong Kong, making it a preferred choice of healthcare
product for many consumers. The Group has established in Hong Kong for
years and is well-supported and recognised by our customers with its large
and experienced team of in-store registered Chinese medicine practitioners.

Meanwhile, Madame Pearl’s Cough Syrup under the Madame Pearl’s brand
became the best-selling cough remedy of Hong Kong for the 14th consecutive
year. While consolidating its Western medicine business in Hong Kong, the
Group also sets its eyes on the huge market of China. We have outsourced
the distribution of a number of our cough remedy products to our strong
partners in China, in order to distribute our cough remedy products to various
locations in China. In the 70th anniversary of the Madame Pearl's brand, we
will continue to innovate and develop various products that benefit public
health and wellness. Furthermore, utilizing the brand effect of Madame Pearl’s
and Pearl’s, we also strengthened the promotion and sales of OEM product
line.

The Group has invested nearly HKS600 million in the construction of a TCM
and Western medicine Good Manufacturing Practice (“GMP”) factory in
Yuen Long (the “Yuen Long Factory”), in accordance with the standard of
“The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme” (“PIC/S"), a stringent
manufacturing practice regulation with worldwide recognition. In line with
the government’s target to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050, the Group
commenced the installation of solar panels at its Yuen Long Factory in 2022
as planned to reduce carbon emissions. While consolidating our corporate
brand strength with continuous effort in leveraging our advantage of “100%
made in Hong Kong", the Group also focuses on reducing emission and
enhancing efficiency to achieve a win-win situation for the environment and
the economy.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

The traditional proprietary Chinese medicine intelligent packaging system
jointly developed by Wai Yuen Tong and the Hong Kong Productivity
Council will be put into use in August this year. This system was designed for
traditional proprietary Chinese medicine and is capable of handling traditional
multi-layer packaging, allowing for improved productivity and quality. With
the adoption of Al-assisted manufacturing, we can enhance our accuracy,
reduce waste generated and raise packaging efficiency, while also significantly
lower the risk of human contamination.

Moreover, during the year under review, the Company distributed a special
dividend satisfied by way of a distribution in specie of (i) 1,715,665,730 WOG
Shares and (ii) 5,310,951,597 CAP Shares held by the Group to the qualifying
shareholders in proportion to their then respective shareholdings in the
Company, in order to reward the support of the shareholders. This allows the
Company to focus and strengthen its resources on its core businesses (being
the manufacturing and retailing of pharmaceutical and health food products
as well as personal care products), and streamline the corporate structure
of the Company and its group companies, particularly eliminating the cross
shareholding involving the Company and WOG. The distribution in specie
will provide shareholders with an opportunity to participate, as shareholders
of WOG and CAP, in the growth and prospects of WOG and CAP directly,
instead of being through the Company, and they may determine their own
level of participation in WOG and CAP at their own discretion. Accordingly, the
distribution in specie is in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.

The Company has also recommended the payment of a final cash dividend
and a special cash dividend of HK$3 cents and HK$14.7 cents, respectively,
while announcing the results of the Year, to reward its shareholders for their
continued support to the Company. Payment of these two cash dividends
shall be arranged upon the approval of the relevant resolutions at the AGM.

The Group has been streamlining its property portfolio during the year under
review. Taking into account prevailing retail property market conditions and
the quality of our properties (including the location, age, surrounding facilities
and redevelopment potential of the properties), the disposal of certain long-
term shop holdings provides a good opportunity for the Group to release the
investment in such properties and reduce its debts by using the proceeds
from the disposal. Meanwhile, the acquisition of certain properties that meet
the long-term business needs of the Group would present an opportunity
for the Group to further consolidate and expand its business presence at
desirable retail locations. In line with the above property streamlining strategy,
the Group disposed four properties and acquired two properties during the
year under review.

e )

UTEEREBLEENRERAIEMEN
BRPRERENEERBERAF/NA
EXMA - -E-—EAREBESRTHRERTE
MBEANES TUARRERZEIIEE
MEX RSLEEHNNRE - AREAT
BREmbEE JRRESERMN MR
mESL  AEBREFSRENE - XA KIF
BEWARSROES -

o ARBREBEFERNAED DR
AAEGERBRREZZARARAERZ#HF
P e 1 Ok 2 AN 5 [ 5 A 2 ()1,715,665,730
B 7R %2 g 19 R (if) 5,310,951,597 ik 1 B & &
mi D E R R RIRE - LAE SR AR SR A9 ST
BARNAREPRNBLERVEZLE
BENHERTEBERRERRIARME
AERER) THREARTARAEER
A RRIRE LEREBRAQRRBERR
RN F - BEBEM D IRA AIRREH
EREZRTEREEMBRROKE  HE
DERZETEEEMNERRAR M
FFEBARA2E  HHABTTHEBEETE
HEZRFTHREERNSHARE - Bt
EMD T EARA R B EROEENEG -

ARBTEAMAFEEEORE  2E
&3 DRI A3 K147 RER & Mk
BRFEARSBRE - ARERE—E AR
HARRAHIHF - EMER SR EHNK
RAFKETMHEBRAZBBRZFIRE -

AEERDEEENTHE DL BE -
EEIANTENETRRNENTZ (B
EEMENLY  BR ASRERER
B HE-—BAERBARAZERE
fr B AAEE SRR SRR
W IE R R - 3 FI A R S
EREE - BRI KB LHAR
SEENEBBLZDE TALAAE
HE-SREARBREEERTENE
HEGEEBRERR - ATRALAE
e Fu  AEEREBEREMNEER
B R B AR o

ERBER AR 9

LT B
ZENFEFR



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
X R W o)

Outlook

TCM is a unique health resource in the PRC, with enormous economic
potential, scientific and technological resource with original advantages,
excellent cultural resource and important ecological resource, which play
an important role in the socio-economic development of China. With the
accelerated aging of the population, the public demand for healthcare service
has been increasing. This, as well as the raised public awareness on personal
health and healthcare after the COVID-19 pandemic, contributed to the
prosperous development of the TCM industry.

Furthermore, the State Council has formulated an outline for the future
development direction and work priorities of TCM in the PRC to promote the
healthy development of the TCM industry. In March 2022, the State Council
further refined and adjusted the Implementation Plan on the basis of the “14th
Five-Year Plan” for the Development of Traditional Chinese Medicine, clarifying
the goals and tasks for the development of TCM during the “14th Five-Year
Plan”. These policies fully demonstrate the Chinese government’s absolute
determination to promote the long-term and stable development of the TCM
Industry. As the gateway between the domestic and international economy,
Hong Kong has significant advantages in terms of laws and regulations, testing
and verification and management services. With national policy supports,
Hong Kong can play a more beneficial role in the development of TCM.

Looking ahead, despite the irreversible trend of more and more Hong Kong
people spending in China, as Chinese Mainland extends the VS to more cities
for tourists to visit Hong Kong and given the rapid recovery of the economy
and international tourism of different countries, it is believed that this will
play a huge role in revitalizing the tourism industry, retail industry and the
overall economy. Furthermore, in the post-COVID era, there is an increasing
focus among the general public on personal health and well-being, which
is beneficial for the development of the proprietary Chinese medicines and
dietary supplement industries. The Group will continue to focus on its core
business operations, including one-stop integrated Chinese medicine clinics,
e-commerce and the pet market. Additionally, we will embrace a spirit of
“change and innovation” and actively explore opportunities in different
markets, including Chinese and Western proprietary medicines, dietary
supplements and personal care products. Through mature and diversified sales
models, we aim to increase the Group’s revenue and maximize investment
returns for our shareholders.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to all employees
for their work and contribution, and sincerely thank our shareholders,
customers and business partners for their long-term support and trust.
Facing a future full of uncertainties, we will strive to uphold our principles
of expanding income source, reducing cost and raising efficiency, while also
explore various operation models to unleash more creativity and vigour, with
the aim of achieving satisfactory return for the shareholders.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B BLJE W S A

For over the past century, Wai Yuen Tong has been an internationally

renowned brand with roots in Hong Kong. Looking forward,
we will continue to develop our core business with flexible operational
mechanisms and give full play to the synergy of TCM and western

pharmaceutical medicine and health food.

A DR fu i R AW BB -
AR o F A I AR AR DA ST 00 T A B R D SR
FE 43 % 40 A v 58 K v 2 A O £ ATl ARG Tah [ R -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B Vg ) am B B o)

Consolidated Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year"), total revenue of the
Group increased by approximately 8.3% to approximately HK$783.9 million,
which was mainly attributable to the increase in sale of pharmaceutical and
health food products.

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the parent
of approximately HKS$15.4 million (2023: loss attributable to owners of the
parent of approximately HK$20.5 million). Such reduction in loss was mainly
attributable to the combined effect of (i) increase in gross profit generated
from the production and sale of pharmaceutical and health food products; (ii)
gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment; (iii) increase in fair
value losses on owned investment properties; (iv) increase in loss on disposal/
redemption of debt investments; and (v) increase in impairment loss on items
of property, plant and equipment.

Dividend

The Board has recommended the payment of a final cash dividend and
a special cash dividend of HK3.0 cents and HK14.7 cents respectively per
ordinary share in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
No interim dividend was declared for the six months ended 30 September
2023 (30 September 2022: Nil). A special dividend by way of distribution in
specie was declared and paid during the Year (2023: Nil). For details of this
special dividend, please refer to the announcement and circular dated 25
January 2024 and 14 February 2024 respectively.

The proposed dividend will be paid on or around Friday, 6 September 2024,
subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 20 August 2024.

Business Review

Hong Kong's economy demonstrated moderate growth in the first quarter
of 2024, as indicated by a 2.7% year-on-year increase in real gross domestic
product (GDP). Following the post-pandemic period in 2023, the relaxation
of restrictions facilitated the return of tourists to Hong Kong, fostering a
resurgence in tourism consumption. Notably, there has been a notable uptick
in demand for Chinese and western medicines and supplement products,
particularly those related to respiratory health, owing to the prevalence of
influenza and the discontinuation of mask-wearing habits. However, despite
these positive developments, the business landscape in Hong Kong presents
significant challenges. An essential hurdle lies in the shifting consumption
patterns of tourists, necessitating businesses to swiftly adapt their strategies
to meet evolving preferences and demands. Moreover, the retail market
sentiments remain uncertain, further complicating the operating environment.
Nonetheless, Wai Yuen Tong is proactively striving to seize business
opportunities within the market. By keenly observing and responding to the
changing needs of consumers, Wai Yuen Tong seeks to navigate the dynamic
business landscape and position itself favorably amidst these challenges.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Chinese Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Wai Yuen Tong remains unwavering in its commitment to deliver exceptional
Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) products and services. In response to
the rising demand for Chinese medicine practitioners’ consultations and to
augment our service offerings, we established the Centralized Decoction
Center in August 2023. This state-of-the-art facility enables us to provide
decocted TCM medicines directly to our customers’ homes within a swift
24-hour timeframe, ensuring convenient access to high-quality healthcare
solutions. Furthermore, throughout the Year, we have proactively expanded
our business operations. This expansion includes the strategic opening of
new retail outlets strategically located in popular tourist areas, re-adjusted
our operating hours, as well as collaborations with prominent Health & Beauty
drug chains and various e-commerce platforms both in Hong Kong and
Chinese Mainland. By venturing into these channels, we aim to broaden our
customer base and extend our products and services to a wider audience.
In addition, recognizing the flourishing cross-border e-commerce landscape
and the increasing influx of Chinese tourists, we have strategically reallocated
our advertising spending to support the growth of the Chinese market.
We understand the immense potential within this market and are directing
additional resources to capture the attention of Chinese consumers effectively.
Through these initiatives, Wai Yuen Tong is dedicated to meeting the diverse
needs of our customers, expanding our market reach, and capitalizing on the
abundant opportunities presented by the ever-evolving business landscape.
We remain resolute in our pursuit of excellence and aim to be at the forefront
of providing top-quality TCM solutions to individuals seeking optimal health
and well-being.

In anticipation of the concurrent challenges posed by the arrival of seasonal
influenza A and the ongoing presence of Covid-19 in Hong Kong, Wai Yuen
Tong has taken proactive measures to cater to the needs of local consumers.
Understanding the urgency of the situation, the company has introduced
several new products specifically designed to address these challenges.
One such product is Cordyceps Plus, a formulation meticulously developed
to provide respiratory system support for both adults and children. This
product not only assists in maintaining respiratory health but also offers a
comprehensive solution for treating long Covid symptoms. By addressing
the unique requirements associated with respiratory well-being, Cordyceps
Plus serves as an effective remedy for individuals seeking to enhance their
overall respiratory health. Recognizing the growing population of older
adults and their specific needs, Wai Yuen Tong has also launched a series of
joint and bone products. These products cater to the “silver haired group’,
offering targeted support for joint health and bone strength. By developing
formulations that address the specific concerns of this demographic, the
company aims to contribute to the overall well-being and quality of life of
older adults. In an exciting collaboration, Wai Yuen Tong has partnered with
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2023. This collaboration represents
a significant milestone for the company, signifying its commitment to
innovation and the integration of scientific knowledge with traditional Chinese
herbs. By joining forces with the university, Wai Yuen Tong aims to leverage
scientific expertise and cutting-edge research to enhance the effectiveness
of traditional Chinese medicine. Through the introduction of these new
products and strategic collaborations with scientific institutions, Wai Yuen
Tong endeavors to meet the evolving health needs of the community,
provide effective remedies, and contribute to the advancement of traditional
Chinese medicine within the context of modern scientific understanding.
By embracing innovation and scientific integration, the company remains
dedicated to the well-being of its customers and the progression of the
traditional Chinese medicine field.

o BELJE Wk B o B )

TERRERRER

NTEEEIBHBRNRRPEZERR
R - RBeHBERNPEDES K
TEANRBEE > RAR_FT=_=F/A
ST R BTEE L o 5% 5T AR b R AP A
24N RA R GRF R EE R X ER
PRy HBRESTEESSEERRRA
om0 RAFE BMABEZBIERD
XEB -ARBEREEERES R
BRARMTERE EFHABREXERRHELE
FEELTEAMNEREEMITEYE
HERZEETHEFRRLAE -FB
MAZERE  RARBEAEZFPE RE
BZmRBHERKRS - Mo - ERNE
PEEROBRETHE RPEREFEM
BMEERMEENHAEESIHUARES
TEmEMNIER RMRAZTHENE
R FERAEZERAE BB HE
HEBEMNIZ BBELRE HULTEX
NN MREPHOTRF R - MAKRMOT
BEEE  WHERNEHZ/COEHBREMN
TARMKEMSE - HAE—WEREIER
B REFLBENMATIRHZELNH
BEMRTER -

EREEFTHUEFRRBELLHELR
MATRESRBEMTANOKE - LT
EREBRBEREBEAMEPHFER - K
REARMBEROE 2T YEHELERE
PIREYZSHEMRNMER - HP
—HEZEFEMRTLARES  IRIELEBK
AMREWERRGINESLMAE - ZEM
TEAPERTRAGRE  TRAEER
HMEERREHREGBATR - EBRME
W RGEENEEERER BERE
ERSKBENFREAGEEBREALD
RA-NUTENRBIZFADELRRK
EMBRFE LB -RINBEHMS
BRER ZFTERRREKME @ YR
TTHSBRERERRE - BBMEHYZ
EPHABTRNES  ARREERTT
EFAONBEBREERELRES - UTE
RECB-_=FHREBBIRBEIUTAHR
EMAERE ARAEERARTAMERK
BREE REEBIREFTRESNEZX
BEERTE - BREAXBEFE UTE
BB R A2 A N i AT 5T 0 oR
BHRPENEY - 5B HE L HEMIA
RnE SR EAE  LTZEEEME
HETEELCNRERTR  REBABLAE
TE CERRMBERTHERPEES
EHER - AR BB FLRMBES
BAREFPRBUMEGRTBEARNER -

ERBER AR 13

LT B
ZENFEFR



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

During the Year, the retail business environment remained challenging mainly
due to the recent trends for Hong Kong citizens traveling northbound to
Chinese Mainland, in particular during weekends and holidays. However, the
sales volume of our flagship products, “Madame Pearl's” Cough Syrup, still
recorded a significant increase as a result of the increasing cases of Cold & Flu.
The total revenue of Luxembourg western pharmaceutical and personal care
products recorded a growth of 9.1% over last year.

Responding to such a turbulent market environment, the Group keep
denoting different efforts in realizing business opportunities in the market.
“Madame Pearl’s”, our flagship brand, achieved the Hong Kong cough syrup
sales champion for 14 consecutive years, underpinned by our continuous
efforts in strategic Sales and Marketing activities conducted through both
online & below-the-line channel. During the Year, the Group made sound
and solid progress on strengthen the effective Hong Kong trade channels on
distributing “Luxembourg”-branded products. Furthermore, in order to comply
with Chinese Mainland'’s relevant regulations, the Group has engaged various
distributions with strong local presence to increase the channel penetration of
the “Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s” brand into Chinese Mainland.
In regards to Pearl’s, another key brand of the Group, have established
leadership in mosquito repellent product category in the Hong Kong. The
revenue of “Pearl’s” Mosquitout product range reported a growth of 7.2% over
last year.

In respond to the consumer trends, consumer purchasing behavior has greatly
shifted from offline to online. We have been continually, actively deploying
resources to develop our e-commerce business channel, including the
distribution of “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” products through our own online
platform (WYT e-shop) and selected third-party e-commerce platforms, e.g.
HKTVmall, Neigbuy etc. During the Year, we expanded the consumer market
in Chinese Mainland through our cross-border e-commerce business and the
result was positive and encouraging. In the future, we will keep driving the
growth by developing new products in the market of Hong Kong & Chinese
Mainland, and expanding the distribution network of “Madame Pearl’s” Cough
Syrup in Chinese Mainland retailers & Hospital Channel.

"

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2024, the Group owned 9 properties in Hong Kong which are
all retail properties (whereas the Group has entered into two sale and purchase
agreements with respect to the disposal of two properties which transactions
are pending completion as of 31 March 2024). A majority of these properties
were used as the retail shops under self-operating and franchise modes.
The net fair value losses on investment properties for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$17.9 million (2023: net fair value losses of approximately
HK$7.2 million) as a result of the further deterioration of property market
condition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the Year, the Group completed the acquisition of two property-holding
companies holding two properties respectively situated at Shop No. N77,
Ground Floor, Nos. 1-11, 15-17 Mount Sterling Mall and Nos. 10-16 Lai Wan
Road, (Phase 7) Mei Foo Sun Chuen, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong and
Shop F on Ground Floor of Kam Bo Building, No. 2 Tung Lok Street, Yuen Long,
New Territories, Hong Kong for an initial consideration of HK$43.8 million and
HK$35.0 million respectively. Please refer to the joint announcement dated
8 September 2023 of the Company, Wang On Group Limited (“Wang On")
and Wang On Properties Limited and the circular of the Company dated 29
September 2023 for details of these acquisitions.

During the Year, the Group completed the disposal of properties which are
situated at Shop no. E on the G/F of Block E and Apartment no. E-1 on the
first floor of Block E of Wing Lung Building, Nos 220-240A Castle Peak Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong for a total consideration of HK$22.0 million on 12 March
2024. The Group completed another disposal of a property-holding company
holding a property situated at Shop AB on G/F, Po Wing Building of Nos.
61, 63, 65, 67, 71 & 73 Lee Garden Road and Nos. 108, 110, 112, 116, 118 & 120
Percival Street, Hong Kong for a consideration of HK$100.0 million on 14 March
2024. Please refer to the joint announcement dated 21 November 2023 of the
Company and Wang On for details of this disposal.

On 22 January 2024, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property situated at
Shop B on G/F including the cockloft, Yan Oi House, No. 237 Sha Tsui Road
and Nos. 87 & 89 Chuen Lung Street, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong
at a consideration of HK$38.0 million, completion of which took place on 2
May 2024. This property was classified as assets held for sale as at 31 March
2024. Please refer to the joint announcements dated 22 January 2024 of the
Company and Wang On for details of this disposal.

On 1 March 2024, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property situated at
Shop C on Ground Floor and Flat C on Mezz Floor, Lee Wah Building, Nos.
738-740A Nathan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$41.0
million, completion of which will take place on 17 May 2024. This property was
classified as assets held for sale as at 31 March 2024. Please refer to the joint
announcement dated 1 March 2024 of the Company and Wang On for details
of this disposal.

Financial Review
Revenue

The total revenue of continuing operations of the Group increased by
approximately 8.3% to approximately HK$783.9 million, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in sales performance of both Chinese and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Gross profit

The Group's gross profit for continuing operations increased by approximately
HK$52.4 million or approximately 15.3% to approximately HK$394.8 million for
the Year as compared to approximately HK$342.4 million for the year ended 31
March 2023. The increase was mainly due to the improvement of gross profit
margin of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products.

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains for continuing operations of the Group increased
by approximately HK$37.1 million or approximately 68.1% from approximately
HKS$54.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$91.6
million for the Year. The increase was mostly because of the gain arising from
the disposal of a self use property.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for continuing operations increased by
approximately HK$22.2 million or approximately 9.9% from approximately
HKS$223.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately
HK$246.1 million for the Year. The increase was mainly owing to the increase
in advertising and promotion expenses after the COVID-19 pandemic and
absence of COVID-19 pandemic related subsidies, especially Employment
Support Scheme, from the government during the Year.

Other expenses, net

Other expenses for continuing operations increased by approximately HK$67.0
million or approximately 347.6% from approximately HK$19.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$86.3 million for the Year. The
increase was mostly attributable to the impairment loss on items of property,
plant and equipment, net.

Finance costs

Finance costs for continuing operations increased by approximately HK$11.3
million or approximately 38.3% from approximately HK$29.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$40.8 million for the Year. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in interest rate.

Profit/(Loss) for the Year from discontinued operations

During the Year, the Group recorded a profit from discontinued operations of
approximately HK$11.3 million (2023: a loss from discontinued operations of
approximately HK$4.1 million). Such turnaround from loss to profit was mainly
due to the reversal of aged payables and offsetted by the combined effect
of a number of items, including (but not limited) the increase in net fair value
losses on owned investment properties as compared to the last financial year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Profit/(loss) for the Year attributable to owners of the parent

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
parent of approximately HK$15.4 million (2023: a loss attributable to owners of
the parent of approximately HK$20.5 million). Such decrease in loss was mainly
attributable to the combined effect of (i) increase in gross profit generated
from the production and sale of pharmaceutical and health food products; (ii)
gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment; (iii) increase in fair
value losses on owned investment properties; (iv) increase in loss on disposal/
redemption of debt investments; and (v) increase in impairment loss on items
of property, plant and equipment.

Liquidity, Gearing and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$2,095.1
million (2023: approximately HK$7,013.8 million) which were financed by
current liabilities of approximately HK$380.9 million (2023: approximately
HKS$1,657.2 million), non-current liabilities of approximately HK$328.8
million (2023: approximately HK$1,668.2 million) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$1,385.5 million (2023: approximately HK$3,688.4 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposit were approximately HK$159.4 million (2023: approximately HK$559.4
million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's total interest-bearing debts amounted to
approximately HK$460.9 million (2023: approximately HK$1,646.9 million), all of
which bore interest at fixed and floating interest rates and were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and RMB.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's borrowings from financial institution will
mature during the period from May 2024 to February 2027.

The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities,
was approximately 2.2 (2023: approximately 1.6). The gearing ratio, being
the ratio of total interest-bearing debts net of cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits to equity attributable to owners of the parent, was
approximately 21.7% (2023: approximately 46.3%). The Group always adopts a
conservative approach in its financial management.
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Financial Review and Prospects of Significant Investments Held

(a) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
include listed equity securities and listed debt investments. The Group
has always adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely
monitor the market changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and
when necessary. The Group intended to hold these investments for long
term purpose aiming to generating a stable income.

As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of the Group's investment in bonds
and equity securities amounted to approximately HK$8.1 million (2023:
approximately HK$50.1 million) and approximately HK$25.0 million (2023:
approximately HK$143.6 million), respectively.

The Group recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$43.2 million in the other comprehensive income for the Year (2023:
net loss of approximately HK$28.5 million).

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2024, the Group maintained an investment portfolio
of unlisted funds and listed equity securities. The Group has always
adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely monitor
the market changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and when
necessary.

The Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$3.2 million
for the Year (2023: net loss of approximately HK$5.5 million).

Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has material foreign exchange
exposure in RMB. A majority of bank borrowings are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB. The revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and RMB, matches the currency requirements of the
Group’s operating expenses. Currently, the Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly arising
from its operations in Chinese Mainland. The RMB exposure of the Group
is mainly derived from currency translation risk arising from the net assets
of our Chinese Mainland subsidiaries. The re-translation of these net assets
denominated in RMB into Hong Kong dollars using the exchange rate as of
the reporting date resulted in a re-translation loss of approximately HK$87.9
million (2023: loss of approximately HK$243.1 million). The re-translation loss/
gain was recognized in other comprehensive income/exchange reserve.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Treasury Policy

With an aim to ensuring adequate financial resources are available for business
growth whilst maintaining a prudent capital structure, the Group manages
its financial risks including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. The
Group invests its surplus funds in equity securities and debt investments to
maximize assets efficiency.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitment of approximately
HKS$2.6 million (2023: approximately HK$196.1 million) in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and payments of construction
contracts, which were contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2024, certain bank loans and bills payables of the Group were
secured by the Group's property, plant and equipment, owned investment
properties and certain rental income generated therefrom, assets classified
as held for sale, the equity interests in certain subsidiaries of the Company,
and pledged deposits, with a total carrying value of approximately HK$438.1
million (2023: approximately HK$3,086.8 million).

Financial Guarantee

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has provided guarantees to a bank in
connection with facilities granted to CAP up to HK$370 million (2023: HK$370
million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HK$36.1 million to customers in favor of certain banks for the loans provided
by the banks to the customers of the properties sold. Pursuant to the terms
of the guarantees, in the event of default on mortgage payments by these
purchasers before the expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of
any sales proceeds.

Other Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures and Future
Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant investment held, nor was
there any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the Year. As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any
concrete plan for material investments or capital assets nor acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Events after Reporting Period

On 3 May 2024, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property situated at Shop
B on Ground Floor, Kwong Sen Mansion, Nos. 23-33 Shui Wo Street, Kowloon,
Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$33.0 million. This property was classified
as owned investment properties as at 31 March 2024. Please refer to the joint
announcement dated 3 May 2024 of the Company and Wang On for details of
this disposal.

On 17 June 2024, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property situated at Shop
A, on Ground Floor, Onshine Commercial Building, No. 10 Tung Sing Road,
Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$21.9 million. This property was classified
as property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2024. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2024 for details of this disposal.

Relationship with Employees, Suppliers and
Customers

The Group recognizes our employees as the key element that contributes
to the Group's success. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 810 employees
(restated 2023: 825, which excluded the employees of CAP Group as CAP
Group ceased to be the subsidiary of the Group in March 2024), of whom
approximately 81.0% (restated 2023: approximately 80.4%) were located
in Hong Kong and Macau and the rest were located in Chinese Mainland.
The Group remunerated its employees based on industry practices and
individual performance and experience. On top of the regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options may also be granted to selected staff
by reference to the Group's performance, where appropriate, as well as the
individual’s performance. The Group also provides a defined contribution to
the Mandatory Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for our
eligible employees in Hong Kong and pays retirement contributions in
accordance with the statutory requirements for our Macau and PRC staff.
Other benefits such as medical and retirement benefits and structured
training programs were also provided. Meanwhile, the Group endeavors to
provide a safe workplace to our employees. The Board believes that the Group
maintains admirable relations with the employees.

Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationships with the stakeholders, including business partners, suppliers,
customers, shareholders, investors and bankers to achieve its long-
term business growth and development. With an aim to enhancing the
competitiveness of the brands of the Group, it endeavors to provide
consistently high quality and large range of products to its customers; and
to build up and maintain a trustworthy and long-term relationship with its
suppliers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we considered that the major
risks and uncertainties that may affect the Group included:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

industrial policy risk: with the deepening of medical system reform and
the issuance of a number of industrial policies and laws in respect of
medical charge control and control of medicines and certification for
traditional Chinese medicine, significant effect may be brought to the
future development of the pharmaceutical industry;

environmental protection policies: environmental impact caused
by waste and wastewater generated during the pharmaceutical
manufacturing process and the construction and operations of
agricultural produce exchange markets, efficiency and security of key
infrastructure;

cost control: the Group may not always be able to implement cost
control measures to effectively counter the effect of rising product cost
and/or decrease in income;

allowance for obsolete inventories: allowance for obsolete inventories
due to weather, expiry date of unsold products and other damages;

supply chain disruption: raw material shortage or price inflation due to
industrial issues, risks of supplier control and flexibilities, to deal with
competitive pricings;

inability to penetrate emerging markets: the Group may not be able to
effectively penetrate traditional industries and traditional products into
emerging markets;

respond to customer behavior: the Group may not be able to respond
effectively to economy recession, reduction in consumer spending and
change of impulsive shopping behavior;

sourcing: less globalized sourcing and lower cost competitiveness;
volatility in retail rental: continuously increasing in retail rental may

reduce our profitability if we are unable to pass on the effect of such
increases to our customers; and

foreign exchange: unfavorable fluctuations in the exchange rate may
adversely affect the Group's cash flow and profits.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has been closely
monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and Chinese Mainland,
and would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of policies and adjust
strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.
In particular, the Group will strengthen the marketing management to
cope with changes in consumer behavior and needs, closely control
inventories, establish our own sales policies and product development, safety
management and environmental protection level, and push forward the
construction of lean management and risk control system. For possible risks,
the Company would actively propose solutions to lower their impacts on the
business of the Company.

Prospects
Chinese and Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Amidst the prevailing uncertainty in the retail market sentiments, Wai Yuen
Tong remains resolute in its commitment to delivering exceptional Chinese
medicine practitioners’ consultation services. The Company recognizes
the significance of specialization and is dedicated to providing tailored
and professional services that cater to the unique needs of each individual
consumer. By offering specialized therapeutic Traditional Chinese Medicine
(TCM) consultations, Wai Yuen Tong aims to distinguish itself in the market
and provide an elevated experience for its valued customers. In addition to
service enhancements, Wai Yuen Tong places great emphasis on continuously
improving its Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system. Recognizing
the importance of nurturing strong and lasting relationships with customers,
the Company is steadfast in its efforts to enhance the CRM system. This
strategic investment aims to strengthen customer engagement and loyalty by
fostering closer connections with consumers. By leveraging an enhanced CRM
system, Wai Yuen Tong seeks to build trust, deepen customer relationships,
and ultimately create a mutually beneficial environment for both the
company and its valued customers. The company firmly believes that by
prioritizing service excellence, specialization, and maintaining robust customer
relationships, it can navigate the challenges of the uncertain retail market
sentiments. Wai Yuen Tong remains steadfast in its dedication to delivering
outstanding TCM consultation services, providing personalized care, and
fostering enduring customer loyalty.

With regards to western pharmaceutical and personal care products, consumer
purchasing behavior has greatly shifted from offline to online. We have been
continuously deploying resources to develop our e-commerce channel,
including the distribution of “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” products through
our own online platform (WYT e-shop) and selected third-party e-commerce
platforms, e.g. HKTVmall, Neigbuy etc. In addition, we have further expanded
the consumer market in Chinese Mainland through our cross-border
e-commerce business and the result was positive and encouraging. In the
future, we will keep driving the growth by developing new products in the
market of Hong Kong & Chinese Mainland, and expanding the distribution
network of “Madame Pearl’s” Cough Syrup in nationwide retailers and hospital
channels.

"
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Looking towards the future, the national policy for the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area (“Greater Bay Area’) holds promising
prospects for the Chinese & western pharmaceutical and health supplement
industry. This key significant development area presents ample opportunities
for growth and expansion. Wai Yuen Tong recognizes the immense potentia
of the Greater Bay Area and is strategically positioned to leverage these
opportunities, aligning its business strategies with the evolving market
dynamics in the region. By capitalizing on the potential of the Greater Bay
Area, Wai Yuen Tong aims to tap into the burgeoning market and establish
a strong presence in this key economic zone. The Company will proactively
pursue avenues for growth, leveraging its extensive expertise in Chinese and
western pharmaceutical and health supplement products to cater to the
needs of the local population. Furthermore, Wai Yuen Tong acknowledges the
growing significance of e-commerce in the modern business landscape. With
the rapid advancement of technology and changing consumer behaviors, the
company recognizes the importance of embracing e-commerce as a pivotal
pillar of its business strategy. By prioritizing and investing in e-commerce
channels, Wai Yuen Tong aims to enhance its digital presence, expand its
customer base, and provide convenient access to its products through online
platforms. By strategically aligning itself with the opportunities presented by
the Greater Bay Area and prioritizing e-commerce as a key focus, Wai Yuen
Tong is well-positioned to thrive in the evolving business landscape. The
Company remains committed to its vision of delivering high-quality Chinese
and western pharmaceutical and health supplement products to a broader
audience, while staying attuned to the changing market dynamics and
leveraging emerging opportunities for sustainable growth.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

ERGLEREME

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 655, /2 aged 62, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing Director
with effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a
member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee and
the chairman of the executive committee of the Company. He is responsible
for the strategic planning, policy making and business development of the
Group. He has extensive experience in corporate management. He is also
the chairman, an executive director and an authorised representative of
Wang On Group Limited, and the non-executive chairman and an authorised
representative of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited, both of which are
companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tang is a
committee member of the 12th to 14th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC"), a standing committee
member and convener of the 10th to the 13th plenary sessions of the CPPCC
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee and a deputy director of
special committee on education, science, health and sports of the National
Committee of CPPCC. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive chairman
of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations and
the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Association. He is the
father of Ms. Tang Wai Man, an executive Director and is also a controlling
shareholder of Wang On Group Limited which is a controlling shareholder of
the Company.

Ms. Tang Wai Man, aged 33, joined the Group in January 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is an authorized
representative of the Company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
and also a member of the executive committee, the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Tang is responsible
for sales and marketing, channel sales and retail operation in Hong Kong and
Macau of the Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK with
a Master of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining the Group,
she had worked for Wang On Group Limited since July 2014 as an assistant to
chairman and other experience in financial analysis, sales and marketing and
business development in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the
United Kingdom. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and
Managing Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita, aged 61, joined the Group in 2004 and is the
Assistant General Manager — Purchasing Processing of the Group. She was
appointed as an executive Director and a member of the executive committee
of the Company on 8 February 2021. Ms. Law is responsible for overall strategic
planning, sales and marketing, raw material sourcing and retail operation in
Hong Kong, Macau and the Chinese Mainland of the Group. She has extensive
experience in pharmaceutical industry covering strategic planning, sales and
marketing, new products development and production management.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, aged 50, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director in August 2001. He is a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company and the chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor
of the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree from
the University of Hong Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm, namely
Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum, and a China-Appointed Attesting Officer. His areas
of practice include corporate finance, capital markets, securities, mergers
and acquisitions, joint ventures and general commercial matters. Mr. Siu is
also an independent non-executive director of each of Litu Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1008) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), both of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1706) in
October 2017 and resigned from the position in August 2023.

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, v+, aged 69, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company. He is a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, U.K. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive
director and the chairman of the audit committee of Shanghai Industrial Urban
Development Group Limited (stock code: 563). Mr. Li is also an independent
non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee, member of
the nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee
of China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited (stock code: 1123),
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120) and Goldlion
Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), an independent non-executive director,
member of the remuneration committee and the chairman of the audit
committee of China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
144), an independent non-executive director, member of the audit committee
and member of the remuneration committee of Continental Aerospace
Technologies Holding Limited (stock code: 232), all of such companies are
being listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Li has retired as an independent non-executive
director and ceased to be the chairman of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee, and a member of the nomination committee of CR
Construction Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1582), a company listed in
Hong Kong, on 25 June 2021.
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Professor Sit Wing Hang, Gsas, Jr, aged 63, joined the Company as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 8 December 2023. He is the
member of each of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company.

Professor Sit joined the Hong Kong Government in 1984 and was promoted to
the Director of Electrical and Mechanical Services and Electrical & Mechanical
Services Trading Fund General Manager in 2017. During his tenure, he was
in charge of electrical and mechanical safety and promotion of energy
efficiency and conservation in Hong Kong, as well as the provision of
engineering services for electrical and mechanical assets of the Hong Kong
SAR Government. He served as the Secretary for Innovation and Technology
of the Hong Kong SAR Government from April 2020 to 30 June 2022. Professor
Sit was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and was appointed as a Justice of the
Peace by the Hong Kong SAR Government.

Professor Sit is currently an independent non-executive director of Morris
Home Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1575) and Envision Greenwise Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Golden Ponder Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1783), which are companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He is also the Chief Executive and Secretary of the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers. In addition, he serves as a Senior Advisor to the President and
Vice-Chancellor and Honorary Professor of the Hong Kong Baptist University,
and a Professor of Practice of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Professor
Sit is an electrical engineer by profession and has over 41 years of experience
in public administration. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers, and was the President of the Hong Kong Institution of Facility
Management and the Chairman of the Biomedical Division of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers.

Professor Chan Wing Kwong, vp, aged 60, joined the Company as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 8 December 2023. He is the chairman
of the nomination committee of the Company, a member of each of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.

Professor Chan is a Registered Chinese Medicine Practitioner. Professor Chan
currently serves as a Visiting Professor of the School of Chinese Medicine
at The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Visiting Professor at the
Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine. He also serves as the President
of Hong Kong Registered Chinese Medicine Practitioners Association and
the Vice President of Supervision Board of the World Federation of Chinese
Medicine Societies. Professor Chan is a member of the Legislative Council of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Senior Management

Dr. Tsang Yuen Wo, joined the Group in September 2018 and he is currently
the Director (Technical) of both the Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Group and
the Luxembourg Medicine Group, principal subsidiaries of the Group. He is
responsible for technical operations of the Group including quality assurance,
quality control, production, research and development, regulatory affairs,
engineering and logistic issues. Dr. Tsang received his BSc(Pharm)(Hons)
degree at the Aston University and the PhD degree at the University of
Sydney. He is a registered pharmacist and a registered Authorized Person of
the Pharmacy and Poisons Board of Hong Kong. He has more than 20 years
of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Academically, Dr. Tsang was
the Honorary Associate Professor of the Department of Pharmacology and
Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, the University of Hong Kong from
2010 to 2023 and he is currently the Adjunct Associate Professor, College
of Life Sciences and Technology, the School of Professional and Continuing
Education, the University of Hong Kong. Regarding professional services, he
was the Chairman of the Pharmacy Central Continuing Education Committee
from 2003 to 2017 and he was responsible for continuing education of all
registered pharmacists in Hong Kong. He is currently the Managing Editor of
the Hong Kong Pharmaceutical Journal.

Mr. Mak King Pui Ricky, joined the Group in May 2023 as Financial Controller
and is responsible for the overall financial management, accounting and tax
matters of the Group. Mr. Mak obtained a Bachelor Degree of Arts (Honors)
in Accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is Fellow Member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
has over 30 years of experience in auditing, accounting, corporate finance,
investment and financial management in both Hong Kong and Chinese
Mainland covering various industries including, property development,
resources and mining, department store operation, manufacturing and
retailing.

Mr. Chan Siu Fai Daniel joined the Group in September 2021 as the Head
of Factory Operations and he is responsible for monitoring factory routine
operations, implementing, reviewing and improving factory workflow to
achieve efficient management in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan obtained a Master
Degree of Business Administration in University of South Australia and a
Bachelor Degree of Engineering (Honors) in Manufacturing Engineering
in Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chan has more than 32 years of
experience in factory operation.

Ms. Cha Yan Fong joined the Group in November 2023 as the General
Manager of the Group. She is responsible for managing the Chinese medicine
business unit, overseeing and supervising sales and marketing team to
achieve long-term business goal. Prior to joining the Group, she has over
20 years of experience in well-known companies, in which she took various
senior positions in sales, marketing management, business development with
proven track records, especially in pharmaceutical and personal care product
industries. Ms. Cha obtained a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
(Honors) specializing in marketing in The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Yau Yuk Shing joined the Group in April 2022 and is responsible
for executing the business strategy, plans and annual budget. He has
also established an effective management and institutional system, and
accomplished the Company’s business goal by staying ahead on market and
industry trends. Mr. Yau has more than 29 years of management experience
in property development, engineering and construction businesses. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Yau worked for certain companies with a wide spread
of experience in real estate industry and project management. Mr. Yau is
the brother-in-law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the executive Director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Lei Guang Zhen joined the Group in December 2023 as the General
Manager of the Group. He is responsible for business in Greater China,
overseeing and supervising sales and marketing team and non-retail and
product marketing team. He has served the industry for more than 25 years,
mainly engaged in the Health Care and Fast-Moving Consumer Goods industry.
Prior joining the Group, Mr. Lei has successively served several companies
listed on the Stock Exchange, listed overseas and Fortune 500 healthcare
companies. He has rich experience in marketing and sales, and comprehensive
management, including human resources, warehouse and logistics, brand
planning and chain franchising.

Mr. Leung Man Fung Kenneth joined the Group in March 2023 as the
Assistant General Manager of Luxembourg Medicine Group, a principal
subsidiary of the Group. He is responsible for managing the Western medicine
business unit, overseeing and supervising sales and marketing team and in
charge of new product planning. Prior to joining the Group, he has over 25
years of Sales & Marketing, as well as Business development experience in Fast-
Moving Consumer Goods industry, Health Care & Pharmaceuticals industrial
from various famous Multinational Company. Mr. Leung obtained a Master
Degree of Science in Marketing from Napier University, Edinburgh, Scotland.

Ms. Ng Yee Man, Fiona joined the Group in February 2022 and appointed
as Company Secretary in April 2024. Ms. Ng is a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute and an associate
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
over 25 years of experience in finance, accounting and corporate secretarial
functions, including over 15 years of experience in handling listed company
secretarial and compliance related matters of Hong Kong listed companies.
She holds a Bachelor Degree of Commerce (Accounting) from Curtin University
of Technology, Australia. Before joining the Group, Ms. Ng worked in various
listed companies as company secretary and financial controller and has held
company secretary positions in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (an
associate of the Company), which is company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 149).
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve
as an effective risk management for the growth of the Company that will
promote and enhance the benefit of its shareholders of the Company
(the "Shareholders”). The Company is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with a strong emphasis on transparency,
accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the code
provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. The Board
has periodically reviewed the compliance of the CG Code and is of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company had complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for the following
deviation:

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman
of the Board, also assumed the role of managing Director. Currently, the
Company does not propose to comply with code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code for the time being but will continue to review such deviation to enhance
the best interest of the Group as a whole. Details of such deviation are set out
below in the section headed “Chairman and Managing Director”.

Code for Securities transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model Code”)
contained in C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries by
the Company, all of the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year under
review.

The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on no less exacting terms than the Model Code by the relevant
employees of the Group who are considered likely to be in possession of
inside information in relation to the Company or its securities. To the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant employees complied with
the required standard of such code throughout the year under review.

Dividend Policy

In November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy, which is intended
to be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time to time. There
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
particular period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations,
the Board may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of
dividend(s) to its Shareholders in any amount, frequency in any financial year
depending on, among other things, the Company’s operation and financial
performance, liquidity condition, capital requirements, future funding needs,
contractual restrictions, availability of reserves and prevailing economic
climate.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Business Model and Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing and sale of
traditional Chinese medicine; (i) the manufacturing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical, health food and personal care products; and (i) property
investment. The Group continues its proactive expansion strategy for
generating and preserving shareholder value over the longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health
food products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical
integration. In order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the
effort on new products research, development and registration, especially
focus on those Chinese and Western medicinal products which possess their
own uniqueness and curative effect. The Group also extends its retail and
medical service network aggressively to gain market share.

The Group acquired CAP in mid-February 2020 for the management and sale
of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC. On 7 March
2024, the shareholders of the Company had passed a resolution for the special
dividend to be satisfied by way of a distribution in specie of CAP Shares held
by the Group. CAP ceased to be the subsidiary of the Company after the
distribution in specie since 25 March 2024.

On the other hand, the Group continues to closely monitor the market for
merger and acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to our existing
business, as well as diversification of its investment portfolio for strengthening
and broadening its income base. The Group also takes active and prompt
measures from time to time, reviewing and adjusting its business strategy
and adopting various controls over costs, if necessary, so as to maintain the
Group's profitability. Besides, the Group strives to maintain a healthy financing
structure and devotes effort to securing banking facilities which is regarded as
an important element for supporting continuous business development of the
Group.

The Board

Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during the year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 6ss, /p
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH
Professor Sit Wing Hang, Gss, /e
(Appointed on 8 December 2023)
Professor Chan Wing Kwong, mp
(Appointed on 8 December 2023)
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH
(Resigned on 8 December 2023)
Mr. Cho Wing Mou
(Resigned on 8 December 2023)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Ms. Tang Wai Man is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The biographical
details of the Directors are set out on pages 24 to 26 of this annual report.

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The
opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of
good corporate governance practices. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board has four INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board, and
at least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualification and/
or accounting and audit experience expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1)
and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive
and non-executive Directors (including INEDs) also generates a strong
independent element on the Board, which allows for an independent and
objective decision making process for the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The Board’s composition includes different gender,
age, cultural and educational background, and professional experience, skills
and knowledge. The Company has reviewed the composition of the Board
and discussed from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the
appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs
of the Group’s businesses and to enhance the Shareholders’ value. All Directors
are aware of the required levels of fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence
under Rule 3.08 of the Listing Rules.

In compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of the
Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on the websites
of the Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The
nomination committee of the Company (the "Nomination Committee”)
and the Board will review the composition of the Board from time to time to
ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills
and experience to meet the needs of the Group's business and to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

All INEDs are appointed without specific term set out in respective letters
of appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)"). All INEDs'
terms of office will be renewed automatically after the re-election, unless
prematurely terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions specified
in the letter of appointment, the Bye-Laws, the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(the "Companies Act’) and the Listing Rules, each as amended from time to
time. Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code and bye-law 84 of the
Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
are required to retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. In addition, any Director who is appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board are
subject to re-election at the first general meeting of the Company after his/
her appointment.

A 36 10 Wl )

BEHFLLIRBBALEZLXR - EFR
BEFHBRNAFIRE24E268 -

EXEgABZ IR I RERER  §
BARBZEBRE - BUFNTESER
EZe R LMREENER AR ERST
REGCEERESR RAFHRAY Z L
M A E3.1001) ~ Q) K3I0AKZHE =
FEBANRBURTEE HESS
=z HRE M&d—RBIFNTE
ERAEEEEERE LB R RBE
BREXEHH - RTEERFATEE(E
REBINNTES) 2HABE  TRE
SeRHBRNBITE AAARAENMAE
BERZEENSFEFLBIMBEBRZRE -
EEeNEXRBEIRMERN - F& X
ERHBBEBRAREXER R A#H -
ARFEBHEFE 2 AR AETH
#wNEREESABEEZMFTEERN
B HEAER UREAEEZEXBH
ERREAKRREE - 2RBEFHTHLD
HRAIF308HEIBATREZHEERE - EEH
REER B HAKF -

BEBETREERTH ZTRMEBI2E -
BREEEZACABREZENZEITINAAR
A A8 3 (www.wyth.net) & 3% & 5 49 uh
(www.hkexnews.hk) F & B - AR &2 %
ZEg((RBZEGDREFSHRTRR
NEEG2HENK UHRESSHREEE
CRTHEEEMG  HeE &R UFER
FEZEBTERIRAKRREE -

ESZAERER
EBYFATESTNZELEREEN
ZERBIEETEY  TARBEARFZ
AEAR(ARAADRERBFRAE L
WERE BNAERLESERBME-
ERBUFGRTESFNITHENEER
BEYEE BRIERBEZETR AFMA[ -
—AN—FRRERARDE(RREDR L
mRA(FBRETEERD) TR EMRR R
R RAIRILERER R - RIFEEE AT
Al 2 <7 BI M6 3CB.2. 216 b 2 B 41 B B 8445 -
REERREFRGL BERELTZ=9
ZEBEE(AMEEETABLIF=2E
AARBEAENIR=ZDZ2— 2 NBRE)
AmERT HEREFEEUNEER
HEZE2ER)AELEB=FHERT
—R - BERNAEREEBEL - B EM
EEERmESSEa N ERBRRZH
FHERTETSNLBUNES YA
REBZRFRZEEARBARRAGLE
BELE

ERBER AR 31

LT B
ZENFEFR



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
i S B E Wk o)

Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their
appointment and on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any business or
other relationship with the Company. The Company has received from each
INED an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules for the financial year ended 31 March 2024. The INEDs would not
participate in the Group's daily operation and they would abstain from voting
on any resolution(s) in which he had any interest and, therefore, the Company
continues to consider the four INEDs to be independent for the financial year
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior Management
The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and performance
of the Group and its primary functions cover, among other things, the
formulation of overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies
and the oversight of management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart
from these, the Board reserved for its consideration and decision on major
acquisitions and disposals, review of interim and annual financial results,
appointments and removals of directors and auditors, the evaluation on the
performance and compensation of senior management, any material capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial affairs. With a view
to maintaining an appropriate balance between authority and responsibility,
such functions are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly
through various committees established by the Board, with respective
functions set out in their written terms of reference.

The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved in
the day-to-day management of the Group. The general management and
day-to-day management are delegated to management of the Company,
including but not limited to the preparation of regular financial information,
execution of designated assignments, and implementation of sustainability
practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain from voting
at such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of interest shall
attend at such meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge
their responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have
disclosed to the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public
organisation and other significant commitments from time to time.

During the year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company were
held four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual and
interim results and to review the business operations, corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings
are also held, as and when necessary, to consider, among others, material
transactions of the Group. At least 14-day notice for each regular meeting
is given to all Directors. All such minutes are kept by the company secretary
of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Apart from the regular Board meetings and
pursuant to the CG Code, the chairman of the Board also met with the INEDs
without the presence of any executive Director during the year under review.
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Chairman and Managing Director

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board,
has also assumed the role of the managing Director. Mr. Tang has extensive
management experience in corporate management in the industries of the
Group and is responsible for overall corporate planning, strategic policy
making of the Group which is of great value in enhancing the efficiency to
cope with the recent fierce competitive and ever-changing retailing market
environment and the communication between the Board and management,
so as to ensure the effective execution of the Board's strategies. Furthermore,
the Board considers that Mr. Tang is an executive of high caliber with a
wide range of skills and diversified business expertise and there are various
committees and experienced individuals dealing with specific assignments
and business unit(s) and managing the daily business operations. Moreover,
the Board comprises three executive Directors and four INEDs with balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the Group’s further development. The
Company had no intention to make any change to comply with code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual) at the moment
but will continue to review and propose, as and when appropriate, by taking
into consideration of such deviation and any other relevant factors, to ensure
the maximisation of the benefit of the stakeholders of the Company.

Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that
an effective governance structure is in place to continuously review, monitor
and improve the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the policies and practices
on the Group's corporate governance, reviewed the code of conduct
applicable to the Directors and employees, monitored the policies and
measures on the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance, training
and continuing professional development of Directors and reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this annual
report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable
and balanced development. In June 2013, the Company adopted a Board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to diversify the Board and was reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee
reviews and assesses the Board composition on behalf of the Board and will
recommend the appointment of new Director, when necessary, pursuant to
the Board Diversity Policy and the nomination policy.

In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, independence and length of service. The Nomination Committee
will also consider factors based on the Company’s business model, specific
needs and meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.
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The Board recognises the importance and benefits of gender diversity at
the Board level and shall continue to take initiatives to identify suitable
candidate(s) to enhance the gender diversity among the Board members.
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised seven Directors, of
whom five were male and two were female. The Board considered gender
diversity on the Board has been achieved. When selecting and making
recommendations on suitable candidates as Directors in the future, we will
consider our diversity policy and ensure the diversity of the Board.

Our diversity philosophy including the gender diversity was generally followed
in the workforce throughout the Group for the year under review. As at the
date of this annual report, approximately 25% of our senior management and
approximately 66% of our total workforce were female. We will continue with
our endeavor to achieve a balance in gender ratio.

During the year under review, the Board comprises seven Directors, including
three executive Directors and four INEDs, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of professional experience,
skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and
the Board's composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The company secretary of the Company regularly circulates training materials
or reading materials to all Directors in respect of the updates on, among other
things, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) or other useful guidelines, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”) and financial or accounting standards which may be of the
interest to the Directors and benefit for them to discharge their duties.

Each of the Directors has complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
and has participated in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for the year under review.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, all Directors received regular
update on corporate governance matters or new or changes to laws and
regulations. Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man, Ms. Law Man Yee Anita,
Mr. Siu Man Ho Simon and Mr. Li Ka Fai David had received reading material
regarding regular update on corporate governance matter or new changes to
laws and regulations. Ms. Tang Wai Man and Ms. Law Man Yee and Mr. Li Ka
Fai David had attended seminars. Professor Sit Wing Hang and Professor Chan
Wing Kwong had received an induction package regarding the responsibilities
of director and the laws and regulations before the date of their appointment.
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In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides and
circulates to the Directors with monthly and regular updates relating to the
Group's business, financial position and business environment, in which the
Group operates. During the year under review, all Directors complied with the
code provision in relation to continuous professional development. Apart from
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, the updated rules and
regulations and other director’s duties and responsibilities by all Directors, the
Directors also enhanced their professional development by way of attending
seminars and/or forums. The company secretary of the Company updates
Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding the Group's
business and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year under review, all Directors have provided to the Company
with their training records, and such records have been maintained by the
company secretary of the Company for accurate and comprehensive record
keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action
on corporate activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed
with consultant advice on an annual basis.

Board Committees

The Board has established various committees including executive committee
(the "Executive Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee’) and the
Nomination Committee, each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committee meetings are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Each committee is required to report to the
Board on its decisions and recommendations, where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific
written terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board.
Its primary function is to undertake general management and supervise the
day-to-day management, performance and operations in accordance with the
business strategy of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops and keeps
under review strategy and business development initiatives of the Group and
monitors their implementation. Currently, the Executive Committee comprises
three members, namely, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man and Ms. Law
Man Yee, Anita. Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the chair of the Executive Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms of
reference stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). Currently, the Audit
Committee comprises four INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon, Professor Sit Wing Hang and Professor Chan Wing Kwong. Mr. Li Ka Fai,
David is elected as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist the
Board to review and monitor the financial reporting independently, including
interim and annual results, to supervise over the Group's internal control
and risk management systems, to monitor the internal and external audit
functions, the appointment, reappointment and removal of the auditor and to
make relevant recommendations to the Board to ensure effective and efficient
operation and reliable reporting. The functions of the Audit Committee will be
reviewed regularly by the Board and amended from time to time, as and when
appropriate, in order to be in compliance with the code provisions of the CG
Code (as amended from time to time) so as to ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have an effective internal control and risk management
systems including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff to implement the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and may access to independent professional advice according to the
Company'’s policy, if considered necessary. During the year under review, the
Audit Committee held three meetings with the Group’s senior management
and the external auditor.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met to discuss and review,
among other things, the following matters:

(@)  the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the interim
results for the six-month ended 30 September 2023 to ensure the full,
complete and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements
pursuant to the accounting standards and other legal requirement for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(b)  the terms and remuneration for the appointments of Ernst & Young
as external auditor to audit and report on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and
to perform the agreed upon procedures on the interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2023;

(c)  the terms and remuneration for the appointments of external auditor to
perform non-audit services, other special corporate projects and review
the overall significant control system;

(d) the independence of the external auditor especially for those non-audit
services;

(e)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

(f)  the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems; and

(g) the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff and
the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters and their
training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees, effectiveness
of the audit process, independence and objectivity of the external auditor
and has recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since September
2005 with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time,
stipulating its authorities and duties. During the year, the terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee was revised to include the reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules as a duty. The revised terms of reference was published on the websites
of the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) on
30 December 2022.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, including Mr. Siu Man
Ho, Simon, Professor Sit Wing Hang, Professor Chan Wing Kwong, Mr. Tang
Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the
year under review and up to the date of this annual report. Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon is elected as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice in
accordance with the Company’s policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing a remuneration policy;

(b)  toreview and approve the senior management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board'’s corporate goals and objectives;

(c)  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, including
but not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

(e)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(f)  toreview and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive;

(g) toreview and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

(h)  to ensure that no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding
his own remuneration;

(i) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

A 36 10 Wl )

Fzae
EEgA_TTRFNARKLEMNZE
T AHEEBRESE(ETRKEEE]
HEEBREBE REAFE FHZEES
M ESRECERET  UNMAZERE,/
st E EMBRAIEI/EB TNEBRKR S
EIMEEEABE  -CEIICHRESHED
R-B- —FE+-A=+BHHENARF
Ak (www.wyth.net) & # & 5 48 3 (www.
hkexnews.hk)

REBEFERBEEAFHAY  HMEES
EHAOLKEMEAK  BREEBEXTELEE &
HMEHE - B HE - BB E R
BEgat HPRBOKERBIIERNTT
ELE -BNZARERERFHNEES LR -

FNEZReERURDERABITERE
TARBARB Z RN E@RESEE
EREBATSRBYERER -

FHZEamAeMBENT:

@ MARFATRBE=TLSRAEEEN
TR RRE  ARBRIER
i £ 33 B 2 & A2 Fr I AT S BN s
MESGREHES:

by Z2BREZSMICEEERAN
MR kitesREREOEH M

© RMEFGZAENRNTEERSR
ERENFMSE BEETERN
BN BRRSHEMNRRRAK
BB EENRESRE:

@) HEACEEOHHAES RN
R

() ZERREBERAXINOHH AMNH
B B i N BB B DA R K Sk [ L At B 2
B R P 16 1

) BERMERRTEERSAER
fERRHK IR ZAEM AN
MEEE UERZSRERSHIK
KB EREEANGER B A
BBEETRAXRT mAZBEZ:

(9 mIR#ERBEFERTREAEMERE
IREAMEEM S ROBER
VAHE R 7% % 2 HF B A 40 6 5K — B0
EREEANBR B EHEME
ZHMEAREES

(h HBRIAFEFREEMHEALH
REEARGH S

(i) BHER/SHERE R AL
EMRARBRDENER:

ERBER AR 37

LT B
T UFEFR



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
i S B E Wk o)

()  to advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of directors that require shareholders’ approval under Rule
13.68 of the Listing Rules;

(k) conform to any requirements, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time prescribed by the Board, the Bye-laws or any other
applicable laws and regulations; and

() the chairman or another member of the Committee shall attend the
Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared to respond to
questions raised by shareholders on the Committee’s activities and
responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting, in which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by reference
with the market research and current market circumstance, communicated
with the chairman and managing Director, recommended amendments to the
existing remuneration policies and performance-based bonus, if appropriate,
and approved the remuneration package and performance-based bonus paid
to the other Directors and senior management of the Company (i.e. the model
described in the CG code is adopted). No Director took part in any discussion
about his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to
discharge its major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the
service agreements of the Directors and the senior management, make
recommendations with respect to the remuneration and policies of the
Directors and senior management of the Company and to review the
remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses, including the
incentive awards for Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the financial
statements. The annual remuneration of other members of the senior
management by bands for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 is set out
below:

() RBRREZOMAREMERE LT
MAFE1368IEIMERER ENES
RigEKHETRR:

(k) BTEFS QFARNKEREM
ERERERIRRENEFMER
BREOER R

) ZEEXTRFIEMREALFEAR
AR REF KRG A EEER
RRZEEgNEHRBERINMN
& o

REBFEEAN  FMEEERR g%

ELr2RMESEMEREN S KA TER
HEMSHFMHHBE BFERESTHALER
wORMBEBT B RIERREE 2L
@Mﬂ@kﬁ%&@ C AR HEAE A AR
AEMEEREREEBI N 2FHEB
&&%ﬁ?mZbﬁ@%%i%ﬁé#
BlFrt ERX) - REZEMAB2HEEH
ERBHWZER® o

FHMZBECETRRBEERTEIER
B (EHERRIMEEERRREREZ
RBWEAE 2GR AEERARASRE
BEZFHEBRRRELERRZS HESF
EREEBZHEMFEETRIRAE
TEAL(BIRRE) IR -

EEFWEBERINABREMEY - B
SE-MEZA=t+—BULHBREE
BREREEMKEZFEH LSRN

m

Number of
individuals

Remuneration to the senior management by bands

Nil to HK$500,000
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005 with
specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). It currently consists
of five members, including Professor Chan Wing Kwong, Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon, Professor Sit Wing Hang, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man,
a majority of whom are INEDs during the year under review and up to the
date of this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules. Professor Chan Wing
Kwong is elected as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and evaluation
of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a Director and senior
management. The Board has formalised and adopted its existing practices into
a nomination policy in October 2018. The nomination policy stipulated the
key selection criteria and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably
qualified candidates for appointment to the Board. The selection criteria and
procedures specified in the nomination policy include:

1.  Selection Criteria

— in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as reference),
including reputation, integrity, accomplishment and relevant
experience in relation to the principal businesses of the Company
from time to time, commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. These factors are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate;

—  retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have
served as INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years standing
for re-election, the Nomination Committee will consider the
independence of such Director for nomination by the Board to
stand for election at a general meeting and state the reason in the
circular to the Shareholders for the re-election;

— candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written
consent to be appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any documents or the relevant websites
for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as
Director(s); and

—  the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

2. Nomination Procedures
—  the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidate(s)
from Board members, if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidate(s) who are not nominated by Board
members;

—  for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation;

— until the issue of the circular to be sent to the Shareholders,
the nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting;
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— in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to
invite nominations from the Shareholders, a circular will be sent
to the Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for the Shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidate(s) will be included in the circular to the
Shareholders;

—  the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary
within the lodgment period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as Director, without the Board’s
recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s nomination,
other than those candidate(s) set out in the circular to be sent to
the Shareholders. The particulars of the candidate(s) so proposed
will be sent to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary
circular;

— acandidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary,

—  the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any
general meeting; and

— as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who
shall be elected as Director, the resolutions proposed for
the candidate(s) by the Shareholders shall therefore take the
same form as the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s)
recommended by the Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of
the benefits of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors
implementation of this policy as part of the process of selecting and
nominating candidates for appointment to the Board. Candidates are
considered against a broad and diverse range of aspects specified in
the nomination policy, which among other aspects also include gender,
ethnicity and cultural background.
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The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(a

to review and evaluate the structure, size, composition and
diversity (including without limitation gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, independence and length of service) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations to the Board on
any proposed changes to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships; In
identifying suitable individuals, the Committee shall consider
individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

to assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs" annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report of the Company;

to regularly review the time required for a director to perform his/
her responsibilities;

to review the balance between executive and non-executive
directors and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity on the Board;

to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
organisation with a view to ensuring the long term success of the
Group;

to review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the
objectives; and make disclosure of its review results in the
corporate governance report annually;

to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every
three years by shareholders;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive, taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy
and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed
in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service
contract with the Company, as appropriate;
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(k) where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular
to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting:

—  the process used for identifying the individual why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

— if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

—  the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

—  how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

() the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee
shall attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be
prepared to respond to questions raised by shareholders on the
Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional
advice according to the Board Diversity Policy and its written terms of
reference, if considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings to review the Board Diversity Policy, evaluate the Board
performance and succession planning and discuss the criteria and
procedures for retirement by rotation. The Nomination Committee
would recommend to the Board for re-appointment of Mr. Tang Ching
Ho, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Professor Sit Wing Hang and Professor Chan
Wing Kwong at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Attendance of Directors at Various Meetings EENEERZHER

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings, committee (E_T_MNE=ZA=T—HILUHBFE "

meetings and shareholder meetings held during the financial year ended 31 ERE=nEEeaen ZE88RLER

March 2024 are as follows: RRGZHEFEFE ZZDT

Attendance
HERR

Board Meetings Board Committee Meetings 2023 AGM 2023-24 SGM
—E-=E Z—B-ZEZ

BREE -MERES

ExzEeeR Ag RAE
SM AC { NC
#Pe® BRZEE FMZEE® REZE%
Total number of meetings LR 4 8 3 1 2 1 3
Members of the Board EZgHnE
Executive Directors HTES
Tang Ching Ho Hig 4/4 718 NATER 1N 22 1N 073
Tang Wai Man BEH 4/4 78 NATER 1 2 1N 1/3
Law Man Yee Anita itag- 4/4 88 NATER NATEB NATER i 23
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Siu Man Ho Simon BXx 4/4 8/8 3/3 I 212 1 03
Li Ka Fai David FRE 4/4 8/8 33 NATER NATER 1/1 3/3
Sit Wing Hang (Note 7) BKEH ) I 33 17 NATER NATER NATER 0/2
Chan Wing Kwong (Note 2) Bkt (W i2) 1 3/3 11 NARER  NATER NATER 072
Members departing during 2023 RIBZZEBEH
K&
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Cho Wing Mou (Note 3) E w(/fmy) 33 5/5 22 1 b)) 171 0N
Leung Wai Ho (Note 4) REREN 2 33 5/5 22 1 21 11 0N
Legend:
T A
Board Meetings Board Committees Meetings 2023 AGM — Annual General Meeting of the Company
Exeged EEZESY held on 22 August 2023
RM — Regular Meetings AC — Audit Committee Meetings ZZ_=FRRXBFRE — ARFARZZT=_=F/\A
EHE & EREZEEgH T+t HBRTNRRBEEFRY
SM — Speoal Meetings NC — Nomination Committee
Hhlg & Meetings 2023-24 SGM — Special General Meeting of the Company
REEEGTEZ held on 19 October 2023, 30 January 2024 and 7 March
RC — Remuneration Committee 2024
Meeting TR =FE_FRRE Kﬁ — ARARZ=ZFT==
FWEETER FTATABR ZZE_WNE-A=ZFTHRZZ_NF=
AEtBETHRIEFNRE
Notes: Mt
1. Professor Sit Wing Hang was appointed as the INED and the member of each 1. BOKEHRER_Z_=F+_A)\BEZ
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration EABIERNTESUREREZE S
Committee on 8 December 2023 REZBEELRTMEESESENKE
2. Professor Chan Wing Kwong was appointed as the INED, the chairman of the 2. RXKABER_Z_=F+_A/\HEZ
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the ERBIUFNITESR REZESEE
Remuneration Committee on 8 December 2023 UWhERZBEERTMZEEFANMK
3. Mr. Cho Wing Mou has ceased to be the INED, the chairman of the Nomination 3. BEKEAER_ZF_=F+-_ANBTH
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration EEBYFPITES REZESERE
Committee on 8 December 2023 WREBZZEERFMNZEG T AR
4, Mr. Leung Wai Ho has ceased to be the INED and a member of each of the Audit 4. RBRBEFER-_ZF_=F+=-ANBTH
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 8 EERYIERTEEUREREZE R
December 2023 REEEgRFTMEEETANKE
T EHEEERBRA 43
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
covering financial, operational, compliance and risk management aspects.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls
that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee
would consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience and
training of staff and external advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function.

Management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the Group's assets
and stakeholder’s interest. Management may report from time to time any
finding, recommendation and remedies to the Audit Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and
handle all the significant risks associated with the businesses of the Group.
The Board would perform an annual or periodical review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures to response to
the risks resulted from the significant change of business environment.

Management would identify the risks associated with the businesses of the
Group by considering both internal and external factors and events which
include political, economic, technology, environmental, social, governance and
staff. Each of risks has been assessed and prioritised based on their relevant
impact and occurrence opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy
would be applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results.
Each type of risk management strategy has been listed as follows:

—  Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake
actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

—  Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid the
risk;

—  Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or allocate
to different location or product or market; and

—  Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the
risks associated with the businesses accepted by the Group and minimise
the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external advisory
firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies were
communicated with the Audit Committee and the Board.

Management confirmed that no significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system was identified by the external advisory firm for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024. The Board conducted an annual review
on the risk management and internal control systems and procedures of
the Group, covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance and it was considered that the internal controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024.

Inside Information Policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has established
policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside information to the
public when available. The senior management of the Group will take all
reasonable measures from time to time to ensure that the disclosure of inside
information is in compliance with the requirements of all applicable laws and
regulations.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst &
Young, for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 which has been reviewed
and approved by the Audit Committee, are set out as follows:

A 58 10 W )

FHAREERAMBEEE

REBEFEAR  AEBEEZBRIMNBEMD
AR AR E AT AL - ARRA S E AR
ERRABEERR 2 BMEREE - BH
NEEZERENMEERREBERE M
ERREEREETEA -

ERERRA RBEE-_ZT-_WF=A
Zt+—ALYREE - SNIEM QRS E
HARNHEIERFEEFEETMERRBER
BRE - BHE_Z_NF=ZA=+—HLILH
BEE EESERASEZEREER
NBEZXZALBEFRETK  ZER
AHREMEEAELERETFESEH
TRE RAEERRABREEBESER
MARR -

REHEEBE
AEE-BEIERHHERNEEZHEE
BERAE TEHEBRRER - AR
AABRATREABER - ARBESRE
BESTRER-—UEEREE  BRARE
HBEMBENAMAERERIERNE
s o

SNEE 1 BB o 37

BE-_Z_NE=A=+—HB L0 KEE
B B AN A B SNEE A% SRR &2 ok & &1 AD
EH s NEEERZESEN IE -
]I UINE

Fees paid/payable
to Ernst & Young

B A &= K

BtMEEHRAZEBA

HK$'000

Services rendered for the Group [ 7K &5 @ Fir 42 14 AR 7% TER

Audit services: EZIR

— annual financial statements — FEMBHRE 4,580
Non-audit services: I EZIRTE

— agreed-upon procedures —BERF 678

— taxation and professional services — R RBEERS 289

— other professional services — HMEXRE 28

Total BEt 5,575
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Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and publication
of the timely financial statements and ensure that they are prepared in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the accounts for the financial year ended 31 March
2024, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are
pertinent to the Group's operations and relevant to the financial statements
and have presented an understandable assessment of the Group’s position
and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are prepared on
a going concern basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to the events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors continue to
explore any opportunities with potential investors to enhance its financial
position and business development of the Group by way of refinancing,
extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 65 to 70 of this annual report.

Compliance With Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance, the SFO,
the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations implemented in relevant
jurisdictions. As far as the Board is concerned and save as disclosed herein, the
Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on
environmental friendliness, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. We
proactively implement environmental protection policies, gradually adjust its
portfolio, conduct energy-saving, using recycled paper, emission reduction
and pollution prevention strategies. The Group continues to upgrade its
industrial facilities to become more environmental friendly, including the use
of solar energy and implementation of energy saving policy.

Investor Relations and Communications with
Shareholders

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications
with shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure
that the Group’s information is disseminated to stakeholders in a timely
manner and enable them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise
performance. A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by the
Company and the same is available on the website of the Company (www.
wyth.net). Other major means of communications includes:
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Disclosures in Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial position will be
disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars
and other corporate communications which will be sent to shareholders and/
or published on the websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.wyth.net). Other inside information will be released by way of
formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings and various
general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly
with the Shareholders. Members of the Board and the members of various
committees are encouraged to attend and answer questions at such general
meetings.

In order to let the Shareholders to make an informed decision at the general
meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 14 clear days for every general
meeting and 21 clear days for every annual general meeting were given to the
Shareholders pursuant to paragraph 14(2) of Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules,
bye-law 59 of the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The chairman will
explain the detailed procedures for conducting a poll during the proceedings
of meetings and answered all questions raised by the Shareholders on voting
by poll. All resolutions put to vote at general meetings are taken by poll and
the poll results are published on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net)
and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) immediately following the holding of
the general meetings.

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps
investors and the Shareholders abreast of the Group's latest development and
discloses relevant information to the public in a timely manner. During the
year under review, we held various meetings with investors and participated
in investor and press conferences.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy and considered it to be effective during
the year under review

Shareholder’s Rights

Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, the Board whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings and
shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company to require
a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be called by the Board. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM; and (i) must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such meeting shall be
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
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Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s share registrars and upon
their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the company
secretary of the Company will inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving
sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may
convene a SGM in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration
of three months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. A SGM
convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by the Board.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Section 80 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company,
the shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition representing not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company, to require general meetings of the Company to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition. The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 3101,
31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong
Kong or the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the meeting in case of any other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s) at a
general meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section
headed under “Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at www.
wyth.net.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing by
email to pr@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company in the following manners:

In respect of corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Suite 3101, 31/F, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Secretaries Limited

17/F., Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the achieving
of high possible standards of openness, probity and accountability. Procedures
are formulated to enable individual employees to disclose internally and at a
high level, information which the individual believes that it shows malpractice
or impropriety within the Group. During the year under review, no incident of
fraud or misconduct was reported from employees that have material effect
on the Group's financial statements and overall operations.

Company Secretary

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus (“Mr. Cheung"), who was resigned company
secretary of the Group on 1 April 2024. Ms. Ng Yee Man, Fiona ("Ms. Ng")
who was appointed as company secretary of the Group immediately after the
resignation of Mr. Cheung.

The company secretary of the Group reports directly to the Board and is
responsible for, inter alia, providing updated and timely information to all
Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Cheung and Ms. Ng
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

Corporate Social Responsibility

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and strives
for greater rewards for our stakeholders, we acknowledge our corporate
social responsibility to share some burden in building the society where our
business has been established and thrived. The Group has not only improved
the quality management system but also strengthened the audit quality to
ensure the quality and safety of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical project
control. The Group is also conscious of its role as a socially responsible group
of companies. It makes donations for community wellbeing from time to time,
and supports the communities. The Group built up a team of staff volunteers
to get involved in volunteer work and encourages its employees to participate
in any charitable events and caring services.

Constitutional Document

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no change in the
constitutional document.

The Memorandum of Association and the bye-laws are available on the
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company at (www.hkex.com.hk) and
(www.wyth.net), respectively.

Conclusion

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its
sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the stakeholders.
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Report of the Directors
o

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2024.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale
of traditional Chinese and western pharmaceutical products, health food,
personal care products, property investment, management and sale of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets. Details of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. During
the year under review, there were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 71 to 75 of this annual report.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded a revenue of
continuing operations and loss attributable to owners of the parent amounted
to approximately HK$783.9 million (2023: approximately HK$723.6 million) and
approximately HK$15.4 million (2023: loss of approximately HK$20.5 million).

The Board has recommended the payment of a final cash dividend and
a special cash dividend of HK3.0 cents and HK14.7 cents respectively per
ordinary share in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
No interim dividend was declared for the six months ended 30 September
2023 (for the six months ended 30 September 2022: Nil).

During the Year, a special dividend was declared by way of distribution in
specie of 293 shares of Wang On Group Limited and 907 shares of China
Agri-Products Exchange Limited shares for every 200 shares of the Company,
and were paid to the qualifying shareholders of the Company on 25 March
2024.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Business Review and Analysis of Key Financial
Performance Indicators

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the
businesses of the Group, including, among other things, the information set
out below, are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 11 to 23 of this annual report:

(@)  afair review of the Group's business;
(b)  principal risk factors;

(0 ananalysis using financial key performance indicators; and

(d)  future development in the Group's business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and performance
of the Group are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report. More details will be
disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course. These
discussions form part of this report of the Directors.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March
2024.

Share Capital and Share Option Scheme

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of the
Company during the year under review, together with the reasons therefor, are
set out in notes 34 to 35 to the financial statements, respectively.

Equity-Linked Agreements

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme as set
out in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” under the “Report of the
Directors” and note 35 to the financial statements, the Company has not
entered into any equity-linked agreements.

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 228 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

R

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of
the Company

During the Year, the Company repurchased a total of 33.54 million shares of
HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange. All the repurchased
shares were subsequently cancelled by the Company on 10 August 2023.

Details of the share repurchases during the Year are as follows:

BE HEFEEAQF LHRESE

MRAFER ARBARBIMBEDE R
33,540,000 % & f% E fE£0.0178 7T 2 A2 & Ik
e MACBEBRMEARENR T _=F
NA+BEBRARR L -

ARERAROEE@OFEDT:

Number of share Aggregate
Month of repurchase repurchased Purchase price per share amount
EE A G e &G HE BREBEE R
Highest Lowest
BS B 1K
(in million) HKS HKS HKS (in million)
ER=:33 T BT BEET
July 2023 33.54 0.450 0.425 14.73
—E=F+A
33.54 14.73

The repurchases of the Company’s shares during the Year were made
pursuant to the mandate granted by the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)’) at the 2022 annual general meeting of the Company held
on 26 August 2022, with a view to benefiting the Shareholders as a whole
by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Company. As at 31 March 2024, the total number of shares of the Company in
issue was 1,171,102,888 shares.

After the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report, the
Company further repurchased a total of 46.00 million shares of HK$0.01
each of the Company on the Stock Exchange. Such repurchased shares were
subsequently cancelled by the Company on 3 May 2024.

Details of the share repurchases after the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to
the date of this report are as follows:

RAFERNBRAQXRRGIIRIEARR A
BE(BRRERNIDNR-_ZE-—_FNB=-+,H
BAYARNR —_E-—EREFEFEAS L
BREZEEELD  BEARARQRAEHRE
EFERERAT  HMSBRRBRITE -
AZEZNMF=ZA=+—H AQaD
TR 42 8051,171,102,8883% °

HE-_Z-_MNMEZA=Z1+—HLEFEEEK
BEEARERS  ARARBRME—F
f# @ & $£46,000,000/% & A% ® {E0.0178 7T
ZARRNREMD c MEEEEBRMHEZRZER
TECNERA=BHARQAGE

BE-Z-_NF=ZA=+—-HIFEER
HEAREAHBRNOBEQOFBNT

Number of share Aggregate
Month of repurchase repurchased Purchase price per share amount
i E A 5 B E RGO HE BREEE B
Highest Lowest
S =&
(in million) HKS HKS HKS (in million)
ER--1 BT T BEET
April 2024 46.00 0.260 0.250 11.80
—ZETZMFMA
46.00 11.80
Such repurchased shares were made pursuant to the mandate granted by FABREROIBRERRERR-ZZE-_=FN
the Shareholders at the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company held ARZt+ZRBUIZEARAZZE_=ZFRR

on 22 August 2023, with a view to benefiting the Shareholders as a whole
by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Company. Up to the date of this report, the total number of shares of the
Company in issue is 1,125,102,888 shares.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, losses, damages and expenses which they may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution of the duties of
their respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and other officers of the Group for the year under review.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2024, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution to
equity holders of the parent, as calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately HK$89.9
million (2023: approximately HK$48.1 million).

Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Gss, »
Chairman and Managing Director

Ms. Tang Wai Man

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, m+
Professor Sit Wing Hang, Gas, Jp
(Appointed on 8 December 2023)
Professor Chan Wing Kwong, mp
(Appointed on 8 December 2023)
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH
(Resigned on 8 December 2023)
Mr. Cho Wing Mou
(Resigned on 8 December 2023)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A )

In accordance with Bye-Laws 84(1), Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") and Mr.
Li Ka Fai, David (“Mr. Li") shall retire from office by rotation at the AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with Bye-Law 83(2), Professor Sit Wing Hang (“Professor Sit"),
and Professor Chan Wing Kwong (“Professor Chan”), being the Directors
appointed by the Board on 8 December 2023 after the Company’s last annual
general meeting held on 22 August 2023, shall hold office until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company, and being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Professor Sit and Professor Chan, who have been appointed during the
year ended 31 March 2024, had obtained the legal advice referred to Listing
Rules 3.09D, and each Professor Sit and Professor Chan has confirmed his
understood his obligations as a director of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all
INEDs, namely Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Professor Sit Wing
Hang and Professor Chan Wing Kwong; and as at the date of this annual
report, the Company still considers them to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 24 to 28 of this annual report.

Update on Director’s Information

During the year under review, there is no other change in information of the
Directors since the publication of the 2023 interim report which is required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by such company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts

Save as disclosed in notes 9 and 43 to the financial statements and the
section “Directors and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations”, no Directors or a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
the holding company of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Director’s Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a
business, apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year under review.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures
of The Company and its Associated Corporations

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code under the Listing
Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated
corporations, Wang On, CAP and Wang On Properties Limited ("WOP"):

(@) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of Director
EENR

Mr. Tang Ching Ho
BB A 5 &

Number of shares

(Note 2) (f1i£2)

B W

ESNEEXRK RS

REBEERN - RELEHREI0E
EERNEREAZMEAMENENEE
EBBRLTEBREERNEERFZE
BORERBEBRIN BB

EERFETBRAERADFAR
HEB EER G - HERONE
BEPZESERAXE

RZB-_NME=A=+—HB BEFAR
AETETHRABR /REHEEH (M
BARARRKEERNEB EZER(EE R
BELIEEGEXVE) 2 BKH - HER
MHEREEP  BEHARQRABRIEE S
MEEEOEEEFEZELM %
BRI B &) 58 XV EP sk =it 48 Al
ZEETFAERTMEARARA REXZ 2
BEERABEWMT

RARAREMBEERE  hERER
REEBEARAT(RREE])ERB
2R

(a) REQAEZBRZFR:

Approximate percentage
of the Company’s total
issued share capital

EARARE#HAT
RAEBEMAUBD L
IR &E )

810,322,940 69.19

(Note 1) (K171)

(b) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On (the “Wang On
Shares”), an associated corporation of the Company:

Name of Director

Name of corporation

EEnR ARIBHE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho Wang On
BB A 5 & e

Number of shares

7,252,103,429
(Note 3) (f17%3)

(b) RAELAFHBEIBEZNWNEER(E
ZRBDzHR:

Approximate percentage
of Wang On’s total issued
share capital

HERERT
RABEBOB D

gnp Gl )

47.23
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

R

(c) Long positions in the ordinary shares of CAP (the “CAP Shares”), () MAATRBELZETE )
an associated corporation of the Company: BER(HFEHEEERBRGODZEFE:

Approximate percentage
of CAP’s total issued
share capital

IEHER EmE 31T
Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares RAEEMATIEE
EEgA CIET gk - | )
Mr. Tang Ching Ho CAP 5,683,958,910 57.10
B5 ﬂgﬁ R 2 E (Note 4) (1 i4)
(d) Long positions in the ordinary shares of WOP, an associated (d) RELAEBEIERZTHENE
corporation of the Company: RzFR:

Approximate percentage
of WOP’s total issued
share capital

h R R EE BT
Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares RABEMABSL
BEEng AEEH g ] %
Mr. Tang Ching Ho WOP 11,400,000,000 75.00
B35 57 5t A & E (Note 5) (K1 75) (Note 2) (K1 7#2)

Notes: et -

1. The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the disclosure of interests 1. ZEBOLBRBERESFLHE
form filed under the SFO. On 3 May 2024, the Company has cancelled the GPOIEROBRBRBERBRE
repurchased 46,000,000 shares of the Company, after the cancellation, the RZT_MFRA=H " AQAF
interest of Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") changed to 72.02%. $H A E) BB E 6946,000,000 8 A& 15 -

At 8H 1% B0 % 5 % 4 (BB 5E )
B T R72.02% ©

2. Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of 2. REZBSRBEGKH  BELEER
the Company held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time"), a Rich Time Strategy Limited ([Rich
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited (“WOE") Time)(AZEZLZ 22 EWEB AR
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On in which Mr. Tang together Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited
with his associates were taken to have approximately 42.80% interest as at (IWOENZ 2 &M E QR FHAH
the date of this Report. 810,322,940 A A A B 15 o #E 5

mo BEPEELAERABE AR
A EBBEIE R ESHN42.80%
ZHET o

3. Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of 3. BT E R A 2 #a R
the Stock Exchange, amongst the 7,252,103,429 Wang On Shares, 28,026,339 B R g EA7 252,103,490 & &
Wang On shares were beneficially held by Mr. Tang; 4,989,928,827 Wang B 13 o - 28,026,3390% 7 2 M 15 e
On shares were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang by virtue of being the Bk & E & FF A 4,989928,827
founder of a discretionary trust, namely Tang's Family Trust; 28,026,300 BEZROHEBEEER S
Wang On shares were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang in which his BEREIERREET 282
spouse, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, was interested; and 486,915,306 Wang On shares ATMEEERZERNPESL#
were held by Caister Limited (@ company wholly owned by Mr. Tang), 7= 128,026,300/ &= & I’ ) # 18
531,000,000 Wang On shares were held by Billion Trader Investments ABHRHTEREREBHAERL L
Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Caister Limited, which REREERZOKR D EAE
is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang), 1,187,123,105 shares were held Rich 7 1 M486,915,306/% 7= % ik 17 Al &
Time, and 1,083,552 Wang On Shares were held by Hearty Limited (a direct Caister Limited (— & B &8 % & &
wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart Investments Limited (“Total BEWEA 2 RR)FEAE 531,000,000
Smart’), which is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company). On & 7= % B 1 & Billion Trader
29 April 2024, 1,187,123,105 Wang On Shares, which were held by Rich Time Investments Limited (% M &0 & &
being cancelled after the distribution in species pursuant to the special %ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁ_ZCa\ster leltedZﬁsﬁT‘ﬁ
dividend approved on 7 March 2024, and on 30 April 2024, 1,083,552 Wang >EMBAR)FAE - 1,187123,105
On Shares, which were held by Hearty Limited being disposed on open fi% e R\ch T|me FF ﬁlﬂ 083,552/
market. After such cancellation and disposal, the interests was 6,063,896,772 ol R Hearty Limited (& &
Wang On Shares in which Mr. Tang together with his associate were taken ’Aﬂﬁ#%éﬂﬁ% A Total Smart

vestments Limited ([Total
Sma rtJ)ZET%%ﬁWEQT)%

5

to have approximately 42.80%.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

4. Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, amongst the 5,683,958,910 CAP Shares, 2,007,700,062
CAP Shares of which were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger
Investments’), 3,674,814,532 CAP Shares of which were held by Rich
Time (both Onger Investments and Rich Time were direct wholly-owned
Subsidiaries of WOE), and 1,444,316 CAP Shares of which were held by Goal
Success Investments Limited (“Goal Success”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Total Smart). CAP was owned as to approximately 57.10% by
Wang On. On 29 April 2024, Goal Success sold 1,444,316 CAP Shares and
ceased to be member of CAP. Upon the disposal, Mr. Tang is deemed to be
interested in the 5,682,514,594 CAP Shares representing to approximately
57.09% of CAP interest.

5. Pursuant to the disclosure of interest form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, 11,400,000,000 WOP Shares were held by Earnest Spot
Limited (a direct wholly owned subsidiary of WOE).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates
had any other interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the
Model Code.

Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Scheme(s) of the Company

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2023, the
shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the share option
scheme previously adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting held on 22 August 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”) and the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2023 Scheme”) for the primary
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Upon termination of the
2013 Scheme, no share options was granted.

Pursuant to the 2023 Scheme, share options may be granted to any Director
or proposed Director, employee or proposed employee, of the Company or
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) (the “Employee Participants”’) or
any Director or proposed Director, employee or proposed employee of the
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Group
(the "Related Entity Participants”) (collectively the “Participants”).

Under the 2023 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants
to subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each
lot of share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days from the
offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings. There is no specific requirement that an option
must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the
Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at
the time of grant of any particular option. The period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from
the date of grant.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A )

Pursuant to the 2023 Scheme, the maximum number of share options that may
be granted under the 2023 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company is the number, upon their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding
10% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding
any shares issued on the exercise of share options. The total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2023 Scheme and any other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
number of shares in issue, as at the date of approval of the 2023 Scheme limit
or as refreshed from time to time.

The 10 % scheme mandate limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining
approval of the shareholders in general meeting after three (3) years from the
adoption date of the 2023 Scheme, after then the refreshment by shareholders
once every three years. Refreshments within a three-year period must be
approved by independence shareholders.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
Participant under the 2023 Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to
19% of the number of shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of such limit must be separately approved
by shareholders of the Company with such Participant and his/her associates
abstaining from voting. Share options granted to any Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the INEDs (excluding any INED who is the
grantee of the option). Where any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) will result in the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options
already granted and to be granted to such person under the 2013 Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue such
further grant of share options is required to be approved by shareholders of
the Company in a general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the offer date which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company.

During the year under review, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed
or cancelled under the 2023 Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2023 Scheme is 117,110,288 shares, representing approximately
10.4% of the Company'’s total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2023 Scheme are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.

58 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

RE-_FT_=F3 —T-_=F3F8xK
ARRABME R E MRS S A T AR
ZESERESRE  RNETERRERK
NBEEAERATFEBARFI TR HETR
K10% - ETBRREEREETRREETZ
EED -  BITERE-_F-=F8K%
{2 ] HoAd 51 813 F 1O P G BB R T AT B2 3%
TORNEE  THBE-_T - =F58
PR EEHE /B H ok TN S R ) B B AT R 1D &K
H#10% °

0% & RERBAIBBERERA T -_=F
AEZRMEHRF=ZC)FRNBERS
ERAETUAES  HEFBRESAKR
FoFHREEH R - R=FHRAET
BRI ST R o

CECCZFFIZBR2EEREMA T
BAREARTEERERAT TRHITZH&S
BB EERARFANREMEREZD
BITRMOEBE Z21% - i —F XL BB
ZRBEZBEE  AABRBSEARBRERS
THAE MZE2EEREBEARARE
AR MEMNESE ARABHRITHAR
FTEMRAWERAZ2EMBEARD
BhiE ARSBYUFNTEETETR
BREARA ZEMBIIERITEERIN)
ZHAE - MERNEIERRIBIIERTE
EYREZBZHEARBEMBRE
ERBEERBEREBHMZEM T @A
HE - BTERE-_FT-=FF 8 RAR
AEEMEREABER TS X TZ
AtzBEhkEEEETE BEHEW
RITEE)MEHITRE T EHITZRMD A -
HBEARRBEEITED201% » Bl ZFE
—HAREBERBESARE LTRAUESA
NRAEARRRBERAR G LI E - THREAE
PRUATERZ&ESE ()RR KM ®
EHNER(AREXRDEBMIMEERME
RPN ZWTE: (NARRBROREZ S
WBEHAAEEEAEBIMERMER
POz P TE R (i) AR RO EE -

REBEFERN BEBEREREBE-_T_=
FEEERD - 1760 KRGS -

RAFEHRBEH  REBE_Z-_=F 8 #
BT 2 IR0 48 B R117110,2880% - M E R
RRARBEITRAETEL04% °

CECFHEZEMFBEHENPBHREK
B 535 -



Report of the Directors (Continued)

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations” and “Share option schemes” above and in the
share option scheme disclosures in note 35 to the financial statements, at no
time during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons had, or were deemed or taken to have, interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of shareholders

BRES EB

Number of shares

B W

EERERDERET 2ER

BREXEERIZTHRAERARAR
HABABE R  HEROINEREFZ
BERRBIRIBRESSSHRES
T S T 4R R I R 35 P45 B2 2 B AL R R #1900
ROBEFEANEMNRR SEFARSES
BZEBHARKFEFLILEERLITEA
RUBARARDHAEROKERZM
ER 2R - BEARB R EFEMNERA
TEFT AR EE R TR BE A
fEABREZBBERN -

FERRRRORAEBRD T2
BERARE

WRZB-_NME=A=+—RB BEFEMA
o AT AT RARE R 3K A8 B A
BA B ERBEREAREESLHE
GROIEXVEFE 2R3N B2 R X AR AR
ARE ABELRRBEESRAEGRIE
BOHARRAFE 2 B Mz #E sk

=

RARBEBREOIETE

Approximate percentage
of the Company’s total
issued share capital
(Note 3)

HERATE#HT
RABEHEOBD L
(Htit3)

R 4 8 B %

Rich Time (Note 1) (K1 &#1) 810,322,940 69.19
WOE (Note 1) (K1i#1) 810,322,940 69.19
Wang On (Note 1) 810,322,940 69.19
K& (W)
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2) 810,322,940 69.19
B ML L (M E2)

Notes: X

1. Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of the Company 1. BIRE S KB E GG - B 5% £ R Rich

held by Rich Time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his associates held
approximately 42.80% interest as at the date of this report.

2. Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr.
Tang is interested.

3. The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the disclosure of interest forms filed
under the SFO. On 3 May 2024, the Company was cancelled the repurchased
46,000,000 Shares of the Company. After the cancellation, the interests changed
to 72.02%

Time (REZZ22ENBARWOEZ 2
A M AR F A §9810,322,9408 A 2 A)
D EPHEEERELE
BZARAREBBFEL4280% 2 1

2. MERZLWBRERBZEBWEEHE
ERBZBEOTHEAELS -

3. ZEBALBRBERESRDPEHI Z
BEEXHEBERBERBRE -R-2-M
FRAAZA  ARARACEHEMBEDHD
46,000,000 A" AF IR0 o ML iHiE - 4
& 872.02% °
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A )

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there were no other persons
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year under review, the following transaction continued to be
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.55 and
14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

— On 2 September 2021, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited,
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, as supplier, and Wang On
Management Limited ("“WOM"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On, as purchaser, entered into a new master sales agreement
for supplying Chinese and Western pharmaceutical products, health
food and personal care products by the Group to WOM (for itself and
on behalf of other members of Wang On) for the three financial years
ending 31 March 2024 at annual caps of HK$9.9 million, HK$9.9 million
and HK$9.9 million, respectively. During the year under review, total sales
proceeds received by the Group from WOM was approximately HK$3.2
million which were within the prescribed annual cap of HK$9.9 million.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that
the abovementioned continuing connected transactions were entered into
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business; (i) in accordance
with the terms of the respective agreements governing such transactions on
terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole; (i) either on normal commercial terms or on terms
no less favourable to the Group than those available to or from independent
third parties; and (iv) have not exceeded the respective caps.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Further details of other related party transactions and/or continuing
connected transactions undertaken by the Group in the ordinary course of
business during the year under review, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the
Listing Rules, are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were
no other transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Connected Transactions

During the year under review, the following are connected transactions for the
Company under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules:

(@)

On 8 September 2023 (after trading hours of the Stock Exchange),
(i) Vendor | (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WOP) and the
Purchaser (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WYT) and (ii) Vendor
Il (@an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WOP) and the Purchaser
respectively entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreements in relation
to the sale and purchase of the Target Companies which holding interest
in properties, pursuant to which, (i) Vendor | conditionally agreed to sell,
and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase, (a) the Target | Sale
Share (representing the entire issued share capital of Target Company
1); and (b) the Target | Shareholder’s Loan (being the shareholder’s
loan owing by Target Company | to Vendor | as at the Transaction |
Completion Date), at a consideration of HK$43.8 million (subject to
adjustment), and (ii) Vendor Il conditionally agreed to sell, and the
Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase, (a) the Target Il Sale Share
(representing the entire issued share capital of Target Company Il); and
(b) the Target Il Shareholder’s Loan (being the shareholder’s loan owing
by Target Company Il to Vendor Il as at the Transaction Il Completion
Date), at a consideration of HK$35.0 million (subject to adjustment),
on the terms and subject to the conditions of the respective Sale and
Purchase Agreements. Target Company | holds 100% legal and beneficial
ownership of Property | and Target Company Il holds 100% legal and
beneficial ownership of Property Il. The Transactions constitute a
discloseable and connected transaction for each of WOG, WYT and
WOP and are therefore subject to the reporting, announcement, circular
(including independent financial advice) and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The sales and purchases
were approved by the Shareholders on 19 October 2023, details of which
were set out in the announcements published by the Company dated
8 September 2023 and 19 October 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 29 September 2023; and

On 18 December 2023, the Lender (an approximate 99.8%-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and the Borrower entered into the Revolving
Loan Facility Agreement, pursuant to which the Lender agreed to
grant the Revolving Loan Facility not exceeding HK$100 million to the
Borrower for a term of five years at the interest rate of 10% per annum.
The provision of the Revolving Loan Facility by the Lender to the
Borrower therefore constitutes a discloseable and connected transaction
of the Company, which is subject to the reporting, announcement,
circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A the Listing Rules were approved by the Shareholders on
30 January 2023, details of which were set out in the announcements
published by the Company dated 18 December 2023 and 30 January
2023, and the circular of the Company dated 11 January 2024.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group
in the ordinary course of business, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules, during the year under review are set out in note 43 to the financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A )

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were
no other transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transaction in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Emolument Policy

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is in place and approved
by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting, having regarded to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Following the expiry of the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 21 August 2023, the
Company has adopted the 2023 Share Option Scheme at the annual general
meeting held on 22 August 2023, as incentives to Directors and eligible
employees. Details of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are set out in note 35 to
the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for less than approximately 10.1% (2023: approximately
8.1%) of the Group's total sales and the sales to the Group's largest customer
included therein accounted for approximately 2.8% (2023: approximately 3.2%).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 14.9% (2023: approximately 13.2%) of the Group's purchases
and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 44.2%
(2023: approximately 36.4%) of the Group's purchases.

At no time during the year under review did a Director or any of their close
associates or a shareholder of the Company, which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other donations
totaling approximately HK$283,000 (2023: approximately HK$8.5 million).

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 43 to the financial
statements, no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any
contract of significance of the Company or its subsidiaries during the year
under review.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year under review.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year under review, except for the deviation of the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Details of the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 29 to 49 of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year
under review and up to the date of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established its audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
with specific terms of reference (as amended from time to time) in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Professor Sit Wing Hang and
Professor Chan Wing Kwong, all of whom are the independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings with management
and the external auditor. The Audit Committee reviewed and considered,
among other things, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the financial reporting matters (including the review of interim and
final results), the audit plan, the statutory compliance, internal controls and
risk management, continuing connected transactions and the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function as well as their training programmes and
budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the Company's management and
approved the accounting policies and principles adopted and the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2024.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A )

Events After the Reporting Period

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out
in note 48 to the financial statements.

Auditor

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 have been audited
by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. There has been no change of the auditor of the Company in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

s
EY::

To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 71 to 227, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

35 57 B BB ¥R o)

Key audit matters (continued)

7 o 2 51 = H ()

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities BMEBTARSZEMMRBrmeH
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, BREAEHNECI —SHAOELE B
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the FHELHEREASTEEBNET - HE
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks e BRMOEBATERERITRESTM
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results B 47 & B TS R 2k B K 88 AR Rt 3L B T RR
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the STER R o RPIMTESEFOER
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying BREEHTRERETZEMATNET

consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
BESNEHE

Valuation of investment properties

REWEZIGE

The Group, including the subsidiaries the control of
which was lost during the year, holds various investment
properties in Hong Kong and Chinese Mainland for
rental earning purposes. These investment properties
are measured at fair value and losses of HK$100,530,000
arising from changes in the fair values of the Group's
investment properties were included in profit or loss
during the year, of which HK$82,678,000 was included in
profit for the year from discontinued operations.
EEEBEAFELEEFNBEZHMBLR)NEERF
BAMBEZEREMENRDIES ZSREVER
ATEAE M EEEREVELATFEEDELEERE
100,530,000/ 7T XA FF E 5t A48 &5 - H $82,678,0007%
TAACRIEREXBELENEAFE RN -

The Group engaged external valuers to perform the
valuation of these investment properties as at 31 March
2024 or the date of derecognition of subsidiaries, as
appropriate, and in the absence of current prices in an
active market for similar properties, the external valuers
considered information from a variety of sources such
as current prices of properties with similar locations and
conditions and estimated rental value of the relevant
properties and made assumptions about the capitalised
rates. The valuation of investment properties has been
identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the fair values of the
investment properties, which reflect market conditions
at the end of the reporting period or the date of
derecognition.
EEER-_ZT_NF=ZA=+—HMBRARKIER
HER (@A) TN EEMEZEREME#ITHE -
RBRZEUMEEETRTISER 2 RITEBERT - HM
HEMEZRREZERIRZ ER - a0 7E 58 00 B Kok
AZMENRITERAREBDEZHFHSEE I
EHEREARLENBRR REVERERI R —TAH
REAFHEDABEREVWE 2 A FERELEXR GG
HAaiRMBERRKKRIEBRRBARAZTHAR -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEMWEFNMNEEFEREETEE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:
BMTEREDEREZEFEFBEATSIE:

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by
the external valuers engaged by the Group;
BERENSE BEEZEZIIBHEMARRE 2EERS

assessing the external valuers’ qualification, experience and
expertise and considering their competence, objectivity and
independence; and

PN ER 2 B BB REEMBALZEHEN T
BB R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
assessment of the valuation methodologies applied and the
key parameters adopted in the valuations.
BERMONBHEEERBHRMAEGEERERACHES
FEARRBZEBR2H -



Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
ERENEE

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

REYFZ 16 (E)

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to
the valuation of investment properties are included
in notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
EAREDMEGEZSABRERBRBEH NGRS M B R
FKFE24 - 3%16 ©

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

YE  BERREZRE G

As at 31 March 2024, given that there are internal and
external sources of information that indicate impairment
or reversal of impairment may exist, management of
the Company performed an impairment assessment
of the property, plant and equipment of the Group's
cash generating units, relating to its pharmaceutical
businesses with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$665,458,000 to determine their recoverable amounts
based on either their value in use or fair value less costs
of disposal.

RZZBE_ME=RA=+—B BRERNDRINEBE R
KRB RA G FERBENRERERD - ERAEEE
¥ BEEEEXEBERNREEEEUNYE BE
& & BR A E665,458,000/8 T /TR E T & - RIBE A
BEXATFERLEKRANAEEATHESHE -

During the year, net impairment losses of HK$68,630,000
was recognised against the property, plant and
equipment.

REAN ERYE BEARERAREEBE FHE
68,630,000/ T °

The impairment assessment has been identified as a
key audit matter due to the materiality of the carrying
values of the property, plant and equipment, and the
significant judgements and estimations involved in the
assessment of their recoverable amounts.

ME BEARBEEEZEZENLUARFTHEATKRE 2
SR EARHE R BREN GRS A —EH
REEHE-

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to
the impairment of property, plant and equipment are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FEYE BERREREZSFHERKEHNES
B RS IR R MT 5224 - 315 ©

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN ET NN EEERESSE

For impairment assessments using the value in use calculations,
our audit procedures included the following:

A ECAEEETRENEMNS  RMANEFEFEEBEAT
&5 :

enquiring of management in relation to the key assumptions
applied in the cash flow projections, such as the revenue
growth rates and gross profit margins, and comparing them
to historical information and our understanding of the latest
market information and conditions; and
MERESHARSRBATER ARBR(MBAERER
EME)LBEAARANBERBRERLEEREMESEOET
HEMRMRAOBRETLEER: &

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us with the
assessment of the methodologies and the discount rates used
to determine the recoverable amounts on a sampling basis.
BAERMOAIEEZR B MM G EE TR DS
FERBZAERFHRE -

For impairment assessments using the fair values less costs of
disposal of the relevant property, plant and equipment, our audit
procedures included the following:

MUARFEROEREYE - BB KR A K ARNETRET G
mE BMNEFEFEEATSE:

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by
the external valuer engaged by the Group;
ESREHSE ESEZEZINBEEMARREZGEERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience and
expertise and considering its competence, objectivity and
independence; and

PN ER s B KR RBENBAZEHEN T
BB R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
assessment of the valuation methodologies applied and the
key parameters adopted in the valuations.
BERMOANBEEERBHBRMAGERETERBZMEES
EARFRBR2E -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B 57 A% BB A )

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeqguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. WONG, Cheuk Keung.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

26 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

0 18 a B Bt 2 i W 5 5

Year ended 31 March 204 &2 - - ME=A=+—HBIFE&

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BERSEEK
REVENUE Iy &= 5 783,881 723,598
Cost of sales & K AR (389,068) (381,235)
Gross profit £ H 394,813 342,363
Other income and gains, net HEM A Rz - F58 5 91,588 54,470
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (246,123) (223,891)
Administrative expenses THAX (108,855) (107,629)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment €& & E R E KB &R~

losses) on financial assets, net (CREBE) T8 7 584 (12,667)
Other expenses, net HthpZ 588 6 (86,310) (19,283)
Finance costs Bh & A 8 (40,792) (29,505)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair BERAFELBEZEARZ

value through profit or loss, net EMEEZAFE

B8 F8 (3,219) (5,520)

Fair value losses on owned investment BEREMEZATE

properties, net Ei1E - F 16 (17,852) (7,189)
Share of profits and losses of associates palk (B /NI b | D = 18 2,533 2,946
LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM BEREEERBAEE

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 7 (13,633) (5,905)
Income tax credit EBEE 11 6,359 13,317
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM BECEEB AR,

CONTINUING OPERATIONS (&5 18) (7,274) 7,412
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ERIEREEK
Profit/(loss) for the year from ERIEREEBAFE

discontinued operations L (B 18) 13 11,319 (4,065)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEGFN 4,045 3,347

T E %

$ARERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 204 & &2 - - NFE=A=+—HILFE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hftt 2@k % (FE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that Al BE R 12 BB E 3T 5 47

may be reclassified to profit or loss in EZEBAMEE
subsequent periods: Yooz (E#E) -
Debt investments at fair value through RATFELEM2EI
other comprehensive income: mARZEBRE:
Changes in fair value NEEEEH (8,495) 936
Reclassification adjustments for losses/ AAABHZER
(gains) included in profit or loss: (W) z BH
DERE:
— Impairment losses, net —REEE FHE 7 461 6,860
— Losses/(gains) on disposal/ — HEEEZ
redemption, net &g (U
=) FEE 56 9,152 (784)
Subtotal NEF 1,118 7,012
Translation reserve: BE W
Translation of foreign operations BREGINETR (87,911) (243,127)
Release upon the completion of the TEREY D IRE
Distribution in Specie % R 13 8,248 =
Subtotal INEF (79,663) (243,127)

Net other comprehensive loss that may be  AJgE R AR M EH » 48

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  EEm 2z Hth2HEEE

periods FER (78,545) (236,115)
Other comprehensive loss that will not be — #1~& R 1% H 7] & %7

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent — S FE s 2 A2 H

periods: S
Equity investments at fair value through RATEEEMD2EI
other comprehensive income: mARZRERE:
Changes in fair value N EEZD (34,674) (29,445)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEHMZEEE
FOR THE YEAR (113,219) (265,560)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEZHEEBBRERE
FOR THE YEAR (109,174) (262,213)
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 204 &2 - - ME=A=+—HILFE

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

AT A LR & T

(&) :
Owners of the parent BARERA (15,356) (20,515)
Non-controlling interests FE 1 IR = 19,401 23,862
Total #Et 4,045 3,347
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: LTATEEZEEE
M
Owners of the parent [SINEIE ES DN (78,228) (156,856)
Non-controlling interests JEIE RS (30,946) (105,357)
Total @Et (109,174) (262,213)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BAREBREZEREAA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY EBESRERN (BHE)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 14
Basic and diluted ERKEE
— For loss for the year —AFEEEBE HK (1.30) cents#&fll  HK (1.69) centsi& 1l
— For profit/(loss) from continuing — BEEEER RN
operations (& 18) HK (0.63) cents & 1l HK 0.61 centsi# 1l
T EEEERER AR

T NEFR

73



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

o B IR D R

31 March 2024 —E-_mME=/=+—H

2024 2023
ZEQmEF —T-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTERT T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BERZE 15 665,458 961,159
Investment properties wEME 16 152,000 3,099,676
Net investments in subleases HEREFE 17 5,897 7,306
Investments in associates RBERRZ/E 18 4,433 4,500
Financial assets at fair value through other RAFELEME2EK R
comprehensive income AERZeREE 19 24,986 192,892
Loans and interest receivables FE W B R R R B 24 380,000 17,209
Prepayments and deposits ERRERES 25 14,423 17,070
Deferred tax assets RIEFLIE & BE 33 17,685 11,633
Total non-current assets BIETBEE 1,264,882 4,311,445
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development ERAPYE 20 - 192,950
Properties held for sale FELEWHE 21 - 1,234,419
Inventories FE 22 308,098 209,232
Trade receivables B 5 e W R IE 23 81,356 68,028
Loans and interest receivables FE Uk B 3R F B 24 114,759 10,749
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERRIE - e R EAM
FE W 3R E 25 57,781 259,226
Net investments in subleases ADHEEEFE 17 4,931 5,205
Financial assets at fair value through other BEATEKEEMEZERS
comprehensive income ARz e®mEE 19 8,128 813
Financial assets at fair value through BATEKLER AR
profit or loss ERMEE 26 28,753 47,449
Tax recoverable EIRLER 181 5,790
Pledged deposits 2 17 3 27 4,444 33,496
Restricted bank balances 2R HI R 1T 4 8 27 - 12,174
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkReERIER 27 154,969 525,869
763,400 2,605,400
Assets classified as held for sale and assets ofa D ABEHREZEE K
disposal company HERRIZEE 28 66,828 96,970
Total current assets BREEE 830,228 2,702,370
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables BSRENFREREMNER 29 30,907 79,489
Other payables and accruals Hith BN HIEREE R 30 148,683 690,388
Contract liabilities EHBE 30 12,020 175,870
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AERITREMBE 32 184,749 614,390
Tax payable FE 1R 4,513 95,848
380,872 1,655,985
Liabilities of a disposal company PERRZAE 28 = 1,203
Total current liabilities mrgaE 380,872 1,657,188
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 449,356 1,045,182
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBERSE 1,714,238 5,356,627
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

HaMBRNEE

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES WEERTSER 1,714,238 5,356,627
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EFRBERE
Other payables H i e 5k TE 30 51,220 66,403
Unsecured notes R R E IR 31 - 125,189
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TRIRITEE 32 276,200 907,272
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 33 1,362 569,379
Total non-current liabilities BIEREBE 328,782 1,668,243
Net assets BEESFE 1,385,456 3,688,384
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & AT #EHE A 15 &2
Issued capital BB TR 34 11,711 12,046
Reserves k] 36 1,375,235 2,337,145
Subtotal INEF 1,386,946 2,349,191
Non-controlling interests IR ER (1,490) 1,339,193
Total equity Y 1,385,456 3,688,384
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
BE T HMEH
Director Director
EZE EZE

R RERARAT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
7 BE A 5 B R

Year ended 31 March 204 & &2 - - NFE=A=+—HILFE

At 1 Aprl 2022 HZZZZERA-R 12316 210679 50 27569 136849 209 - (11,019 9278 10018 lo4n7 (84639) 2515798 1444813 3960611
Profit/loss)for the year ERRH/(ER) - - - - - - - - - - EN (11 R 1 Y1 £ . 3347
Other comprehensive incomelfloss for REE £ 2ENE /(B8 -

the year:

Debtinvestments at fai value ROTEEEMRENE
through ther comprehensive NEZBHBEE:

income:
Changes in far value ATPEEY - - S - - - - - 936 - - - 9% = 96
Reclassfcation acjustment for FABRCER/hE)
lossesf(gains) included n LEFAERE
profit orloss
— Impaiiment losses,net —HEEE 38 6860 - 6860 S
— Gainon disposal/ — g/ BnzhE
redemption, net 58 (784 = (784 -
Fquity investments atfair value FATEEEMZENE
thiough ather comprehensive NEZRERE:
income;
Changes in fair value 1IfEEY - (9 (29445) S
Translaton reserve: ERER:
Eichange differences on BERNERBHELZ
ranslation of oreign EizE
operation - - (113908 (129219
Totel comprehensie incomeloss) ~ REF2EME/(FE) 4%
for the year - - = - (113908) = = = 2 (29445) = (20515 (1568%) (105357 (62213
Dividend paid to BERESRAEE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - - (5301) (5307)
Business combinations under AREHTHERAN
common control - - - - - = M = - - S - 09 0 01
Reclassfcation adjustment foraloss ~ #LERATEEEb2ARE
ondisposalof equity investments — AEZRERENBEDE
atfair value thiough other faERE
comprehensive income - 5718 - -
Shares epuichasedand cancelled  ZEBREARR (MW
note 34) - = 990) =
Recognition of anequitysettled  BR-BHERANEREEN
share-based payment of a RBEE (M)
subsidiary note 35) - - - - - - - - - - - - - 4646 4646
Transfer o eserve funds EE - - - - - 153 - - - - -y = s S
A3 March 203 W-FZz%=A=1-B 006 2097109 [Q0F 275693 N 4615 N9 (09 Qe O3709F TN (339 2349191 1339193 3688384
76 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

O WA B R )

Year ended 31 March 204 &2 - - ME=A=+—HBIFE&

At 1 April 2003 RZBZZERA-A 12,046 2097109 (27,150) 275,693 2,94 4615 209 (11,019 (2266  (13709) 104117 (113395) 2,349,191 1,339,193 3,688,384
Profitloss) for the year KERRA/ (88) - = = = - - - - - - - (536 (536 19400 40
Other comprehensive income/{oss) ~ AEFA2ERE/

forthe year: (BR):

Delot investments atfair value BATEEAR2EN
through other compreensive BARZERRE:

income:
Changes n fairvalue 2FEED - - - - = = = - (349 = = - (3499 - (B4
Reclassfcation acjustment for HABHZER/
lossesf(gains) included n (&) 2 &%
proftorloss Aae
— Impaiment losses, net -HEFR
28 . . . . - - - T . 5 ] -
— Gainon disposal/ —i&/Bm2
redemption, net Wi 58 - - - - - - - - 9,152 - - - 9,152 - 9,152
Fquity investments atfair value RATEEABREN
through other comprehensive AR RERE:
income:
Changes in far value ATESY = = = = = = = = - (e = - (3461 - (46T
Translation reserve: EREE:
Exchange differences on BEENERAE
translation of foreign E EHZE
operation - - - - (37,564) - - - - - - - (37564)  (50347)  (87.911)
Release of upon completion of RHENA B LR
the Distibution in Specie (K33)
(note 13) = O o o 8,248 = = = o o = o 8,248 - 8,248
Totel comprehensiveincome/{oss for -~ REF2ERE /(B
the year k] = = - - (29316) - - - 1118 (34,674) - (15356) ~ (78,228)  (30,946) (109,174
Dividend paid to non-controling BFRRESAEE
interests - - - - - - - - - = = = - BAY) GA
Reclassfcation acjustment foralosson it ERATERZNRE
disposal of equity investments atfair -~ HEAE 2 REREH
value thiough other comprehensie ~ BENEFNHERE
income - - - - - - - - - 24,053 - (24,053) - - -
Sharesrepurchasedand cancelled  BEERFHRH
[note 3¢) (Wit (33) (14393 - - - - - - - - - - (1478) - (14729)
Disposalofa subsidiary HE-EHELT - - - - - - - - - - (16103) 76103 - - -
Recognition of an equity-settled BE-RHELANRAE
share-ased paymentof asbsidlary ~ EMRREER 25
(note 39) () - - - - - - = = - - s = - 38
Share premium reduction (note 34G) 815 B934 8 (H334() - (950,000) - 950,000 - - - - - - - - - - -
Specil dividend by way of Distibution  HEHAE 2B5RE
in Specie (note 12) (Wit - - - (869,289 - - - © - - - - (869,289) (1,308,146) (2,177,435)
Reclassifcaton of reserves upon RRENAREENAE
completion of the Distoution in Bk
Specie - - - - - (4,256) (209) 11,019 - - - (6,554) - - -
At 31 March 2024 W-E-ME=A=1-A 1M 113760 (7150¢  356,404F  (6375)* 359* - - (148 (24330 28014 (83,255)% 1,386,946 (1,490) 1,385,456

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,375,235,000 * ZERHRBRAREGREUBRARARPH
(2023: HK$2,337,145,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 4R A 151,375,235,0008 T (ZE - =4 :
2,337,145,000% 7T.) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 March 204 & &2~ - NFE=A=+—HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBZHERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBAEN, (E8)
From continuing operations RERBELEED (13,633) (5,905)
From discontinued operations REBRIEEEER 63,320 (6,031)
Adjustments for: EHEUATEE
Finance costs BERK 152,546 145,767
Interest income on loans receivables EREZ 2 FEHA (39,621) (42372)
Interest income on financial assets at fair value BATELBERA AR ZeREE
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair REREATESEM2EREA
value through other comprehensive income RremEEZNBRA 5 (3,767) (2,153)
Interest income on bank deposits BOFRZHMEBA (4,853) (6,064)
Finance income on net investments in subleases SHEBREFHEIHBYRA 5,17(i) (354) (368)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value through RERLATELBEE AR Z&/
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value BERRATFEELAEMEE
through other comprehensive income WHmARzemEELRE 5 (2,451) (2,120)
Gain on modification/termination of lease contracts &k /R ItAEA KN 2 - (627)
Gain on disposal of investment properties, net HEREME s - 8 - (357)
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes REEDEEFAZE NG (12,110) (11,544)
Fair value losses on financial assets and liabilities at BATELRBER AR ZEREE
fair value through profit or loss, net ez ATEER - T8 6,036 5,306
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and HEYE  BERRBEEZ
equipment, net Was - FEE (35,261) (317)
Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption of debt HeE/BORAFELEGBEZE
investments at fair value through other WE A AEZEBREZER/
comprehensive income, net (zm) - 28 56 9,152 (784)
Loss on modification of debt investments at fair BREATELEMEZEREA
value through other comprehensive income ReBBEREZER 6 - 867
Loss on derecognition on subsidiaries PR E &R ERREE 13 8,248 -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—MNBRRZER 6 5,898 1,769
Impairment losses on property, plant and ME  BERREBZAEESS -
equipment, net HER 6,15 68,630 12,941
Reversal of aged payables REENFIER D (101,840) -
Equity-settled share option expense DHEREE ZBRERS 3,838 4,646
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses)on £ BAEREEBE,/ (RERBE
financial assets, net BE) - FE (1,212) 16,735
Depreciation of owned assets BEBEERE 15 51,704 54,609
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELAENE 15 59,446 58,440
Accrued rent-free rental income BB KA 16 147 262
Fair value losses on owned investment FBEEREMEZLATERER
properties, net FE 16 100,530 14,076
Fair value gains on sub-leased investment properties, D HBREWEZ A FE U -
net FE 16 (15,183) (2,237)
Allowance for obsolete inventories REFERE 2,911 2,965
Write-down of properties under development BR P EMR 20 = 4,600
Write-down of properties held for sale FELEWE MR 2,919 6,400
Share of profits and losses of associates DB EDREMNRER (2,533) (2,946)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors HAAFRRBEFAERRS
MAEENHEEER 17 - (774)
302,507 244,784
Increase in inventories FEEM (102,154) (24,957)
Increase in properties under development BRERAYEEN (150,656) (13,712)
Decrease in properties held for sale BEELHEMERD 206,847 133,576
Increase in trade receivables B 5 W SR IEE (13,135) (14,004)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other %18 + & & Rk H o B KK E
receivables wd /() 17,860 (29,444)
Decrease in trade and bills payables BEHRMNFIAREMNRER D (2,294) (3,143)
Decrease in contract liabilities ARAERD (785) (49,003)
Decrease in other payables and accruals Hi A HIEARETERRMD (42,657) (35,066)
Cash generated from operations KREMELRS 215,533 209,031
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

HEBEmER W

Yearended 31 March 204 & 2 —E - NFE=A=+—HILF &

Cash generated from operations REMEXRE 215,533 209,031
Proceeds from subleases HHEERE 17(i0) 5,942 6,297
Interest received on bank deposits ROIFRZERF A 4,853 6,064
Tax paid BER#HE (34,640) (53,055)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBHE ReREFE 191,688 168,337
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZH2HRERE

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment B EW% « BERZHFEHEE (29,418) (31,826)
Acquisition of subsidiaries that are not businesses FEBZME LR 38 (78,124) -
Additions to investment properties REREME 16 (7,897) (17,506)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of property, plant WEWE - BERRBEEE 2B

and equipment Be (5,231) (1,620)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other B ERAFELEM2EKEARZ

comprehensive income EREE (269) (80,075)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit BERATELEZARIeREE

or loss (40,403) (15,000)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—HMHEARERE 39 165,020 46,647
Net cash outflow arising from derecognition of TR E WS R & B BB A )

subsidiaries upon completion of the Distribution in EEzReREFE

Specie 13 (237,736) =
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plantand  HE&EWE  MERREBE KB

equipment R 86,818 2,603
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMBNE - 21,210
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value HERAFELEBEA AT EREE

through profit or loss Fri5 5B 50,096 67,621
Proceeds from disposal/redemption of debt investments th & /B8 811 2 F (& 45 &t 2 B U 2%

at fair value through other comprehensive income ARZEBEEMEHE 34,236 24,073
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments at fair HERRATELEMEZEKREARZ

value through other comprehensive income PRIESR & PT15 B 25,601 -
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances SRHIBTEBR D (Em) 6,106 (5403)
Dividends received from associates Bl RRRE 2,600 2,250
Interest received from loans receivables and debt REEBRERREBRE 2B WFE

investments 43,241 2,335
Settlement of loans and interest receivables BEARKEZ RAA 6,781 5400
Increase in loans and interest receivables FE U B 30 T JE MR S5 (108,493) (3,581)
Dividends received from financial assets at fairvalue ~ REEAFELEM2EAREAERZ

through other comprehensive income and financial CREERRATELEZAR

assets at fair value through profit or loss ZERMBEEZEUMRE 2,451 2,120
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities REEHME,/ (B BeREFE (84,621) 19,248
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BETBH o RERE
New bank and other borrowings MERTREMEE 818,971 952,195
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERITRAMEE (934,007) (850,153)
Shares repurchase % 7 B 2] (14,728) (9,960)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests mIEERER I ARE (5,429) (5301)
Redemption of unsecured notes [ (118,326) (95,937)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRzAEHH (64,327) (58,094)
Interest paid ERFE (139,819) (86,345)
Increase in pledged deposits [REEECRES S Pl (11,154) (5315)
Transaction cost incurred for the Distribution EMHREXEZRHHA

in Species 13 (1,150) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities RETHMABRLREFE (469,969) (158,910)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND RERRESHEAEN (HD)

CASH EQUIVALENTS #H (362,902) 28675
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ENzHRe kR ERER 526,703 510,146
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ExZHovE 38 (8,832) (12,118)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATENDOFYEAR EXzBHEeKBE¢EFEH 154,969 526,703
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

BadenELm

Year ended 31 March 204 & &2~ - NFE=A=+—HILFE

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRBEERABEZERIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Re RRTER 110,288 419,564
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of REBEERRIMBELR=@AZ
less than three months when acquired EERTHER 44,681 106,305
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RekBeEREE (HOEE
consolidated statement of financial position BE SR R Pt ) 154,969 525,869
Add: Cash and bank balances of a disposal company il : —fHE AR ZH & KiET
e 28 - 834
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RekBeERER (HOEs
consolidated statement of cash flows Be&RmELRAM) 154,969 526,703
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”’) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its head office and principal place of business are both located at
Suite 3101, 31/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products

production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products

property investment

management of and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets (discontinued during the year (note 13))

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited (“Wang On"),
which is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2024 —Z W& =A=+—H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AvREEE R @)
Information about subsidiaries MEARZ &R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREEWBAR ZFFBET

Asia Brighter Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - = 100% 100%  Property investment
Limited#
HEREFRAT™ R ERRIET NERE
Billion Good Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - - 99.79%  Property investment
(Billion Good") (note 28(c)) (note i)
BEREERAF(EE) R raRoEn (i) DERE
(H3¥28(0)
Castle Park (Regional) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BE(BE)FRAA B ERRIET NEBE
China Agri-Products Exchange  Bermuda/Hong Kong ~ Ordinary HK$99,530,678 - = - 5337%  Investment holding
Limited*"e ("CAP")
PEREGRAERAA e BRE/EE LB R99530,6787 1T REER
(FERER]
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Provision of financial
service
R ERRIET RESRHRS
Full Gainer Investment Limited**  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
SRREFRAF B ERRIET NEBE
G[ind'oléa»ﬂty Development Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
imite
BEHERERAF R LRREL nERE
Good Excellent Limited?# Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BREARAA EY ERRIBT NEHE
Info World Investment Limited#*  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HAREERAR i LRRIET NERE
Jet Success Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10 - = - 3202%  Food and agricultural
Limitede (‘Jet Success’) (note i) by-products
merchandising
BRERARLAe (#R)) i ERRI0ET (W) RARRIERHE
Kingtex Investment Limitede Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10 - - - 3202%  Food and agricultural
(‘Kingtex’) (note i) by-products
merchandising
BEREARARe (BE)) R EaRI0ET (W) RAaRBIERHE
Luxembourg Medicine Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$933313 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Production and
Limited sale of Western
pharmaceutical and
health food products
EREAERERAT R ERRI33BET EERHERERRR
RMEM
Nice Treasure Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% - Property holding
(Nice Treasure’) (noteiiii)
MEFRAR(HE]) B ERRIBT (W &Eiii) NEHE
Oriental Sino Investments Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - - 100%  Property holding
("Oriental Sino") (note i)
RERBARLNA(RE]) R ERpRET (Wi)  hEHE
82 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Star Sense Limited##

ARBRARM

Success Vision Limited
("Success Vision')

HEARAR (HE]) =

Sunbo Investment Limited##
REREERDA

Sunny Victor Limited
SEERAT

Topmate Investment Limited##
BEREARARY

Total Smart Investments Limited

Wai Yuen Tong Company Limited

fir2HRAR

Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited

fiim 2 (RF) ARAT

Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited

i (T8 ARAT

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Company Limited
("WYT Medicine Company’)

fir2ZHERAR(MUTER
3

ATERERERRDR!

BERINBEERAERAR!

BHRFHRERAR AR e

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
R

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B
Hong Kong
B

British Virgin Islands
RBRLES

Hong Kong
B
Macau
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
Bl

People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC")/
Chinese Mainland

PEARANE
(HE)/HEALE

The PRC/Chinese
Mainland
FE/FEAM

The PRC/Chinese
Mainland

VL

Ordinary HKS1
ERRIET

Ordinary HKS1
TRRIET

Ordinary HKS1
aREL

Ordinary HK$2
ERR2EL

Ordinary HKS1
aREL

Ordinary US$1
raRET

Ordinary HKS1
aREL

Ordinary Macau Pataca
25,000

ERR25,0008M T

Ordinary HK$300,000

ERR300,000% T

Ordinary HK$13,417,374
Non-voting deferred
shares** HK$17,373,750

ERRI3417374% T
ERFRELERH
17373750 T

Registered capital Renminbi
("RMB") 102,000,000

EMERARB(TARK])
102,000,0007T

Registered capital
HK$100,000,000

#E1 & 72100,000,000% T

Registered capital
RMBA61,220,000

EMERARS61,220,0007

100%

100%

1. Al REBEE R @)

MEARZE R (8)

100%

100%
(note iii)
(H =Eiii)

100%

100%

100%

100%

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

100%

ML E B H R AR
T NEFR

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

100%

21.22%*

Property holding
ESC]

Property holding
ESSE]

Property investment

Property holding
ESC]

Property holding
HESSY:]

Investment holding
REZK

Property holding
HESSY:]

Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and
health food products

TETERRERR
Em

Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and
health food products

TETERRERR
Em

Production and
sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and
health food products
EERHETERRE

RRER

Retail sale and
wholesale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and
health food products

ZERBBEPERRE

RRER
Property holding
ESC]
Agricultural produce

exchange market

operation
GERERRATS
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AvREEE R @)

MEARZE R (F)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

84

REAYPMERBIERATHEER The PRC/Chinese Registered capital - - - 5337%  Agricultural produce
ArHe Mainland RMB180,610,000 exchange market
operation
hE/hERY &R AR 41806100007 BERERRITS
IHEERBIERRETHEER  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital 27.20%¢  Agricultural produce
27 ("Yulin Hongjin")# Mainland RMB34,285,700 exchange market
operation and
property sales
IRZERAERRETRAR HE/FEAY FHERARE34,2857007 BERERRPTHR
RATEREE]) e NEHE
IHEENFEEFMRAFYe  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital 5337%  Agricultural produce
Mainland RMB320,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
HE/ERE AR AR 3200000007 BERERRITER
NEHE
YMEEBRIESHETHER  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital 5337%  Agricultural produce
RFe Mainland RMB450,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
hE/hER FER & A R #450,0000007 BERERRATHR
NEHE
FHEEREERBETSER  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital 5337%  Agricultural produce
NGEG Mainland 15$23,230,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
PE/PERMY FE & 723,230,000% 7T BERERRITHR
NEHE
RELERAERHETHER  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital 5337%  Agricultural produce
NG Mainland RMB443,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
hE/hEN R EARA R 4430000007 BERERRATHR
NEHE
EBZERREGHEMSAER  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital 4003%+  Agricultural produce
a]Hle Mainland RMB140,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
HE/ERE &R AR 1400000007 BERERRITER
NEHE
BRTERAESHETHER  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital 5337%  Agricultural produce
NG Mainland RMB200,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
hE/hERY R & AR A R2000000007T BERERRATHR
NEHE

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ERERREERNFARAT The PRC/Chinese Registered capital -
Mainland 1S$35,000,000
hE/RENS 1R & 435,000,000 7T
ERRERBIERYETSER  The PRC/Chinese Registered capital -
NGRG Mainland RMB2,000,000
hE/REMNY AR AR 2,000,000

e

*%

##

#iH

CAP is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. It is an investment holding company
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are the management of and
sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets. The financial
statements of CAP and its subsidiaries (together the “CAP Group”) were
deconsolidated from the Group’s consolidated financial statements upon
the completion of the Distribution in Specie (as defined in note 12 to the
financial statements) and further details are disclosed in note 13 to the
financial statements.

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to
dividends. On the winding up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the
non-voting deferred shares have a right to repayment in proportion to
the amounts paid up on all ordinary and deferred shares after the first
HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has been distributed among the holders of
the ordinary shares.

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.

Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

A subsidiary of a then non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and, accordingly accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s
control over it.

At 31 March 2024, the equity interests of these companies were pledged

to certain banks to secure bank borrowings of HK$430,949,000 (2023: Nil)
granted to the Group (note 32(e)).
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- 5337%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales
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- 4270%*  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1.

86

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length

Notes:

(@

(iii)

On 1 October 2022, the Group entered into shares transfer agreements
with wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wang On, which are fellow subsidiaries
of the Group, to acquire 60% equity interests in each of Kingtex and
Jet Success together with the shareholder loans owed by Kingtex and
Jet Success to the fellow subsidiaries of the Group at an aggregate
consideration of HK$997,000, which was settled through current account
with the wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wang On (the “Acquisition”). Given
that Kingtex and Jet Success are ultimately controlled by Wang On before
and after the business combination, the Acquisition is accounted for as a
business combination under common control and the Group has elected to
account for all the common control transactions using the principle of the
pooling-of-interests method.

Further details of subsidiaries disposed of and deconsolidated due to loss
of control are included in notes 39 and 13 to the financial statements,
respectively.

Further details of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in note
38 to the financial statements.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
which have been measured at fair value. Assets and a disposal company
classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4 to the
financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.
2.1

2.2

88

Accounting Policies (continued)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”) (early adopted)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

(early adopted)
Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

The nature and impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material accounting
policy information in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the
Group's financial statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has early adopted the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments from 1 April 2023 and in accordance with the
transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has adopted
the amendments retrospectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

20

(b)

(continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities
as at 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 upon initial application of the
amendments and there was no significant impact to the Group’s
classification of liabilities as at 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023.
The amendments also did not have any significant impact to the
Group's classification of liabilities as at 31 March 2024. In addition,
the Group has provided disclosures for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the Group complying with future covenants
within 12 months after 31 March 2024 in note 32(e) to the financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group'’s approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately, which have been reflected in
the reconciliation disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.
However, they did not have any material impact on the overall
deferred tax balances presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as the related deferred tax balances qualified for
offsetting under HKAS 12.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2 €l B 5% = 5 By &% % 8 & ¥l

(continued)

(e)

Amendments to HKAS 12 /nternational Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from
the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for
the affected entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two
income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods
in which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the scope of
the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have any
impact to the Group.

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs

Except for the early adoption of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, the Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28

an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’

2

and HKFRS 7

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

Accounting Policies (continued)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

92

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain
or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was
removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS
16 (i.e., 1 April 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain transition
reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative information as
at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.
In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate,
the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate
upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

24

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted
for using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method. The assets
and liabilities of the acquiree are stated at their historical book values
carried in the consolidated accounts of the controlling shareholder
at the date of acquisition. The difference between the consideration
transferred for a business combination under common control and the
total of (i) the acquisition date historical net asset values of the acquiree
attributable to the Group; and (ii) the pre-acquisition reserves of the
acquiree combined by the Group is accounted for as a contribution
from or a distributed to, as appropriate, holding companies in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Accordingly, there is
no goodwill or a gain on bargain purchase as a result of a business
combination under common control. The results of the acquiree under a
business combination under common control are consolidated from the
date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.

Other business combinations

Business combinations other than those under common control
are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether
to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued) 2. EEHECR @)
2.4 HAEEHBOR @)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Other business combinations (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units ("CGU(s)"), or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the CGU (group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

96

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Other business combinations (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of CGUs) and part
of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets at FVTPL
and financial assets at FVTOCI at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for non-financial asset is required (other than inventories,
properties under development, properties held for sale, investment
properties, deferred tax assets and non-current assets/disposal
companies/groups classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or CGU’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters buildings) is allocated to an
individual CGU if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
or, otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including owned assets and right-of-use
assets classified as property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of
property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained
in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal group
held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

100

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets (other than those meet the definition of an
investment property, properties under development or properties held
for sale) are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located. If
ownership of the leased assets is transferred to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of owned property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets (ownership
of which will not be transferred to the Group) are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The principal annual rates used for depreciation
are as follows:

Owned assets

2-33% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

Buildings

20-33%3% or over the terms of the
relevant leases, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 10-20%
Furniture and equipment 20-33%3%
Motor vehicles 10-20%
Computer system 20-33%3%

Right-of-use assets

2% or over the terms of the relevant
leases ranging from 24 to 68 years,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold land

Buildings Over the lease terms of 2 to 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use asset) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting
is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by
the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
for owned property and/or accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as
a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation. Changes in the values are
dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. On disposal
of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.
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Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

102

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal
group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held
for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued) 2. EEHECR @)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued) 2.4 ER &5 BOR )
Leases HE

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held
as properties under development and properties held for sale, they
are subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value in accordance with the Group's policies for “properties under
development” and “properties held for sale”. The right-of-use assets
which meet the definition of investment property are initially measured
at cost and subsequently measured at fair value in accordance with the
Group's policy for “Investment properties”. Other right-of-use assets are
included in property, plant and equipment, the accounting policy of
which are included in the policy for “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above.

(a) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
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Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in other payables and
accruals.

(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of buildings and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets that are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in profit
or loss. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are earned.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and
related payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The
finance income on the net investment in the lease is recognised in profit
or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return over the lease
terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption,
the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period.
Net realisable value is estimated by the Company’s directors based on
the prevailing market prices and estimated construction cost and costs
necessary to make the sale on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers
in respect of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to
completion of the development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's
policy for properties under development.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
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Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and
building costs attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the Company’s directors based on the prevailing market
prices and costs necessary to make the sale on an individual property
basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s policy for
properties held for sale.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, FVTOCI, and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at FVTOCI are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at FVTPL.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at FVTOCI (debt instruments)

For debt investments at FVTOCI, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or
loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair
value change recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to
profit or loss.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets designated at FVTOCI (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at FVTOCI
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification
is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at FVTOCI are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and certain investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at FVTOCI.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at FVTPL. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the
FVTPL category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at FVTPL.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b)
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (@ 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

For debt investments at FVTOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether
the debt investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the
external credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at FVTOCI and financial assets at amortised cost
are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables (including any lease receivables) and net investments
in sub-leases which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that contain a
significant financing component, the Group chooses as its accounting
policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies
as described above.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at FVTPL, and loans and borrowings and payables at amortised
cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and unsecured notes.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised
in profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL are
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in
HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at FVTPL
are recognised in profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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2.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and bills payables,
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and bills payables, other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Unsecured notes

If the early redemption option of unsecured notes exhibit characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability component.
On initial recognition, the derivative component of the unsecured notes
is measured at fair value and presented as part of derivative financial
instruments included in financial assets/liabilities at FVTPL. Any excess
of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the derivative
component is recognised as the liability component. Transaction costs
are apportioned between the liability and derivative components of the
unsecured notes based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially recognised.
The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability component
is recognised initially as a reduction of the liability. The portion relating
to the derivative component is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Share repurchase

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued) 2. EEHECR @)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued) 2.4 ER &5 BOR )
Government grants B R

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of goods.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products provide customers with
rights of return, giving rise to variable consideration:

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the
goods within a specified period, the expected value method is
used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because this
method best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15
on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied in
order to determine the amount of variable consideration that can
be included in the transaction price. For goods that are expected
to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost
of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point in
time when the purchasers obtain the legal title and the physical
possession of the completed property and the Group has the
present right to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.

Provision of management, promotion and property
ancillary services

Revenue from the provision of management, promotion and
property ancillary services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Commission income from the agricultural exchange
markets

Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets is
recognised over time when the services are rendered.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e,, transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract were those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer it would not
have been incurred if the contract had not been obtained e.g., sales
commission to sales agents. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs are expected
to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when
incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the
former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected
costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of
the returned goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset
for any revisions to the expected level of returns and any additional
decreases in the value of the returned goods.
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Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company and CAP each operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a trinomial model, further details
of which are given in note 35 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if
the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award is
cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings/loss per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF") retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Chinese
Mainland are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute to a certain percentage of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
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Defined benefit plan

The Group’s statutory obligation to pay long service payment in Hong
Kong is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits relating
to long service payment is determined using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method. The liability recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position in respect of long service payment is the
net obligation, representing the present value of the future long service
payment benefits reduced by entitlements from accrued benefits arising
from MPF contributions made by the Group.

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit pension plans,
comprising

— actuarial gains and losses; and

— investment returns associated with the MPF employer
contributions and other experience adjustments (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit
liability)

are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of financial
position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained profits through
other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the following
changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “cost of sales”,
selling and distribution expenses” and “administrative expenses” in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss by function:

service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs,
gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements

net interest expense or income

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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2. Accounting Policies (continued) 2. EEHECR @)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued) 2.4 ER &5 BOR )
Defined benefit obligations ERBANEE
Long service payment in Hong Kong EEREBRBE

The Group is obligated to make long service payment to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong with a minimum of 5 years’ employment
period upon retirement or termination of employment under certain
circumstances, in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (the "Employment Ordinance’). Long service payment is
calculated based on the last monthly salary of the employee and the
number of years of service. There are provisions under the Employment
Ordinance permitting employers to offset employees’ long service
payment against the accrued benefits attributable to employers’
contributions to the MPF Scheme. In 2022, the Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Bill 2022 (the “"Amendment Bill") was enacted, such that the Group can
no longer use accrued benefits arising from MPF mandatory employer
contributions to offset employees’ long service payment accrued
as from the transition date (i.e., 1 May 2025). The enactment of the
Amendment Bill is treated as a plan amendment. Except for the statutory
right to offset as described above, the long service payment benefits are
unfunded.

The net long service payment obligations are exposed to interest rate
risk, expected rate of future salary increase and market risk associated
with investment returns of employees’ MPF Scheme.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the net
defined benefit obligations was carried out by Willis Towers Watson
Hong Kong Limited, a member of the Actuarial Society of Hong Kong,
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

In the opinion of the directors, the liabilities recognised for the net
defined benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of financial
position and expenses/credits recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the
long service payment were not significant to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. The actuarial assumptions used and their sensitivity
analysis, the analysis of the net defined benefit costs, the movements
in the net defined benefit obligations, etc, were not disclosed as such
disclosures would result in particulars of excessive length and provide no
additional useful information to the users of the consolidated financial
statements.
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2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e, assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e,, translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2. Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of subsidiaries and associates are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial and industrial properties
in Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets in Chinese
Mainland are revalued at the end of the reporting period or on the date
of derecognition for subsidiaries of which the Group’s control was lost
during the year, on a market value, existing use basis by independent
professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially
differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties and estimated
rental value of the relevant properties is considered and assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of the
reporting period or the date of derecognition, as appropriate, are used.
Further details of the valuation are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial
non-current assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment or
reversal of impairment of all non-financial non-current assets (including
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial
non-current assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Where an indication of impairment or reversal of impairment exists, or
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, properties under development, properties
held for sale, investment properties and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or CGU’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use is calculated to assess for impairment, management applies
assumptions to prepare cash flow forecast, i.e., discount rate, growth rate
for the asset or CGU to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Given that external sources of information and evidence from internal
reporting indicates that the economic performance of some assets
or CGUs are better than expected while some CGUs continue to
underperform, the directors of the Company performed impairment
tests of the relevant property, plant and equipment or CGUs to
determine their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of
an item of property, plant and equipment or a CGU is calculated as
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, the
calculations of which involve the use of estimates.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
loans and interest receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e, by geography,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the pharmaceutical sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
loans and interest receivables (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, such as risks of default,
losses given default and collateral recovery, changes in which can result
in different levels of allowances.

The Group's expected credit loss calculations on loans and interest
receivables are based on assumptions about risks of default and losses
given default. The Group uses judgement in making these parameters
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculations, based on
credit risks of the debtors, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates (such as gross domestic product) at the end
of each reporting period. It has been the Group's policy to regularly
review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust
when necessary.

At 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables
and loans and interest receivables, before impairment allowance,
was HK$94,402,000 (2023: HK$91,062,000) and HK$494,759,000 (2023:
HK$71,544,000), respectively. Impairment allowance provided for the
trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 amounted to HK$13,046,000 (2023:
HK$23,034,000).

The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables and
loans and interest receivables is disclosed in note 23 and note 24 to the
financial statements, respectively.

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

Continuing operations:

—  production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products — manufacture, processing and sale of traditional
Chinese medicine which includes Chinese medicinal products
sold under the brand name of "Wai Yuen Tong” and a range of
products manufactured using selected medicinal materials with
traditional prescriptions, mainly in Chinese Mainland and Hong
Kong (“Chinese Pharmaceutical Segment”);

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Operating Segment Information (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

— production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health
food products — manufacture, processing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical products and personal care products under
the brand names of “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, respectively
("Western Pharmaceutical Segment”); and

—  property investment — investment in commercial and industrial
premises for rental income.

Discontinued operations:
— management of and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets.

Upon completion of the Distribution in Specie (as defined in note 12
to the financial statements), the businesses of management of and sale
of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets carried out by
the CAP Group were classified as discontinued operations and further
details are disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements. Accordingly,
the financial performance of the management of and sale of properties
in agricultural produce exchange markets segment is classified as “profit/
(loss) for the year from discontinued operations” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit/loss before tax except that bank
interest income, finance costs, fair value gains/losses from the Group's
financial instruments at FVTPL, gains/losses arising from disposal of
subsidiaries, and head office and corporate income and expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.

The segmentations are based on the information about the operation
of the Group that management uses to make decisions and regularly
review by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of
allocating resources to segments and assessing their performance. The
Group has restated certain comparative segment information below to
conform with the current year's presentation by inclusion of the other
income and gains, which are directly attributable to the activities of the
operating segments, into the segment results, with the others remaining
in unallocated corporate items under the reconciliation section.
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Segment revenue and results
Year ended 31 March

130

Segment revenue and income: ABUERYA:

Sales to exteral customers HEFNIRF 689,200 634938 90,198 859 4,483 6048 783,881 T35% 553973 562830 - - 1337854 1286408

Intersegment sales APHEE 1403 147 il 537 14,304 15621 15718 17630 - - (15,718) (17630 - S

Total segment revenue EDEL ¢ 690,603 636430 90,209 819 18,787 21669 199599 418 553913 562830 (15,718) (17630) 1,337,854 1286428

Other income and gains EhARRE 2538 249 1 5389 149 B WM 58 - 184356 56806

Total it 693,141 638921 91,386 818 57,619 2% 842206 74601 695722 61468 (1518 (7630 1522210 1343254
Segment results PR 37,549 6830 14,554 15181 (39,79) 200 12305 19989 170947 9093 - 183,252 11208
Reconcilation: HE:
Bankinterestincome RHEHA 218 307 267 3037 4853 6064
Finance costs BHRA (40,792) (29505 (111,754 (116260) (152,540)  (145767)
Fair velue gainsflosses] o financial asets RATEEBENEIEREE

a FVTPL net 2RTENE/(BE) 38 B9 G5 8 il (603)  [5306)
Losses on disposalof subsidaries HEMBRARE (5898 (1769) - - (5898 (1769
Corporate and unallocated income and expense, net £ ERFARRARER > 58 BN 9340 2,890 1340 26,062 20760
Rt et BRI/ 50 s sy aw 0 w15
Income tax credit/fexpense) fERES/ (AR 6359 1337 (52,00) 1966 (#5640 1508
Profioss for the year rEEEA/(BE) (5,891) 8879 9936 (553) 4045 3

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued 4. BIESAE R @)
Other segment information Hitb > #H&E R
Year ended 31 March BE=ZHA=+—HLEE

Other segment information: EhABER:
Interest income HEMA - - - - - - - = = - (8241 (0589 (es241)  [50589)
Capital expenditure (note) EXRR(RE) 6,545 11850 942 850 78,800 - 86,287 12700 39,820 39513 9 - 126116 2213
Depreciation il 63,468 65,101 9325 11436 12,588 14006 85,381 91,143 1,978 17819 3791 L0867 1M50 113049
Fair value loses/|gaing) on financial asets and EATENBEAE SHEE
lsbltiesat FVTPL, net REBZATEER/
(h&) 58 = S = S o - o - o - 6,036 5306 6,036 5306
Net lossesfrom fair value adjustments for FEENEINTERRERRE
owned properties - - - - 17,852 1189 17,852 1189 82,678 6887 - - 100530 14076
Net losses/(gains)fiom far value edjustments for AREENEIATEREER/
sub-lased investment properties (hE)58 - - - - - & = - (15183) 237 - - (15183) 03
Loss/lgai) on disposallredemption of debt te/REEATEELH2ER
investments at FVTOC, net BAB2BRRELEE/
(hE) 58 = S = S = S - - - - 9,152 (784) 9,152 (784)
Loss on modification of debt investmentsat TOC— BTRATEREN2ENEA
ELERREEE - = - = - = - = - = = 867 = 867
Losses/gaing]on disposal of tems of propety, plant %1% - BERRERE 268/
and equipment, net (ha) 28 - (287) - - [353%) - [353%) (287 134 30) = - sl (17
(Gins on disposal of nvestment properties, et HERENE NG B - - - - - - - - - (357) - - - (37
Impaiment lossesfeversel of mpaiment osses) o~ $BEEREFE/ (FEEE
financial assets, net BE) 58 (1,03) 5846 8 8 - - (1,045) 5854 (628) 4068 461 6813 (1,212) 1673
Impairment losses/ieversal of mpaimentlossesion 1%~ BERRBREEE/
property, plant and equipment, net (REEERE) 38 5463 3162 317 B 62850 9% 68,630 12941 - - - - 68630 12941
Wite-down of properties under development HHERANE - - - - - - - - - 4600 - - - 4600
Wite-down of properties held for sale HRGELEDE - - - - - - - - 2919 6400 - - 2919 6400
Investments in assocites REELAZRE 4433 4500 - - - - 4433 4500 - - - - 4433 4500
Share of profits and losses of associates ABELTRARER 2533 (%) - - - S s o) - - - S s o)
Losses on disposalof subsidiaries LE-EHERAER - - - - - - - - - - 5,898 1769 5,898 1769
Alowance/ reversal ofdlowance) or obsolete REF%AR/(BEEA)
inventories 2517 3578 394 (613) - - 291 2965 - S - S 291 2%65
Note: Capital expenditure includes additions to investment properties, lease Ma: BEARIBEMELREME
modification for sub-leased investment properties and property, plant PHEREMENTHEBITRYE -
and equipment (excluding the additions of leased buildings included in i K B& (B S G A B A
right-of-use assets). REENHERT) -

R A RAR
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BIESAE R @)

Geographical information & &

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REHIBEFZWZ
Hong Kong BB 580,805 534,760
Chinese Mainland AR A 114,945 130,916
Macau R P 83,724 54,082
Others HAh 4,407 3,840
Total revenue from external customers INBEFEIR S BT 783,881 723,598
The revenue information of continuing operations above is based FRFBEEEEBREERTD
on the locations of the customers. REFPHREMERE S -

(b) Non-current assets (b) FRBEE
Hong Kong BE 750,293 961,476
Chinese Mainland B A 62,340 69,861
Macau R P 9,258 10,687
Total wat 821,891 1,042,024
The non-current asset information of continuing operations above B EREEBIERDEE
is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial BRDREEMEHRES
instruments and deferred tax assets. BETBEemIARELERE

Information about major customers FEXEEFZEHR

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no revenue from HE_ZT_WNEFR_Z_=F=H

transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more E+—BIEFE TEKEHEE—

of the total revenue from continuing operations of the Group. IBEPRG 2R B EAERFE

MBS BERI0%HIA L o
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. Wots RHAKA Rt - S
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REEWZZHTHOT:

Revenue from contracts with FEHEFA#Z

customers Vg 779,398 375,675 1,155,073 717,550 376,226 1,093,776

Revenue from other sources K EE#FBZ
Yoz
Gross rental income from BREMER

investment property EREY
operating leases Bl A

ek 4,483 178,298 182,781 6,048 186,604 192,652

Total revenue el 783,881 553,973 1,337,854 723,598 562,830 1,286,428

fr T8 BRI AR AT
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5. Wk BB s -

5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net

134

(continued) (&)
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZN R
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) 2HFUEEH
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_ZE-_WmFE=A=+—H
LFE
Segments 758

Types of goods or services LUET -]
— Sale of goods —HEEN 676,674 90,198 766,872 30,594 797,466
— Management and promotion services —ERREERY 12,526 - 12,526 - 12,526
— Sale of properties —HENE - - - 174,331 174,331
— Commission income from agricultural produce  — BERR A5
exchange markets EELION - - - 83,688 83,688
— Agricultural produce exchange market —RERRSM5EL
ancilary services RERE - - - 87,062 87,062

Total revenue from contracts with customers REEPEAZNE

8 689,200 90,198 779,398 375,675 1,155,073
Geographical markets HEME
Hong Kong % 534,365 4,957 576,322 30,59 606,916
Chinese Mainland RERL 77,892 37,053 114,945 345,081 460,026
Macau #A 74,107 9,617 83,724 - 83,724
Others Efp 2,836 1,571 4,407 - 4,407
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEZPEAZNE

8 689,200 90,198 779,398 375,675 1,155,073
Timing of revenue recognition WEEARE
Goods or services transferred at a point intime.~ NE-BHHEH

EVET S 676,674 90,198 766,872 204,925 971,797
Services transferred over time EEHSBRE 12,526 - 12,526 170,750 183,276
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEZPEANE

ag 689,200 90,198 779,398 375,675 1,155,073

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net

(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023

(i

Segments

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

5. Wk BB s -

(#)

REEFAHzWE (F)

(i) DFEkFEHE)
HEz-_Z=2-_=F=ZA=+—H
IEFE

Types of goods or services LUET -]
— Sale of goods —HEEN 623910 82592 706,502 14715 a7
— Management and promotion services —ERREERY 11,048 - 11,048 - 11,048
— Sale of properties —HENE - - - 169,020 169,020
— Commission income from agricultural produce  — BERR BT
exchange markets BelA - - - 94,915 94915
— Agricultural produce exchange market —RERRSM5EL
anclllary services RERB = - - 97576 97,576

Total revenue from contracts with customers REZFPEHINE

&% 634958 82592 717,550 376,226 1,093,776
Geographical markets HEME
Hong Kong ik 498,879 29833 58,712 14715 543427
Chinese Mainland RERL 86,054 44,262 130916 361,511 492427
Macau A 46879 7203 54,082 - 54,082
Others Efp 2,546 1,294 3840 - 3840
Total revenue from contracts with customers REZFEHINE

&% 634958 82592 717,550 376,226 1,093,776
Timing of revenue recognition hERARE
Goods or services transferred at a point intime.~~ NE-BHHEH

ENMERE 623910 82592 706,502 183,735 890,237
Services transferred over time EEHSBRE 11,048 - 11,048 192491 203539
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEPEANE

&% 634,958 82592 717,550 376,226 1,093,776

T EEEERER AR 135
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5.

136

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts
with customers:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Segments

Wi B LA N Bt ik > AR
(#0)

REFFAEHNZKE (B

(i) 2DFWHEER(E)
UNTRREEPANZREZ
Bk

BE-Z-_NE=/A=+-—H
LEE

oy

Revenue from contracts with customers  REZF &K 2K

External customers A 689,200 90,198 779,398 375,675 1,155,073
Intersegment sales HEREE 1,403 11 1,414 - 1,414
Segment revenue AHUE 690,603 90,209 780,812 375,675 1,156,487
Intersegment adjustments and eliminations 5 A% R 4 8 (1,403) (11) (1,414) = (1,414)
Total revenue from contracts with customers  REBFA# 2 HELE 689,200 90,198 779,398 375,675 1,155,073

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Segments

HE-_ZT-_=-#F=-A=+—H
IEFE

7 &8

Revenue from contracts with customers REZFAH 2l

External customers NBRP 634,958 8259 717550 376,026 1093776
Intersegment sales PHRHE 1472 537 2,009 = 2,009
Segment revenue 280 636430 83,129 719,559 376,226 1,095,785
Intersegment adjustments and eliminations 7 H$HAE R4 # (147) (537) (2,009) = 2,009)
Total revenue from contracts with customers  RERFPANZMELE 634,958 8259 717550 376,226 1093776

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in
the current reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

(i

(ii)

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

5. Wk BB s -

(#)

REFFAEHNZKE (B

(i)

DHF W EER ()

TR BURAA RS B s
Rze2® ERBEHOFA
BHEaE:

Revenue from continuing operations

RBEBVHAAGHEEZ

recognised that was included in contract HERLEEBE®R:

liabilities at the beginning of

the reporting period:

Sale of goods HEEWD 9,774 9,240
Revenue from discontinued operations RIBERVFAENEEZ

recognised that was included in contract ERIEE S EBR R TER

liabilities at the beginning of

the reporting period:

Sale of properties HEW % 29,170 169,020
Performance obligations (i) BREME
The following information about the Group’s performance FHAAEEBEAHEENE K
obligations is summarised below: wemT
Continuing operations FHEEERY
Sale of goods HERY

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and payment is generally due within 7 to 120 days from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Some contracts provide customers with a right of return
which gives rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Management and promotion services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered.

Discontinued operations

Property ancillary services and commission income from
agricultural produce exchange markets

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered.

Sales of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the legal title and
the physical possession of the completed property is obtained by
the purchaser.

BHEEREMZEER
BBERRZMER7E1208 3 4
R EFEP BT ARANN
Ko HBRAKNRAETFRHERESE
BAMELEZREIGAER

EHEREERE
BRAEER RS R R ER -

BRIEEEXE
RBEMRXRZNEZYELER
BRAT 2 WA
BRAEER RS RHRER -

BEYE
BUOEEREFREETNE
B % AR BB B B S B
R -

ML E B H R AR
T NEFR
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. W KHAMBA K - S5

(continued) (&)
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net, from continuing B RS E M A R
operation is as follows: W FEZOWNOT

Other income Hib g A
Interest income on loans receivable from CAP FEEERERERZFE
(note (i) W A (K E3) 39,100 39,461
Interest income on loans receivable from WOG REEWE R ZF BB A 384 =
Interest income on financial assets at FVTPLand R AFEKLEZARZ SR
FVTOCI BEREBEAFELEMS
MRZABRZESHEEZ
F B WA 3,767 2,153
Interest income on bank deposits BITFERZF B A 2,182 3,027
Finance income on net investments in subleases & & %58 2 KW A 354 368
Dividends from financial assets at FVTPL REEAFELER AR
and FVTOC| TMEERRAFELHE
terEmkEAREZemE
EZRE 2,451 2,120
Rental income from other properties REEMYE 2HE WA 4,999 4,073
Government subsidies (note (ii)) BT a8 B (BT 5 (i) 41 631
Others HAib 2,915 991
Total other income H U A58 56,193 52,824
Gains, net Wi FE
Gain on disposal/redemption of debt investments & /& B3 A F(E & H
at FVTOCI, net 2HREARZEBRE
g2k - REE - 784
Gain on disposal of items of property, plantand  HE®E - BEIKEBEE Z
equipment, net Wz - FEE 35,395 287
Gain on modification/termination of BW/RIEHREAN ZRE
lease contracts - 575
Total gains, net B s - 35,395 1,646
Total other income and gains, net Hi g A RS @E5E - F8 91,588 54,470

138 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net
(continued)

Notes:

() The interest income on loans receivable from CAP, the operations of
which were classified as discontinued operations during the year, was not
eliminated and was presented to reflect how the loans arrangement with
CAP will be reflected in continuing operations going forward.

(ii) Government subsidies from continuing operations during the year ended
31 March 2024 represented the one-off subsidies of HK$41,000 (2023:
HK$631,000) granted by The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region’s Research and Development Cash Rebate Scheme
and SME Export Marketing Fund.

The Group has complied with all attached conditions before 31 March 2024
and 2023 and recognised these grants in profit or loss as “Other income
and gains, net” in the respective accounting periods.

Government subsidies from discontinued operations during the year ended
31 March 2024 represented the PRC government subsidies of HK$4,618,000
(2023: HK$8,975,000) granted to the Group by the local governmental
authority in Chinese Mainland for the business support on its operations in
agricultural produce exchange market in Chinese Mainland.

5.

B4 5 e % B Rk o)

31 March 2024 —E=-MF=A=+—8H

L& SR LGN T ERRE S
(#)

it :

0] TEEER(REFRASERERL
REXB)RBRERZN SR AL
EHH BE2IARREHE
BEROERDEARE DR
FEBLEEB R -

(i) FHELEXBERBE_FT_NF
ZA=T-BLFENKRAHEEE
EEFANTHREBRMAMREHRER
EOEAEIRIPIEETSE
EEE R T H— IR M RE41,000
BT (ZT =% 631,000 ) °

AREBERA-TE-_MER-_T =
FZA=ZT—HAETAREMRER
oYW ERMBEMRES
FMHEERERABIEMBA R
o OFEE] e

ERIEEEEBRBE_T_NF
A=+ -BLEFEMNBTMHAE
NEEEFB R E i BT R
BT 2 BT # 84,618,000 7T
(ZZ = =% :8975000% 7t) * K
EABERTBRRMELEERR
SMBZEBIR -

AT E SRR AR
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6.

140

Other Expenses, Net

An analysis of other expenses, net, from continuing operations is as

follows:

HAbp S > A

BEKEEBZHMHAS  FEH
T :

Losses on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZEIE 39 5,898 1,769
Loss on disposal/redemption of debt H & /& @&k A FE &
investments at FVTOCI, net EME2EKEARZ
BEHRECEE
F R 9,152 -
Loss on modification of debt B RAFEEEMS
investments at FVTOCI m = AR 2 EBIE
BrER - 867
Impairment losses on items of ME - BERZEBES
property, plant and equipment, ZBEEE
net 15 68,630 12,941
Exchange losses, net [N &S 58 2,630 3,706
Total other expenses, net HifAZem F538 86,310 19,283
Loss Before Tax 7. BRBLHIE R

The Group's loss before tax from continuing operations is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense (including allowance
for obsolete inventories of
HK$2,911,000

BRAMI ZFERK
(BRERETERE

291100080 (===

£ 29650007 7T)

AEBFBECEEBZBRUAER
Rk GEA) TR & REZ B

(2023: HKS$2,965,000)) 389,068 381,235
Research and development costs i 7% & 7 8 K AR 1,786 1,897
Lease payments not included inthe RitABE&EBFEZ

measurement of lease liabilities HER®K 13,573 15,227
COVID-19-related rent concessions  H 7 A BT 2 4 B2 57 A 78

from lessors MEEMAERIEER

MNESESR 17(c) - (774)
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEM & 4,580 5,580
Depreciation of owned assets FEEEENE 36,105 40,371
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {F HEEETE 53,067 54,859
Total @5t 89,172 95,230

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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7. Loss Before Tax (continued) 7. BRBEHT 1 @)
The Group's loss before tax from continuing operations is arrived at after AEBRBELEEBZRBIATEIE
charging/(crediting): (continued) KRB GEA) T 5 & I8 % 2 8
(%)

Employee benefit expense EBERAMRAZ(TBHE
(excluding directors’ EEMS (FF10)) -
remuneration (note 10)):
Wages and salaries and other I8 #Hak
benefits* H {18 A * 221,355 135,219
Pension scheme contributions** RIK S & 8L FR*> 10,038 9,067
Total Bt 231,393 144,286
Foreign exchange differences, net MENZ% 5 2,630 3,706
Impairment losses/(reversal of CREEREEE
impairment losses) on financial CRERERZD)
assets, net: FEE
Debt investments at FVTOCI RATEKEEMEE
Wz AR 2 &
®E 19 461 6,860
Trade receivables B 5 W R IE (1,045) 5,854
Loans and interest receivables JE W B 3R R A B = (47)
Total o (584) 12,667
Gross rental income Hel A8z (9,482) (10,121)
Less: Direct outgoing expense B EEX 386 280
Net rental income Hel A FEE (9,096) (9,841)
* During the year ended 31 March 2023, wage subsidies of HK$12,034,000 * BE-T-_=F=RA=+—HL#H
granted by the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-Epidemic E - AEBEHEBRBEREES
Fund for the use of paying wages of employees from May to July 2022 had WRREFEBEAEINZT
been received. The amount was recognised in profit or loss and had been ZZFERAZE+HAEREIEMNIE
offset with the employee benefit expense. The purpose of the funding is 5 8E12,034,0008 Tt - B S BEE
to provide financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who REBHER WHEHESREMNMAX
would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the B ZESEERLERMHEY
Group is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and BXE - URBAUEEHERD
to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. BE - RIEBEHOGR  REERH
BHETERE UHFABEES
ARZHHEETISE -
x There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the ** W E R R AT AR B A B
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. EHHARMRREHRTKTE -

R RERARAT
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8.

142

Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as follows:

8.

i i AR
REGEEBRARAZSIMT -

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREAMEEZF S 36,721 26,796
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZMNE 4,071 2,709
Total Bt 40,792 29,505
Directors’ Remuneration 9. #HHEME

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

RIBB XA RMABIMES LT
BMATERRAD - FEBRRGIE
383(1)(@) ~ (b) ~ () B (F) &k & 2 =) (4%
BEENRERANE —HWESF

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as NHEEHMESWT:

follows:

Fees e 13,756 876
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe REREDMN® 13,587 17,157
Performance-related bonuses* R IDEE 2 BT - 775
Pension scheme contributions RN FHEIE R 72 63
Subtotal NEF 13,659 17,995

Total fees and other emoluments wek Ko Bz 27,415 18,871

* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments * RARETFHATEEERZHIAL

which are determined with reference to the Group's operating results,
individual performance of the directors and comparable market practices
during each of the years.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Remu

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

neration (continued)

The remuneration paid to executive directors and independent
during the year was as follows:

non-executive directors

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

9. HFHMEmw)

FR - ENRTEETRBILIERT
BE=ZBE2OT:

2024 —E-|mE
Executive directors: HiTE%:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, HEALAE

the Chairman and Managing (RARAEEH#

Director of the Company EXRRLE [8BEE])

("Mr. Tang’) 13,000 10,515 - 36 23,551
Ms. Tang Wai Man HE#zT - 2,181 - 18 2,199
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita BRELL - 891 - 18 909

Subtotal N 13,000 13,587 - 72 26,659
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FREAE 204 - - - 204
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BXREHE 184 - - - 184
Professor Sit Wing Hang, EKEHE -

GBS, JP* GBS * XF#+* 45 - - - 45
Professor Chan Wing Kwong, MD* ~ BR sk X # % - MD* 45 - - - 45
Mr. Cho Wing Mou# KBRS 139 - - - 139
Mr. Leung Wai Hot REERE 139 - - - 139

Subtotal gt 756 - - - 756
Total @t 13,756 13,587 - 72 27,415
2023 —B-=%
Executive directors: NTES:
Mr. Tang B4 120 14,619 775 27 15,541
Ms. Tang Wai Man HEHLL - 1878 - 18 1,896
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita BBt - 660 - 18 678
Subtotal it 120 17,157 775 63 18,115
Independent non-executive BUFHITES:
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho REELE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BNRLE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou BEkELE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FTRERE 204 - - - 204
Subtotal e 756 - - - 756
Total @it 876 17,157 775 63 18,871
* Appointed as independent non-executive directors on 8 December 2023. * RZZE_=F+-AN\BEEZEAR
BUFRITES -
# Resigned as independent non-executive directors on 8 December 2023. # R-ZE_=F+-AN\EBBEBY

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors

during the year (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

FEMITES -

FAAEEMENBIENTE
E2He(CE=F:|)-

BE_Z_MER_ZT_=F=5
ST BLEEE BEEFNER
AEREEAMESOHRE -

T E BRI AR AR
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10. Five Highest Paid Employees 10. Tk % e B
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2023: FR AR HEERBEMA(Z
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note 9 TE_=ZF WMB)EET HMESFE
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the three (2023: three) REXHFRE #HT=8(ZF
non-director, highest paid employees are as follows: TEFEZR)FEEESFTEED
FAMSHBNT :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e REREDAN= 4,088 3,846
Discretionary bonuses BB W 2 B - 321
Pension scheme contributions RS EIHERK 53 54
Total BEr 4,141 4,221
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose IEEERFREZABLEMEN
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: FIATEE :

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000 7T 3 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t % 2,000,0005% 7T = 1
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11. Income Tax 11. P i
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: EENGHRENRBEAEEL
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during i 51 B R BEOE 12 B R16.5% (=
the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated ZZF165%) EHBE - Kbt
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group ZERBMEN 2 HBERREAEEE
operates. The provision for PRC land appreciation tax ("LAT") is BEBMEREEBORITHE
estimated according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC o BT IRER (L BEB])
tax laws and regulations. LAT has been provided at a fixed rate or ranges BEDRBBPEEERERAH
of progressive rates, as applicable, of the appreciation value, with certain BMEELMGE - L A2 IRE
allowable deductions. ENEEHRENRERE(WER)

TR - STMBRE TAHRIEAR -

Current — Hong Kong KE— B A

Charge for the year RNEE T H 600 547
Current — other jurisdiction NE— EMh R EE R

Charge for the year REEFH - 282
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHEREG (92) (856)
Deferred taxation EER A (6,867) (13,290)
Total tax credit for the year from continuing KEFBEEEBOAFER

operations ERCE ) (6,359) (13,317)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year from REERIEREEBNAFE

discontinued operations (note 13) BMIERIH (ER)

(P 5£13) 52,001 (1,966)

Total charge/(credit) MBI (ER) 45,642 (15,283)

R R RARAT
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11.

146

Income Tax (continued)

11.

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to loss before tax at
the statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at

the effective tax rates is as follows:

i 453 86 ()

RIEBRRBREKRBD M E AR
ERZEEMNEE BABEHE
BEAERERNTESL (E2)
HREERVERFEORARAIY
BT

Loss before tax from continuing operations

REFBELEEBNBRTAE

B (13,633) (5,905)

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued KB REEBRRR A

operations wmA L (BR) 63,320 (6,031)
Total @t 49,687 (11,936)
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates of BRIBBR BEERZEE.

different countries/jurisdictions BRAMERFE 2MIE 21,214 (2,861)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BTHM 2 ANBMREEL 2

previous periods EER-S (92) (17,524)
Profits and losses attributable to associates Bt NFI BN RF REE (418) (486)
Income not subject to tax HARB A (11,544) (4,400)
Expenses not deductible for tax LI L1 E3 12,907 7,714
Tax losses utilised from previous periods ERABTHMEIRNEEBE (15,080) (9,693)
Tax losses not recognised RERRIBEEE 23,754 11,798
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences & B E KRR 2 7 N HE B

previously not recognised ZH (4,865) (7,942)
Deductible temporary differences not AR ZAIMBEREZH

recognised 9,689 1,793
Effect of tax concession MEEE LR (15) (30)
LAT provided T IR E R AR 13,456 8,464
Tax effect on LAT THEERNT BT (3,364) (2,116)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective rate UAEBEBBRR KA EZHE

(R R) 45,642 (15,283)

Tax credit from continuing operations at NEBRBERFEREFBELSE

the effective rate ¥BoHEEL (6,359) (13,317)
Tax charge/(credit) from discontinued NEBRREFERGERILELR

operations at the effective rate BEBRZRAIH (ER) 52,001 (1,966)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the weighted average applicable
tax rate was 42.7% (2023: 24.0%). The change in the weighted average
applicable rate was resulted from changes in the profitability of the

Group in the respective jurisdictions.
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Dividends 12. B8

Proposed final dividend BEAHKRE (M
— Cash dividend of HK3.0 cents —ReRkSBRER
(2023: Nil) per ordinary share A% 3.0 L
ZEZ=F: %) 33,753 -
— Special dividend of HK14.7 cents — BhREERE®
(2023: Nil) per ordinary share A&14.7 %A
(ZE—_=F:F) 165,390 -

Special dividend paid by way of the LB SR AR S (i)

Distribution in Specie BRI AR B 869,289 -
1,068,432 -

Notes: Bt 5

(i) The final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 proposed subsequent (i) RBEHERRZRNOBE=ZS
to the reporting period has not been recognised as liabilities at the end —ME=A=+-HLEEZXRH
of the reporting period and is subject to the approval of the Company’s RENBEMRERBERREE
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Except for the ARFARAIRRRERERFABSF
special dividend paid by way of the Distribution in Specie as detailed in REFHAEBRFTAEE - BRTX
note (i) below, no interim dividend was declared for the years ended 31 B sE (DTl A B B 2 0k 7 30 IR
March 2024 and 2023. ORI ESN  BE_T_WEF

kR—T-_=F=A=+—-BL&FE
BMEERPEHRE -

(i) On 7 March 2024, the shareholders of the Company approved the payment (i) MKZZE-ZMOF=AtH: ' Ax21Qda
of a special dividend by way of a distribution in specie of 1,715,665,730 REHEANEM D RAEBFE
shares of Wang On (“Wang On Shares”) held by the Group which was 21,715,6657300 R & I’k 1 (B &
recognised as financial assets at FVTOCI before the distribution, and RB] R RAERASERATE
5,310,951,597 shares of CAP ("CAP Shares”) held by the Group which f@éﬁ‘r\ﬂé—i@”ﬁlé]\ﬁﬁZ%mﬂéé)
represented approximately 53.36% of the issued capital of CAP, to the 1%.5,310,951,597 % A 7 E:‘ﬁ':%ﬁ}
qualifying shareholders in proportion to their respective shareholdings (fEF BEERRG] {EEF! BE
in the Company on the basis of 293 Wang On Shares and 907 CAP Shares BB IT R AR H53.36%) 2 A R A
for every 200 shares of the Company held by shareholders whose names RZZE-_MF=R+TNHEBIEAR
appeared on the register of members of the Company on 18 March 2024 AIRFEEMzEERBRRERES
(the "Distribution in Specie’) and on the terms and subject to the B RAD BB FR LR 5
exclusions described in the circular of the Company dated 15 February AR E(TEYDIR])  EERKRA
2024. The Distribution in Specie was paid out of the contributed surplus ARIBMAR-_T_ME_A+HA
account of the Company. Given that CAP is ultimately controlled by Wang 2B P 2 AR R R R P s |3’JF’>7|\
On before and after the distribution, the Distribution in Specie in respect of BRAR  BRFE200RAEAR
CAP Shares was measured and accounted for using the carrying amount of 17 % & B2930R & = K AR &907}%&
net assets of CAP on the date of distribution. The Distribution in Specie was PEEREMRD  cEWHKREEAR
completed on 25 March 2024. ANEHRBRHRIRNT - ERPEE

EmR D IKAE B RTREES
EBRHEREMRRHOEYH K
FERATHARAESRDRAHHE
EFEFEEAERAR -EY
DKER-_ZT-_MF=A_+FHH
FEK °
Out of the total of 1,716,749,000 Wang On Shares and 5,312,395,685 CAP TEAREREFAEMAE £1,716,749,000
Shares held by the Group, 1,715,665,730 Wang On Shares and 5,310,951,597 & 7= % B 19 % 5,312,395,685 /% # B
CAP Shares with aggregate carrying values in the Group's consolidated BEMRMHT  RTKE®WHIKE
statement of financial position as at the completion date of the Distribution BEAEBEEAUBRARSTE
in Specie of approximately HK$58,333,000 (note 19(v)) and HK$810,956,000 8K ™ 42 18 5 5l #) £58,333,0007 7T
(note 13), respectively, were distributed to shareholders and were (M 3£19(v)) %810,956,0007%8 T (Ff
recognised as the payment of a special dividend with an aggregate amount #£13) #91,715,665,7308% = 2 i 10 &
of HK$869,289,000 out of contributed surplus. The remaining undistributed 5310951597 B B E MK HE
1,083,270 Wang On Shares and 1,444,088 CAP Shares with fair value MBRRYIK THERREEHA
amounted to approximately HK$54,000 and HK$131,000 were recognised as #OR R Bl B B 48 §8869,289,000
financial assets as at 31 March 2024. 77T o H 8RR 9 JK1,083,270/& R

% B 1) F1,444,0880 B &2 E &
B 15 B A 1B 5 B 49 554,000 T
F131,0008 7T R-E-WE=4
E+-BERRACBMEE -
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13.

148

Discontinued Operations

Upon completion of the Distribution in Specie, the CAP Group ceased
to be subsidiaries of the Company. The financial statements and results
of the CAP Group are deconsolidated from the Group's consolidated
financial statements commencing from the date of completion of
the Distribution in Specie, being the date on which the Group lost
control on the CAP Group. The CAP Group is principally engaged in
the management of and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets. The Group has decided to cease its businesses in the
management of and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets because it plans to focus and strengthen its resources on its
businesses on manufacturing and retailing of pharmaceutical and health
food products as well as personal care products, and to streamline the
corporate structure of the Company and its group companies.

Since the operations and cash flows relating to the CAP Group can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and represented
a separate major line of business of the Group, they were classified as
discontinued operations. The results of the discontinued operations
were presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024, and
the corresponding comparative information relating to the discontinued
operations has been re-presented.

(@ The results of the discontinued operations for the year are
presented below:

13. BRI E R

REXREWHIK®E  PREEERSE
BB TERAIANBELRR - hE
BERGEBENMBHRRREES R
BREWH KB EIRER X EHEH
FERSEENEHRZZAETNER
AEENGEWBERREAARK -
THEEEMERIERFREEMR
SMBZMEERERBEEET - &
RAKEBEABEFRRMBEBELERR
HENTEEERRRERMUARME
AEEERER ABBHAAAR
HEBRRAWARREE AEEE
RERIEEBRERZXSMIH2WE
EERHERE -

HRFPHEEAEREEHABEEBRE
SRABRRNEEEKRBOBPERD -
W2HNAAESENBE L X EZEE
DEEBRBERI»BEACKRILELE
BER DREKEEBHNEER
BE_Z_ME=-A=+—HILFE
Wi EkEM2ARERB L
2% MmEBERILEEEKERE
WAL ERETEHES -

@ AFEMNERIEKEERESE
EHHMT:

Revenue I &= 553,973 562,830
Other income and gains, net HEg A RS - FEE 156,529 68,152
Expenses and losses, net X &kEE - F38 (526,030) (520,751)
Finance costs* Bl & B AR (111,754) (116,262)
Profit/(loss) before tax from RECHKRIEEEEBHR

the discontinued operations Al (5 18) 72,718 (6,031)
Income tax credit/(charge) FiEfRER,(FAx) (52,001) 1,966
Profit/(loss) after tax from the discontinued HREB&IFELEEHBRT

operations &M, (E8) 20,717 (4,065)
Translation reserve released upon TEREY D IRE ERER

completion of the Distribution in Specie 18 (8,248) -
Transaction costs incurred for Distribution  B#HIKE£HXZ 5K K

in Specie (1,150) -
Profit/(loss) for the year from REERIEELEEBHN

the discontinued operation REERF(EE) 11,319 (4,065)

* Included in finance costs was interest expense of HK$39,100,000
(2023: HK$39,461,000) charged by subsidiaries within the Group's
continuing operations which was presented gross (note 5).
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13. C&RIEREEH m)

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations are as
follows:

(b)) EBERIELEEBELNRDR
BEFBEMT:

Net cash flows from operating activities 2 EBKHEZIR SRS F58 161,473 64,076
Net cash flows used in investing activities & &Z/FESHHA B SR EFHB (30,896) (11,069)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEEBMA RS R EFHE (194,013) (145,637)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents B & KH €S REE B FEE (63,436) (92,630)

Details of the net assets of the CAP Group derecognised as a result
of the Distribution in Specie during the year are as follows:

© FAHEFAREDD KIS E
RTBEREREEEEFEN

HEET
Property, plant and equipment MmE - BEEZE 15 86,991
Investment properties "EME 16 2,809,556
Deferred tax assets IRAE I8 & B 5,320
Properties under development ERAYE 107,695
Properties held for sale HIELEMHE 1,224,086
Loans and interest receivables EWEFEF A 27,642
Trade receivables B 5 EW A 1,545
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRHRIE - R R EAMmER
RIE 186,564
Financial assets at FVTPL RATEKEBEZARZ
ERMEE 475
Tax recoverable A Wy (Bl % 18 4,540
Pledged deposits 2R F R 39,611
Restricted bank balances X IR HIR 1T 4 8 5,699
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReERIEBAR 237,736
Trade payables BHENRIE (45,348)
Other payables and accruals oty f& T R K AT B B (435,184)
Contract liabilities afaE (158,693)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FERTRHEMEE (1,314,513)
Tax payable JE 1~ 751 18 (116,507)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIB AR (547,982)
Net assets derecognised as a result of AEMSRMBUEER 2 EE
the Distribution in Specie F 1A 2,119,233
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR HE = (1,308,146)
Fair value of remaining undistributed CAP Shares 218 A & B & E 2 NE B i #
held by the Group classified as financial assets BTRDIKPERE®BKRG
ZAFEE (131)
Payment of a special dividend out of contributed & & £ & & & 1+ 45 Bl B &
surplus 810,956
T E BB R AT 149
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13. Discontinued Operations (continued) 13. BEIEREEH @)
(d)  Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the derecognition of d HRECEERTHREEREEZ
the CAP Group: ReRLFE2ZIOM:

Transaction costs T 5 A 1,150

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERERBEELERIEA 237,736

Net cash outflow We Rt FHE 238,886

Loss per share from the discontinued operations: () REDRIEEEEXEB2ERE
?éi .

Loss per share: FRREE
Basic and diluted, from the discontinued EARR#E - HKO0.67 cents HK2.30 cents
operations REBKRIEEEER Al Al
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share amounts from
the discontinued operations is based on: REERIECEEBNERE
AEBEEBESBENRATS
AEFH -

Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders REEB &L L EEK 2 &G A A
of the parent from the discontinued TERAERAEARGLER
operations 7,930 27,880

Weighted average number of ordinary BUATEERERR#EE
shares in issue during the year used BZFRAMEFHEET
in the basic and diluted loss per share Tk g e (M eE14)
calculation (note 14) 1,181,345,893 1,216,212,751
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14. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Attributable to
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts is based
on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the
Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the
years.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are based
on:

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

14. B 558 30 B 4 5 N EAG
BREM, OEH)

EREXAF(BRDEESA
A A RS AE R R (B R)
RAE [ B % 1T % 3 IR 0 T4
HE-

HE-_ZT-_NFrER-_ZT-_=F=A
ST HEFEYEHZINETR
EARBF(BE):BEHAHE
EHARAEERZEFEMELE
EHERARNEBEITLTAR -

FREARBERA (BHE) Z&
BRI

Earnings/(loss) per share BREN (B
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, used in the basic and

diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation:

(B 2B AR %

RUAFESREARBERT
B R
BARERTN,(BE)

From continuing operations REFBEREED (7,426) 7,365
From the discontinued operations RED R IEEEETE (7,930) (27,880)
Total 4=t (15,356) (20,515)

Shares & 12

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

RUFHEEREARBERT

used in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) (BR)ZE @R METFHH
per share calculation 1,181,345,893*  1,216,212,751*%
3 In respect of the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no adjustment * HE-_Z_NER-_Z-_=F=A

has been made to the basic loss per share amount of the Group and the
discontinued operations presented in respect of a dilution as the impact
of outstanding share options issued by CAP had no dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share amounts presented.

Z+—RLFE ARTERE®
BTN RITEBREHRZ5]
FEREABERSEHERTRR
BHUYBHEINWAEERE KL
REZBEEREABBEESBEEL
BEFE -

T E BRI AR AR
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. W3k ~ Wi Kk i

31 March 2024 ZECREZAZT-R
A1 A 20 A-g-EmA-A:
(ost A 696,123 89,174 102,672 18,144 5,699 29483 1,001,295 278316 181,073 459,389 1,460,684
Accumulated deprecition ZHAERRE
and impaiment (144,991) (17.757) (57383) (39,037) (1329) (21992 (342,449) (54436)  (102640)  (157,076)  (499,525)
Net carrying amount RETE 551,132 11417 45329 39107 4310 1491 658,846 23,880 18433 302313 961,159
At 1 Aprl 2003, et of RZZ2ZERA-A-
accumulted depreciation AREHTERAE
and impairment 551,132 1417 45329 39107 43710 1491 658,846 203,880 18433 302313 961,159
Adaitions HE - 4673 866 AL 806 933 29418 - 61,494 61,494 90912
Aaquiston ofasubsicary tht s W,% it =3yl
10t a business (note 38 Plligt 90 - - - - - 910 36,130 - 36130 37,100
Depreciaton provided during ﬁ?ﬁhﬁ
the year (21,068) (4,693) (10,134) (12,306) (1,00) (2,480) (51,704) (11,468) (47,978) (59,446)  (11,150)
Impairment, net AR FE (50,475) (13) - - = - (e (1332 (4106 (17432)  (68,630)
Disposalwritten-off E/Hi (286) = - 93) (86) (60) (523  (22,160) - (60 (683)
Disposalofa subsdarypote )~ #&-EHELT
() (100,923) - - - - - (100923) - - - (100923)
Derecogriton of whsideres —— =REDARKIRED
pon completon ofthe WEAR
Distbution i Specie (Wn)
(note 13) (5,976) (4.962) - (45,278) (2,834) (2,456) (61,506) (9,435) (16,050) (25,485) (86,991)
Tensfer o assels Cassfed asheld - 83558 AkFLES
for sile (note 28) Elln (44d) - - - - - (44) (28,384) - (28,384) (28,828)
Bxchange resignment Ejfg (1,440) () - (922) (302) (530) (3,405) (629) [47) (1,101) (4,506)
At 31 March 2024 netof RZE-mEZR
accumulete depreciaion St-R REH
and impaiment fERRE 31490 5,501 36,061 2,648 91 2,898 419529 174,608 73 15,929 665,458
At31 March 2004 RZZ-mE=R
-8
Cost it 497,062 83,179 102323 29129 34 20,067 735,501 236,520 190,047 06,567 1,162,068
Accumulated depreciton EHAERRE
and impgiment (125,572) (17678) (66,262) (26,481) (2,810) (17,169 (315972) (61912)  (118726) (180,638  (A9%6,610)
Net carrying amount RESE 31490 5,501 36,061 2,648 91 2,898 419529 174,608 73 15,929 665,458
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 15. W3k ~ Wil B i (a0

31 March 2023 -t e
At 1 Aol 2002 RZRzZERmA-R:
(ost it 103291 39 %37 To514 6676 30008 1009272 0 183,308 411,099 140371
Accumulated deprecition ZHAERRE
and impaiment (118,149 (78809) (47885) (39928) ) (21873) (309069) (52749) (102,53 (154900 [463971)
Net carrying amount RETE 583,142 1556 50487 36,586 45 813 100203 175042 81,155 156197 95,400
AT ol 2022, netof RZBZZEmA-R
accumulate depreciaion IREHHERRE
and impairment 585,142 15561 50487 36,586 405 8193 100203 175042 81,155 156,197 95,400
Adaitions HE 1081 3890 430 18531 1602 140 31806 - 6434 8434 97260
Deprecation piovided duing ~— ERzHEH &
the year (21920) (6,76) (9458) (12648) (1099) (2108) (54609) (11958 46480) (38440) (113049)
mpgirment,net HERE ) (109) - (16) - - {71 (2566) (3209 (5,769) (12947)
Disposalwrittenoff e/ H¥ (1069 (%) 5 (639 (%) ] 2286 = {0s1) {s) 6337
lease modfcationfeisonofa ~ BELH/BEBT
[ease term = = e e e = = = (126 (126) (126)
Tensfrfiom investment DEVEL 2
properties 67 = = = = = 67 89852 = 88 90549
Tensler o asets Cassfedasheld - EREBAREHE
forsle EE (669) e e s - - (668 (24408) - (24408 (15,078)
Exchange reaignment EjgE (5,080) [m S (10 (48) (3%) 9149) (2080) (1) (4240) (13385)
At31 March 2023, netof RoEozEog
accumulted depreciation Zt-B NREH
and impairment fERRE 551132 11417 4539 39107 431 149 058846 13880 78433 0313 961,159
A1 March 2003 RZZZE2R
Zt-8:
(ost ik 69,123 89,174 102672 1814 569 19483 1,001,295 18316 181073 459389 1460684
Aecumulated depreciton ZHAERRE
and impairment (144991) (11757) (5738) (39037) (139 (21990) (342449 (54430 (102640) (157076) (£99529)
Net carrying amount REFE 551132 147 4539 9107 4310 2] 058846 13880 78433 031 961,159
Pledge of assets EEEH
At 31 March 2024, certain of the Group's owned buildings with an RZZEZNMF=A=+—H &%
aggregate carrying amount of HK$164,209,000 (2023: HK$201,362,000), ZHETEREFIREAE64,209,000
leasehold land, which is included in right-of-use assets, with an B(ZZ = =4 :201,362,000% Jt)
aggregate carrying amount of HK$50,612,000 (2023: HK$211,412,000 R AERBREEZHELHER
and furniture and equipment of HK$2,463,000) were pledged to secure #@1E50,612,0008 L(ZFE=Z=%F:
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 32) and bills 211,412,000 7T bA R AR 4L e 7%
payable (note 29). 2,463,000 L) - EABMBE FAE
Z2—RBITEEPTF32) REMNRE
B EE29) 1EH R

{1 7T B PRI IR A
e tnees 153
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
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Impairment and reversal of impairment

As at 31 March 2024, as mentioned in note 3 to the financial statements,
there were external sources of information and evidence available
from internal reporting indicating that the economic performance
of some assets or CGUs are better than expected while some CGUs
continue to underperform in respect of the Group's pharmaceutical
businesses. Accordingly, impairment tests of the relevant property,
plant and equipment or CGUs have been performed. For the purpose
of impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, each
individual retail store or manufacturing plant is identified as a separate
CGU.

Included in Chinese Pharmaceutical Segment

For the year ended 31 March 2024, as a result of the impairment
assessment, impairment losses of HK$723,000 and HK$7,925,000
were recognised based on value in use in respect of the leasehold
improvements and buildings (included in right-of-use assets),
respectively (2023: impairment losses of HK$109,000, HK$16,000 and
HK$6,641,000 were recognised based on value in use in respect of the
leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and office equipment, and
buildings (included in right-of-use assets), respectively), of certain leased
retail stores which continued to underperform during the year ended
31 March 2024 and 2023 and were therefore partially impaired. As at 31
March 2024, the aggregate recoverable amount of the assets of these
retail stores for which impairment losses have been recognised during
the year was HK$9,438,000 (2023: HK$6,663,000). In addition, a reversal of
impairment of HK$3,819,000 (2023: HK$3,438,000) was recognised based
on value in use in respect of the buildings (included in right-of-use
assets) of certain leased retail stores which performed better than
expected during the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. As at 31
March 2024, the aggregate recoverable amount of these retail stores was
HK$3,819,000 (2023: HK$3,438,000). The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections for the above impairment assessments was 12% (2023:
12%).

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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/ﬂfﬁn*{éﬁlﬁm' Cl1 7;:%32/_‘15

EBEHERTABINREEL
B -
HARED B
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B BRETRENGE WERE
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FTHEZEEH2HERERETF (5
AEREEE)NFERAEES AIER
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—ZEZAZt+-—BLEEFEERRE
%ﬁ%%%*ﬁ%%%%ﬁZ%?
(GTAFEREEE)FRAEBERER)
B # @3,819,0007% ﬁ (_ T ¢
3,438,000 L) c RZE-_WMF=A
=+—8- ngﬁﬁﬁ%TW@
48 %8 53,819,000 T(ZE - =4
3,438,000/ 7T) - LA EREFHZ
ReREBABRACIAERR12% (=
T = 00) .



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

15. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Impairment and reversal of impairment (continued)

Included in the property investment segment

For the year ended 31 March 2024, as a result of the impairment
assessment, impairment losses of HK$50,475,000 and HK$12,375,000
(2023: impairment losses of HK$7,047,000 and HK$2,815,000) were
recognised based on fair value less costs of disposal in respect of the
owned buildings and leasehold land of certain retail stores, respectively,
due to the decrease in the respective recoverable amount of those retail
stores for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. As at 31 March 2024,
the aggregate recoverable amount of these assets was HK$100,300,000
(2023: HK$239,900,000), excluding the recoverable amount of an owned
building of HKS$103,000,000 (2023: Nil) which has been disposed to
independent third party during the year. The recoverable amount of
the owned building as at 31 March 2024 was determined based on the
fair value less costs of disposal under direct comparison method and/or
direct capitalisation method determined by an independent professional
qualified valuer, which took into account current prices of properties
of similar locations and conditions and other unobservable inputs, and
the rent receivables from the potential reversionary market rent of the
properties, and accordingly the fair value measurement was categorised
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

B4 5 e % B wE )

31 March 2024 —E-—_WMF&=/=+—H

15. W3 ~ W5 K )
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
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Manufacturing plants

In addition, for the year ended 31 March 2024, impairment losses of
HK$951,000 were recognised in respect of the leasehold land (2023:
reversal of impairment losses of HK$249,000 were recognised in respect
of the leasehold land) of the Group’'s manufacturing plants due to
the decrease in the recoverable amounts, of which HK$634,000 (2023:
HK$166,000) belongs to the Chinese Pharmaceutical Segment, and
HK$317,000 (2023: HK$83,000) belongs to the Western Pharmaceutical
Segment. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate recoverable amount of the
Group’s manufacturing plants for which impairment losses have been
recognised during the year was HK$346,200,000 (2023: HK$374,000,000).
The recoverable amount was determined based on the fair value
less costs of disposal under depreciated replacement cost approach
determined by an independent professional qualified valuer which
took into account current prices of properties of similar locations and
conditions and other unobservable inputs, and accordingly the fair value
measurement was categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key input
to the valuation of property, plant and equipment for the purpose of
impairment assessment:

15.

W3~ W5 Bk ()

LEME

o BEZFT-_MFE=A=+—
BLEFE BRIl EeBEEMR
LA EELEERBEZEEL
H, HE SRR {E B H951,00008 T(— &
“=HF s L HERAREBRE
# [1249,0005% 7T) - H $1634,000%8
TL(ZF = =5 :166,000% 7T) B R
B 5 Ef &317,0008 T(Z T ==
F:830008 ) BRAE D & - 7
—E_WF=ZA=+—RH "mkE
4 %8346,200,0008 T(ZZ = =% :
374,000,000 ) R A EEFEANE B
SEBFERRZBREREE - TKE
SHEDERAFERDERARNER
—ERBUYUBEXAERMEEMEEZ
FEEERAZE  LREERUL
ERRRNZYMEZEMBEREHM
TABEGARBETE  RUAY
B BB ARTEEBRNE=R -

TERBARME BELRRBEE
ETREMGEARABZEET AR
TEHABE:

Commercial properties Direct comparison
method and direct
capitalisation method

HEHBEREE

AR

EREEZES FEITRER

Estimated rental value per

Price per square foot

square foot and per

month

BABFHIRGFER

EE

Capitalisation rate

AR

Manufacturing plants Depreciated replacement
cost method

EERE FEEERAE
A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) recoverable amount of
the property, plant and equipment. A significant increase/(decrease)
in the construction cost per square metre in isolation would result in a
significantly higher/(lower) recoverable amount of the property, plant
and equipment.
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Construction cost per
square metre

BFITRBEMRRK

HK$22,000 to HK$8,000 to

HK$63,000 HK$128,000

22,000 T E 8,000 T&

63,000% T 128,000 7T

HKS$56 to N/A
HK$111

568 T = & A
111% T

3.0% N/A

3.0% i@ A

HK$27,328 HK$30,585

27,328 T 30,5857 7T
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16. Investment Properties
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31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

16. &EWE

Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREE 3,170,676 3,562,503
Additions during the year FRARE 7,897 17,506
Lease modification for sub-leased properties BIIoHEYWERE 10,001 2,881
Acquisition of subsidiaries that are not WL IFEBZWB AR

businesses (note 38) (B 3%38) 41,700 -
Transfer to owner-occupied property (note 15) & ZE B8 B ¥ % (M :E15) = (90,549)
Disposals during the year FRHE - (20,853)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) i — e BT B & &) (BT 5E39) (71,000) (48,800)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion 58X B ¥ 5 Ik & BUH & R M B

of the Distribution in Specie (note 13) AR (M FE13) (2,809,556) -
Accrued rent-free rental income EEteERES KA (147) (262)
Net losses from fair value adjustments for FEMERATEARZEIE

owned properties pex:} (100,530) (14,076)
Net gains from fair value adjustments for sub- D HEWERAFERHE 2 k=%

leased properties O 15,183 2,237
Exchange realignment TE 3= (74,224) (239,911)
Carrying amount at end of year FAREEE 190,000 3,170,676
Less: Included in assets classified as held for sale & st A DB ARFIEHEZEE

and assets of a disposal company held RFBELREZHERT
for sale (note 28) & E (M 5E28) (38,000) (71,000)

Investment properties as stated in the R=A=+—BREGEaHBEAR

consolidated statement of financial position RNEANINREBIRE %

as at 31 March 152,000 3,099,676

The Group's investment properties are commercial properties in Hong
Kong and commercial properties in the agricultural produce exchange
markets in Chinese Mainland. The investment properties were revalued
by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited and RHL Appraisal Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at 31 March 2024 and
the completion date of the Distribution in Specie, respectively. The
finance department of the Group has a team that reviews the valuation
performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting purposes
and reports directly to the senior management of the Company.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between
management and the valuers twice a year when the valuation is
performed for interim and annual financial reporting. At the end of each
reporting period, the finance department holds discussion with the
independent valuers to verify major inputs to the independent valuation
reports. The finance department also assesses property valuation
movements when comparing to the prior year valuation reports.

AEEREVERUNETAEZAR
MERMRTPEABEERRST
BZERME - R_F_NF=H
ST-BRERENDKAEH &
EMERBULEEAERMGEMF
BRAITAEMAERAR KK ITHE
BRHARRANDNEHRGE A&
BB ABIREESREN B LGEE
PR EOMETHR/E"
TEHEERAARBDSREREERS -
ERERGEMAATHARFEY
BHRRETHENEE  SFE1T
MREBEEREFRERNTH -
REBREHRR FBMPIRBIMA
BERETEN  AREBILGER
EMETEBARE - MBI A
BAEFERERSLE  FEDE
HEES -
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16. Investment Properties (continued)
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The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 17 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2024, the Group's investment properties with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$152,000,000 (2023: HK$1,937,181,000) and certain
rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure the general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

At 31 March 2023, the Group's investment properties included
right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying value of HK$11,056,000.

Fair value hierarchy

The recurring fair value measurement for all the commercial and
industrial properties and agricultural produce exchange markets of the
Group uses significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) and details of their
movements are disclosed below.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023:
Nil).

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy:

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

16. HEM¥E @)

DN EBR(F)
SERATFTEERE=ZRNATE
AEZHEK:

Carrying amount at 1 April

RZTEZZFMNA—HBHZ

2022 BREE 298,099 86,000 3,178,404 3,562,503
Accrued rent-free rental EtEAES KA

income (251) an - (262)
Additions during the year FARE = - 17,506 17,506
Lease modification for BN HEMERE

sub-leased properties - - 2,881 2,881
Disposals during the year FALE - = (20,853) (20,853)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HIE LR

(note 39) (P 5£39) (48,800) - - (48,800)
Transfer to owner-occupied EREaAYE 15

property (note 15) (90,549) - - (90,549)
Net gains/(losses) from fair FIEEMERATEREZ

value adjustments for Wzt (B18) FE

owned properties 7,800 (14,989) (6,887) (14,076)
Net gains from fair value DEMERATEREZ

adjustments for sub-leased W% % 58

properties - - 2,237 2,237
Exchange realignment [E & 5% - - (239,911) (239,911)
Carrying amount at 31 March RZTE-_=F=A=+—

2023 and 1 April 2023 BR-ZZ-_=FMAH—

Az ERmE 166,299 71,000 2,933,377 3,170,676

Accrued rent-free rental st EE KA

income (147) - - (147)
Additions during the year FARE - - 7,897 7,897
Lease modification for BN MERE

sub-leased properties - - 10,001 10,001
Acquisition of subsidiaries that Y2 8% 3 I 3 75 2 K1 /8B 2 7

are not businesses (note 38) (Fff 7£38) 41,700 - - 41,700
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHKBARF

(note 39) (Bff 5E39) - (71,000) - (71,000)
Derecognition of subsidiaries 525X B ¥ 2 K 1% BUH fE R

upon completion of Bt 8 X &) (Bt 3313)

the Distribution in Specie

(note 13) - - (2,809,556) (2,809,556)
Net losses from fair value FEEMEATEARZ

adjustments for owned B EIFE

properties (17,852) - (82,678) (100,530)
Net gains from fair value DEMEATEARZ

adjustments for sub-leased W %5 % 5

properties - - 15,183 15,183
Exchange realignment [ 3 38 & - = (74,224) (74,224)
Carrying amount at 31 March  RZZTZMNF=A

2024 =+—HZEEEA 190,000 - - 190,000

T E BRI AR AR
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEER(HE)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the TRBREEYELERRA 2
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: BEREREFEE AHE:
Continuing operations (note (i) R K (KEI)

HK$63,000 to  HK$58,000 to

Commercial properties Direct comparison
method, direct
capitalisation method

and investment

Price per square foot

HK$64,000 HK$87,000

method
[l RZES BEELBRZE HEEENZE BYHIRER 63,000 TZE 58000 THE
K& &% 64,0007 T 87,0007 JT
Estimated rental value per HK$111 to N/A
square foot and per HK$199
month
BABFTHFREAES 1METE A 3E B
BE 1997 1t
Capitalisation rate 3.0% to 5.5% N/A
B xR 3.0% £5.5% TEA
Industrial property Direct comparison Price per square foot N/A HK$3,295
method
THEWME HELEE BFHFRER i A 3,295 7T

BRI B R (& (i)

Discontinued operations (note (ii))

Agricultural produce Direct comparison Price per square meter HK$3,600 to HK$4,042 to
exchange markets (note ii) method and HK$4,497 HKS$4,226
investment method
BERRXSTE M=) HEERELIBZERRESE BEFKER 3,600 T & 40428 T E
4,497E T 4,226% 70
Estimated rental value per HK$13 to HKS$11 to
square meter and per HK$94 HKS$80
month
BRABVHKRMEFER 138X E NAETE
BE 947 T 804 7T
Capitalisation rate 7% to 9% 7% to 9%
B = 7% ZE9% 7% %= 9%

160 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Notes:

(@

(ii)

As at 31 March 2024, the valuations of investment properties were based
on either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables
from the existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent of
the properties or direct capitalisation method which capitalises the rent
receivables from the potential reversionary market rent of the properties
or the direct comparison method by reference to comparable market
transactions.

The valuation technique of certain commercial properties changed
from direct comparison method to investment method and/or direct
capitalisation method because of the downturn in commercial properties
market during the year ended 31 March 2024 that, in the opinion of the
independent professionally qualified valuers, there were inadequate
comparable market transactions in the market for the valuation of these
commercial properties.

As at the date of completion of the Distribution in Specie, the valuations
of agricultural produce exchange markets included in discontinued
operations, were based on either the investment method which capitalises
the rent receivables from the existing tenancies and the potential
reversionary market rent of the properties or the direct comparison method
by reference to comparable market transactions.

Further details of discontinued operations are included in note 13 to the
financial statements.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot/metre in
isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated
rental value per square foot/metre in isolation would result in a significantly
higher/(lower) fair value of the investment properties. A significant
increase/(decrease) in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a
significantly lower/(higher) fair value of the investment properties.

17. Leases

The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold land,
buildings and equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments

were
lease

made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with
periods of 24 to 68 years, and no ongoing payments will be

made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office properties
generally have lease terms of 2 to 4 years, while retail shops generally

have

lease terms between 2 and 4 years. Other equipment generally

has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
There are several lease contracts that include extension and termination
options and variable lease payments, which are further discussed below.

(a)

Right-of-use assets
The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are disclosed in notes 15 and 16 to the
financial statements.
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17. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other
payables and accruals) and the movements during the year are as
follows:

(b)

17. M @)

REBEEREBEA(E)
(b) HE&E

MEABEGAEM RN KA
REFERET)ZEEER

Carrying amount at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_—_FMNA—-—BZEHEE 123,052
Additions arising from new leases I HEMAE 65,254
Additions arising from lease modification for SDEMEHEETMAE
subleased properties 2,881
Revision of a lease term arising from a change in ~ A E T A M EEHmMESE 2 HEH
the non-cancellable period of a lease (EH (10,527)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ~ FRERZ 2 F 8 4,423
Payments NE: (62,517)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors HHEAMREET S RESHAEELN
HeRE® (774)
Other lease modification HiiEEER] (2,362)
Exchange realignment E 3 (1,663)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 and RZE_=F=A=+—HRZ-ZZTZ-=%F
1 April 2023 MA—HZEEME 117,767
Additions arising from new leases EFzIHEmMARE 69,111
Additions arising from lease modification for DHEMEREETMAE
subleased properties 10,001
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ~ F R Rz 2L F 8 6,174
Payments A (70,501)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion of 52 B & ¥ % Ik 1 BUH # 3R M B8 A &
the Distribution in Specie (32,869)
Exchange realignment e H (563)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_NME=ZA=+—HAZEHEE 99,120
Analysed into: DR
Current portion BB 48,272 52,162
Non-current portion MBS 50,848 65,605
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BzZKmE 99,120 117,767
Analysed into: DR
Lease liabilities repayable: ENHEERE:
Within one year —F R 48,272 52,162
In the second year F_F 31,153 34,228
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ZEZRF
(BREEREMF) 19,695 26,158
Beyond five years AEUNUE - 5219
Carrying amount at 31 March REZA=+—HBZKHE 99,120 117,767

The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities is disclosed

in note 47 to the financial statements.
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17. Leases (continued) 17. & @m)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEEREHEA(HE)
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss from continuing () REZBERAZHELEEBHA
operations in relation to leases are as follows: ERASBEOT:
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZNA 4,071 2,709
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {f AEEE 2 T EM X 53,067 54,859
Expense relating to short-term leases g A AR F X (GEA
(included in selling and distribution HERDHERAS)
expenses) 4,135 5,594
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEBEEEHERBE2RAX
assets (included in administrative (GTATTH A X)
expenses) 1,263 1,075
Variable lease payments not included in Kt A EBEFE 2 &
the measurement of lease liabilities HERKGIAHEER D H
(included in selling and distribution i s2)
expenses) 8,175 8,558
COVID-19-related rent concessions HHEAMREEFEBERES
from lessors MAEANEEESR = (774)
Gain on modification/termination of B/ IEREA K 2 %
lease contracts - (575)
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE 17,432 5,769
Total amount recognised in profit or loss HRIB R 2 858 88,143 77,215
(d) Extension and termination options (d FERZKLEEZRE
The Group has leases with remaining lease terms ranging from REBIAFBHEBANF IR
less than 1 year to 3 years (2023: 1 year to 15 years). The leases 1FR23F(ZE=F 1%
containing extension and termination options are managed BEIZHE - BEEBEARK
locally and vary in terms. The Group has included extension or IFEEREZEERSETEM
termination options in the measurement of the lease obligations BERRBEREMTE - EXR
when it is reasonably certain to exercise the options at the FERFAKRBEAEEET®
commencement date. BHERKLERES HEER
T2 B AEBEERE -
(e) Variable lease payments (e) WHBEEMNK
The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain variable AEBHEZHTEEH H
lease payment terms that are based on the Group’s turnover TEREREBERAEETEREEE
generated from the retail shops. There are also minimum annual BAEZAUEHEENBIERK -
base rental arrangements for these leases. The amounts of the ZERENTEREFER
fixed and variable lease payments recognised in profit or loss AHEERHE - AFERZEH
for the current year for these leases are HK$32,373,000 and ERERER BT LTEME
HK$8,175,000 (2023: HK$26,851,000 and HK$8,558,000), respectively. & % 5 5l £32,373,000% 7T
58,175,000 T (=T ==
26,851,000 7T & 8,558 0007 7t °
(f)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 40(c) to the (f) HEZRESRLLERVBR

financial statements.

= T FE40(0) # 57 -

T E BRI AR AR
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17. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

(i

164

Operating leases

The Group leases and sub-leases its properties consisting of
5 commercial properties (2023: 4 commercial properties and
1 industrial property) in Hong Kong and 11 (all of which were
derecognised upon completion of the Distribution in Specie)
(2023: 11) agricultural produce exchange markets in Chinese
Mainland under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$212,939,000 (2023: HK$230,295,000), including HK$9,482,000
(2023: HK$10,121,000) in the continuing operations, details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivables
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants are as follows:

17. M @)

REBESBEAA

(i)

EERE

AEBBREBELEHRELES
MRk EMWE  EFRBIES
BNURBEBZHENECCE
Z=FAEEEMERIEL
EWE) UWENE(EHN T
KEDH REBEHER)(ZZF
—ZFENBNRPEAM 2
BEMXSME - EHEY
BERBEERHEELNRES -
AEEBFANERZESKBKAR
212,939,000 L (=T = =4 :
230,295,000/ L) BIEH &
ISR £ W A 9,482,000
(=& = =4 :10,121,000
B BRAFBEHNT KR
KM 5ES ©

RZE-_NMFE=Z/R=+—H"
AEERBEEBPIIZZAA
BMELEHRERRKRBEZ
MR RBEEM DT -

Within one year —FE R 4,197 26,817
After one year but within two years —FREMFRN 2,098 28,865
After two years but within three years MEBRB=ZFR 1,743 10,360
After three years but within four years ZHEBEENFA - 3,559
After four years but within five years MEREBRFR - 2,902
After five years T = 4,904
Total st 8,038 77,407

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024



17. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)
(i) Finance leases

The Group sub-leased 7 retail shops to its franchisees (2023: 7
retail shops to its franchisees and office premises to its fellow
subsidiaries) under finance lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from less than 1 year to 3 years (2023:
1 year to 3 years). The terms of the leases require the tenants to

pay security deposits.

The carrying amounts of net investments in subleases and the

movements during the year are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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17. M @)

FEEERBEA )

(i) MEMEES
AEEREBEMERHRN
MEBOHETHEEEH (T
—=FRAMERIEIHATE
IR AERRWME AR D HE
MAWE) BEEHBN T D
MEEIFE(ZZTZ=ZF:1F
E3F)  HEKRREREFLX
HRES -

ARBEFEZEEERFA
gymn:

Carrying amount at 1 April 2022 R _FHWNA—-HZKREE 14,685
Additions arising from new leases FERIHEmMARE 3,755
Accretion of finance income recognised FRERZ REHBEHA

during the year 368
Proceeds from subleases S PSR (6,297)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=F=A=+—HK

1 April 2023 —E-=FNWA-AZHRHEE 12,511
Additions arising from new leases A HEMARE 3,905
Accretion of finance income recognised FANER 2 RIEHBHA

during the year 354
Proceeds from subleases SIS RIE (5,942)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 RZZE-—WME=ZA=+—HZEEE 10,828

Analysed into: RV
Current portion mEE D 4,931 5,205
Non-current portion FEREI D 5,897 7,306
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BZzE@EE 10,828 12,511

At 31 March 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable finance leases

with its tenants are as follows:

R-EBE-_WNE=ZA=+—8"
AEBBEEBPIIZ TR
BEMmERERRREBEZ
EWARITBEREMZTOT

Within one year —FR" 4,097 5,497
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 1,201 2,501
After two years but within three years MERB=ZFR 924 -
Total st 6,222 7,998
In addition to the above, the annual contingent rental is calculated brEuiESN  FEIABEIE

on a percentage of the turnover of the store.

EHMEXBZADLLAE -

ML E B H R AR
T NEFR
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18. Investments in Associates

(Continued)

18. BB A FRZHRE

Cost of investments in associates: REEERA 2R EKA
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRRG  REKAR 4,331 4,331
Less: Impairment losses recognised W ERRIRE R (831) (831)
3,500 3,500
Share of post-acquisition profits, net of FEE W% &R - MR E W
dividends received % 2 933 1,000
Total BET 4,433 4,500

The Group's trade receivable balances with the associates are disclosed AEFBERBENT 2B HEKKIE

in note 23 to the financial statements.

The following table illustrates the aggregate summarised financial
information of the Group's associates that are not individually material:

BN RRMFBHE -

TERAPREEBEARENTE
REERRBEERTE

Share of the associates’ profits and losses
for the year

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive
income

Dividend received

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
investments in associates

JRE 15 Bk 2 X R AN DR A K
&8 2,533 2,946
A ERR 2EKE AR

2,533 2,946

28 2,600 2,250
REERBERRZHEZ

HAREE 4,433 4,500

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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19. Financial Assets at FVTOCI
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19. #%4F 00 58 fth 2 i i 48 A
B 2 <8 it s

Listed equity investments, at fair value EMRERE  H QA FE M, (i), (v) 24,986 143,649
Listed debt investments, at fair value EHmEHEE  BEQAFE (i), (iiD), (iv) 8,128 50,056
Subtotal NEF 33,114 193,705
Portion classified as current assets DEABRDEEDRD (8,128) (813)
Non-current portion ERB S 24,986 192,892
Notes: =

U]

The above equity investments are investments in companies listed on the
Stock Exchange and were irrevocably designated at FVTOCI as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received dividends in the
amount of HK$1,682,000 (2023: HK$928,000) from the equity investments
designated at FVTOCI and recognised them in profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's listed equity investments consisted of
investment in Wang On of HK$89,271,000. Out of the total of 1,716,749,000
Wang On Shares held by the Group, 1,715,665,730 Wang On Shares with
aggregate carrying values in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position as at the completion date of the Distribution in Specie of
approximately HK$58,333,000 were distributed to shareholders and were
recognised as the payment of a special dividend and further details are
disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements. The remaining are shares
of certain companies listed in Hong Kong. The fair value of each of these
companies represent less than 1% of the net assets of the Group as at 31
March 2024 and 2023.

At 31 March 2023, certain of the Group’s equity investments and debt
investments at FVTOCI of HK$76,867,000 and HK$50,056,000, respectively,
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 32).

0

(ii)

LR EEE AR A LETA
ANRE ARAEERAZS
REBREBLEE  BRETH
HWEMEETRATELHAMEZE
Yas ABR e

BE-_ZT-_WFE=A=+—81
FE AEEEETRAFEE
Hth2Eh= AR ZRERE
I BX1,682,0008 T (ZE = =& :
928,000 L) °

R-ZTE-_=F=ZA=+—8 K&&
BN LITRERERBERERZ
% £89,271,0005 7T ° & A & @ #
B K A $£1,716,749,0008% = % i% 19
FOREREYWHIKBBEAEER
BAVMBRARPOETLELD
458,333,000/ 7T #91,715,665,730
RERZRHE MR RS IL#ER
BEIRSMNR - E—FHFBER
BRUBERERMFIZ 2T AR
ERFELTHETRAANRG ° %
ERAZEENAFER-_T-_MNF
E_E-_=ZF=ZA=+—RAHE4LE
HEEFEIRIY -

R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—RH ' #F
BREAFTELHEHM2EREARZ
REBEREKREREBREDAR
76,867,000/ 7t %% 50,056,000/ 7T °
EARGRETAEE 2 —RRTE
B{ELE R (M F32) -

T EHEEERBR AT
DUEREERAY 167
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19. Financial Assets at FVTOCI (continued)

168

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment assessment of debt investments at FVTOCI

As at 31 March 2024, except for one (2023: one) defaulted listed debt
investment of HK$408,000 (2023: HK$813,000) which was categorised within
Stage 3, none of the listed debt investments were overdue and all of them
were categorised within Stage 1 for the assessment of ECLs.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering
the ECLs, which are estimated by applying the probability of default
approach with reference to risk of default and loss given default of the
issuers or comparable companies. As at 31 March 2024, the probability of
default applied ranged from 0.1% to 100% (2023: 0.1% to 100%) and the loss
given default ranged from 61.6% to 84.7% (2023: 53.7% to 80.8%).

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of debt
investments at FVTOCI are as follows:

19. #1848 2o 2wk 25 A
MR 2 & b & PE ()

M EE ()

(i) HAFELEMEZEREARZ
BB EREZFEN G

R-_ZT-_MWME=A=+—8" K—
B(ZEZ=F —H)ENLME
%18 B408,0008 T (Z T =F:
813,000 )P ARE=PEERI -
Hft EmEBHKENERY B
REHEEBBNTMEmE - AT
EREEBREAPERE B

B

REREAHWEBREREHREE
ERBETREIN MEBEHEE
BEDEBERENBMEREL 2
ZEHERBMBEITARTE LR
ARIENBEHNBRETHE - R
ZZTZ-_WME=ZA=+—HB" &Y
B E N F01% E2100% (ZF = =
F:01%ZE100%) BHOBEAN T
61.6%ZE84.7% (ZF = =4 :53.7%
%80.8%) °

RATEEHEHMLEZERE AKRZ
BEHREZHEBREGEZHN
T

At beginning of year REH 9,598 14,235
Assets derecognised RIEHERZEE (211) (11,497)
Impairment losses, net (note 7) REEE  FEMET)
Changes in risk parameters B2 HEE 461 6,859
New investments purchased BEHMKE - 1
Subtotal NET 461 6,860
At end of year RER 9,848 9,598

In July 2022, one of the issuers of the listed debt investments held by the
Group with aggregate carrying amount of HK$14,323,000 had successfully
extended the maturity date of the issued bond from 12 August 2022 to 12
April 2024 and reduced the annualised coupon rates from 11.5% to 9.0%. As
a result, the Group recognised a loss on modification of debt investments
at FVTOCI of HK$867,000 in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2023.

In March 2024, the Group distributed 1,715,665,730 Wang On Shares through
the Distribution in Specie to the Company’s shareholders. The fair value
of these Wang On Shares on the date of completion of the Distribution in
Specie was HK$58,333,000, and the accumulated loss for these Wang On
Shares recognised in other comprehensive income of HK$23,120,000 was
transferred to accumulated losses.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

(ivy RZTEZ—FtAh TrKEHFER
T 42 {E /14,323,000 T2 L&
BREZHEF—BHITAKRDER
ETEFYNBHABR-E=_FN\A
+tZRAERE-ZZ-WHEFNA+=
B ¥ #EFEEFEAIS%T
FE0% - At AEEREEZ
T_=F=ZA=T+—RHILEFERA
HEREATAESAE M2 HE K
2 18 75 1% & 15 25 18867,0007%

JC ©

v RZZ-_WMNFE=ZF ZHEYD
DR AEBRARFRKRED IR
1,715,665, 730 R E L 15 - ZE &=
ZRORERED D RBHHA
F {& 558,333,000 7T * % E %
% B 15 8 K 5t 85 1823,120,0005% 7T
REMEZEKEER BREZ
TR -
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20. Properties under Development 20. #hYE

Properties under development expected to be  TEHRE Rk 2 R R ¥ %

completed:
Within the normal operating cycle included REREEBBAIER
under current assets BE - 192,950
Note: B 5
During the year ended 31 March 2023, a write-down of properties under HE_Z_=F=ZA=+—BLEFE B
development of HK$4,600,000 was charged to profit or loss, which was related to B 18 &5 Bk 2 B R 1 % MU /4,600,000
an agricultural produce exchange market in Chinese Mainland with an aggregate B BABEANMR_ZT_=F=A
carrying value of HK$148,370,000 as at 31 March 2023. =+ —HZE@E#REA148370,0007% T
Z—ARERRSTSEMR -

Properties under development expected to be completed within the EHREELERABRNZRREE
normal operating cycle and recovered: ZERPYE:

Within one year —F R - 13,715

After one year —Fi& - 179,235

Total M = 192,950
21. Properties Held for Sale 21. Rt

Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—RAZE@EE - 1,234,419

At 31 March 2023, the Group'’s properties held for sale with an aggregate RZTEZ=F=ZA=+—HB &&H
carrying value of HK$477,876,000 were pledged to secure the Group's 3 BR [ 48 (8 /477,876,000 T 2
general banking facilities (note 32). BEHEDE USSR TASE

Z—RIBITEE IR -

I EEEERARAT
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22.

23.

170

Inventories

22. #8

Raw materials and consumables R ¥ B #E G 145,767 68,603
Work in progress BB M 6,908 10,383
Finished goods BU B 155,423 130,246
Total 4 Et 308,098 209,232

Trade Receivables

23. B MWK

Trade receivables B S rEMRE 94,402 91,062
Less: Accumulated impairment B 2FHRE (13,046) (23,034)
Net carrying amount R FE 81,356 68,028

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit.
The credit period ranges from 7 to 120 days. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit and the credit limit is reviewed regularly. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from
the Group's associates of HK$5,341,000 (2023: HKS$5,908,000) which
are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEEREEFPNESHERIER
EE- EEHNF/BEI0R - &
EPFURERSERARE MAH
ERRESTHEN TEEYHH
REBBO BB IB S FREEZEN
BEERBRBRERK - BYFAE

SREEEETHER - ERXNU L
P st B 7R 2 6 B 5 ORRIR S T
RETREP HABBEREFEER
Brgerp o REE I EE S R UK
BRESFKAETAEMRRREMLEER
B -BHERWHERRE -

NEEZ 5 E R K8 B BT E R A
= @ B & A A 2 3IAS5,341,0005 7T
(T - =4%:5908,000/8 T)r HA
BERLEFALEEIERFEED

EERFNER -

BHRUKERBEFRRBEER
FHRNBRERREBER KRB AN
m

Within 1 month &8 AR 37,767 29,244
1 to 3 months 12318 A 13,313 19,259
Over 3 months but within 6 months HBi@3E A BT iB6MEA 15,391 12,864
Over 6 months 6f& A A £ 14,885 6,661
Total 4=t 81,356 68,028

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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23. Trade Receivables (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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23. © 5 MWK IE ()

ESEKRE AEBARRED
m

At beginning of year REH) 23,034 16,169
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment WEEE,/ CRE/BERZD) -

losses), net P& (1,900) 7,983
Exchange realignment M 5, 38 & (583) (1,118)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion 52X B ¥ 2 Ik 1 BUH 7 2 K B

of the Distribution in Specie NS (7,505) -
At end of year RE R 13,046 23,034

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type and
rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables
are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to

enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2024

REBREARORBEBIEMET
HMESN A2 EHEEER -
BEZDLDENARAFBEUERE
ANZERF 2 HETH A8 H
MBEEFEAZEERE ERR
BCBPRBRFR)  ZFERBR
KARMEER HEBHEIRNR
SHMAGNERBESMNH - BAT
R R R R B A TER A IE R
AEEH —RBRME HEHBEE
—EFRABARHAITIED - M
58 5 MW RIR -

TR AEBRF P BGERBES Y
MEZEEFENEERRE R :

R-ZB-_mME=ZA=+—H

Expected credit loss rate BHEEEBX
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BERAEETEL
ECLs (HK$'000) EHEEBE(TER

As at 31 March 2023

1% 1% 2% 3% 58% 14%
54,073 8,850 6,025 4,382 21,072 94,402
425 93 148 144 12,236 13,046

RZBEZ=F=A=+—H

ECL rate EHEEBEE
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REEE(TET
ECLs (HK$'000) FHACEFA(TER)

0% 0% 2% 5% 84% 25%

50,210 7478 4,905 1,436 27,033 91,062

116 37 74 76 22,731 23,034
T E BRI AR AR 171
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24. Loans and Interest Receivables

172

24, HEWCE K B AR

Loans receivable from Wang On B ERER 100,000 -

Loans receivable from CAP FBRAFREERER 380,000 =

Loans receivables from third parties BRE=ZHER - 50,519

Interest receivables JE W FI 2 14,759 21,025

Subtotal INEF 494,759 71,544

Less: Impairment allowance R ORE R = (43,586)

Subtotal INEF 494,759 27,958

Less: Portion classified as non-current WD ERERBEE

assets B (380,000) (17,209)

Portion classified as current assets DEARBDEEDRD 114,759 10,749

Notes: B £ -

(i) As at 31 March 2024, the loans receivable from Wang On were stated at (i) R-ZE-_WMFE=A=+—H ' EK
amortised cost. These loans were unsecured, carried interest at a fixed REERBBEERAYE - ZF
interest rate of 10% per annum with a final maturity in December 2028 and ERREER - REEFHEI0%
were repayable on demand. AR RKIBER-Z-NEF

+ZA BBREREE -

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 March 2024, the loans receivable from CAP were stated at
amortised cost. These loans were unsecured, carried interest at a fixed
interest rate of 10% per annum with a final maturity in May 2027. The
carrying amounts of the loans receivable approximated to its fair values.

As at 31 March 2023, these loans receivables from third parties were stated
at amortised cost at effective interest rates ranging from 1% to 12% per
annum. The credit terms of these loans receivables range from 1 year to 6
years. As at 31 March 2023, except for loans receivables of HK$17,209,000
with maturity over one year at the reporting date, the remaining loans
receivables are either overdue or with maturity within one year at the
reporting date, and they have been classified as current assets accordingly.
All of these loans receivables from third parties were derecognised upon
completion of the Distribution in Specie.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

(i)

(iii)

=

\—E_WEZA=1t—-8 " Bk
FEREREFIRBHEKATR -
ZEEFREER REEFH
RI0%F B BRI PEAR/-Z
“tEIA - ZERUERZE
HEEARATERE -

R-ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—R " %%
U E=H BRI R AT
BEEFEMNENTI%ENL% - %%
BERERZEEHANT —FEAX
F-R-TE-_ZF=ZA=+—8"
$:17,209,0005% 7T 2 JE UL B 3K K 3k
EHHB BB —FE 8N BT
ERERACAPIREEBEH
B —FRIE AHEHSEA
REBEE - TAERKE=ZFER
REKEYHIRETUABEER °
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24. Loans and Interest Receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loans and interest

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )
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24, JEW B B AE )
MsE: (&)

vy, BRERERMENREBBERE

receivables are as follows: 2T :
At beginning of year REFED 43,586 45,613
Impairment losses, net RWEBE  F8 414 1,409
Exchange realignment & H 3% (1,090) (3,436)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion 7&K & ¥ % Ik & BUY #E 2 K B 2 7]

of the Distribution in Specie (42,910) -
At end of year RER - 43,586

As at 31 March 2024, the loans and interest receivables were not yet past
due and were categorised within Stage 1 for the measurement of ECLs. As
such, the Group's exposure to credit risk is insignificant and the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the ECLs for these loans and interest
receivables are minimal.

As at 31 March 2023, except for loans and interest receivables with gross
amounts of HK$1,596,000 and HK$55,985,000 which had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and were categorised within
Stage 2 and Stage 3 for the assessment of ECLs, respectively, none of
the loans and interest receivables were overdue and all of them were
categorised within Stage 1 for the measurement of ECLs.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering
the ECLs, which are estimated by applying the probability of default
approach with reference to the risk of default and loss given default of the
borrowers or comparable companies. As at 31 March 2024, the probability
of default applied for the Group's loans and interest receivables ranged
from 0.1% to 1.3% (2023: 0.1% to 2.1%) and the loss given default ranged
from 60.1% to 63.6% (2023: 53.7% to 80.8%). As at date of completion of the
Distribution in Specie, the probability of default applied for CAP’s loans
receivables from third parties ranged from 0.7% to 100% (2023: 0.5% to
100%) and the loss given default ranged from 60.1% to 78.5% (2023: 59.1%
to 77.7%).

RIB-MOF=ZA=+—H" EK
EREMEHAREBEREBERE
EBEBENEMESOBAE &
BBt AEEEAENEER
BETERN ARAEEFRR/LF
BEERMFEZEREERE
R -

RZEZ=F=ZA=+—0 K&
% 51,596,000/ st K& 55,985,0007%
TZERERRANEEVAER
URZEERKRBEEMRH®E
HEEREIAMES2R2ER
E_RE-BRIIN EREXRK
MEegiEal EREHREES
BHEmMS MEZRSEREKE
REFBHEDERE MR -

REBEAHEBERBHESR
BRETHES T MBEHEE
EREDERAERAEAMEELS
EZENEBRMERARAER L &K
ARRENBRNEBETHE - K=
T-_NF=ZA=+—H AEHEE
KRER R B HEHOFERNT01%
F13% (ZB-=F: 01%E2.1%) -
EHBEN T601%%E63.6% (ZF
— =4 :53.7% %=80.8%) B 7= K
EMHREH  BRE=FHFE
BEERERZENBMEN T07%
Z100% (ZZ = =4 : 0.5%%100%)
REANEEN T601%%E78.5% (=
T ZF 1 591%E77.7%)

ML E B H R AR
T NEFR
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25. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

174

25. VAT SKIE ~ % & K 3 fth RE WK
KIH

Prepayments SEERE O] 12,080 52,281
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of WEME BRERZBERZ

property, plant and equipment [RENE-& 5,231 1,620
Rental and other deposits HekHEMiES® 33,413 101,727
Other receivables E th fE W R IB 20,627 111,501
Right-of-return assets REEEE 853 1,666
Cost of obtaining contracts EWMAEHZ KA - 8,252
Total prepayments, deposits and TERTRIE & K E A YR

other receivables TH 42 58 72,204 277,047
Less: Impairment allowance B RE = (751)
Subtotal /INEE 72,204 276,296
Less: Portion classified as non-current assets WD EAERDEENTD (14,423) (17,070)
Portion classified as current assets NDEARBEENLS 57,781 259,226

Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid sales commission
paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has
capitalised the amounts paid and will charge them to profit or loss as
selling and distribution expenses when the revenue from the related
property sale is recognised. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
sales commission of HK$7,337,000 was charged to profit or loss (2023:
HK$11,635,000) and included in profit for the year from discontinued
operations.

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits,
deposits with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have
no history of default. The financial assets included in the above balances
were not overdue and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement
of ECLs (2023: except for the balance of HK$14,385,000 which was
categorised within Stage 2 for the measurement of ECLs). Where
applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date by considering the ECLs, which are estimated by applying the
probability of default approach with reference to the risks of default
of the counterparties. As at date of completion of the Distribution in
Specie, the probability of default applied for prepayments, deposits and
other receivables of CAP was 0.7% (2023: ranged from 0.5% to 5.2%) and
the loss given default was estimated to approximately range from 60.1%
t0 63.6% (2023: 59.1% to 63.6%).
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25. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables  25. FHAF#KIH ~ i 45 K H b JE i

(continued) K IH (4)

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of financial FFATERRIE - R e &AM E KR
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as HryemMEERBEFEREBEZD D
follows: T~

At beginning of year REF 751 288
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment WMEER/CREFERZD) -

losses), net F (187) 483
Exchange realignment BE 5 R (16) (20)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon completion 52 B ¥ 2 IR 15 BUH 78 37

of the Distribution in Specie Ff B A & (548) =
At end of year RE R = 751

R RN ERAT
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26. Financial Assets at FVTPL

176

26. ARG AR &l

% E

Financial assets cREE

Unlisted funds, at fair value FEETES  BAFE (a) 15,413 41,638

Listed equity investments, at fair value TTRERE  EAFE (b) 13,340 123

Derivative component of unsecured notes #EEBZE 2 TE T A S 31 - 5,456

Put options Rt B @ = 232

Total st 28,753 47,449

Notes: B 5%

(a) The above unlisted fund investments were mandatorily classified as (a) FHFELFTESREWERE DA
financial assets at FVTPL as their contractual cash flows are not solely REAFTELERAKRZ2®E
payments of principal and interest. E REAERBHERENAGNRS

MEWHFERBERERFE -
The unlisted funds with a fair value of HK$15,413,000 (2023: HK$41,638,000) BRR-_ZE_mMF=RA=+—BZ3¥
as at 31 March 2024 that are determined based on the quoted market prices W E S 2R FE15413,000% T
provided by fund administrators with reference to prices derived from the (ZZ = = F:41,638000% 7t) 1R
over-the-counter market and the fair value of the remaining unlisted funds BRESEEBARBEZABRTE
was determined with reference to valuations performed by CHFT Advisory K2EZRASINZGMIBZEE
and Appraisal Limited, an independent professionally qualified valuer, at “ET HTHEEITESZATE
31 March 2024 and 2023, based on the discounted cash flow model by IR ERBLIEESERME
applying observable inputs including interest rates and the value of the MEHZATEERAFANRE
underlying asset. —MER-ZZE-_=F=ZA=+—H
EREATHEREABE(BRERN
XREBEEBEA)TRRERE
BRI 2 HEE T
At 31 March 2024, no unlisted fund investments that are denominated other RZZE-_MNMF=ZA=+—0 " #&E
than the functional currencies of the respective group entities. ERAEHEEEERINESE N
I EMAEZHEITESKRE -
At 31 March 2023, the unlisted fund investments that are denominated in RZTEZ=F=ZA=+—8"'H
USD, other than the functional currencies of the respective group entities, FREEERDEERUIICZE
amounted to HK$41,638,000. METEZHFELITESRER
41,638,000 7T °

(b)  The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at FVTPL as by LK ELRESPEAREATFEL
the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss through BERARZeREE REAAR
other comprehensive income. SEYEEBELEMEEK SR

RATFEKZSKERE -
() At 31 March 2023, the Group had put options to require the non-controlling (@ RZTEZ=F=ZA=+—H Fx&

shareholder of Kingtex and Jet Success, subjected to certain exercise
conditions, to purchase all equity interests held by the Group in each of
Kingtex and Jet Success and shareholder’s loan granted to each of Kingtex
and Jet Success by the Group at the consideration of all monies that the
Group has paid or advanced to Kingtex and Jet Success.
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27. Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Bank 27. B4 KBl & % HIEH - 2R

Balances and Pledged Deposits

i SRAT 45 B DA B © 3K 40 47 5k

Cash and bank balances Be MIIRITHE &% 114,732 466,068
Time deposits 7E B 17 3K 44,681 106,305
Subtotal NEF 159,413 572,373
Less: Restricted bank balances PR B R 1T 4 B - (12,174)
Pledged deposits [REEE (4,444) (33,496)
Included in assets of a disposal FALHERAREE
company = (834)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBE&ERIER 154,969 525,869

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2023, according to the relevant mortgage facility
agreements signed by certain subsidiaries of the Group with their banks,
the relevant subsidiaries are required to place at designated bank accounts
certain amounts as deposits for potential default of mortgage loans
advanced to property purchasers by the relevant banks. These guarantee
deposits will be released by the relevant banks after the property
ownership certificates of the relevant properties are passed to the property
purchasers.

(b) As at 31 March 2024, the bank balances amounting to HK$4,444,000 (2023:
Nil) were pledged to a bank for bills payables of the Group amounting to
HK$4,444,000 (2023: Nil) (note 29). As at 31 March 2023, the bank balances
amounting to HK$33,496,000 were pledged to a bank to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 32).

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$20,757,000 (2023:
HK$326,267,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposits rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

(a RZEZ=F=A=+—8" &K
AEBETHEBRARELRITE
UZHBEBRERGE 58
BEHBERARAGTN —TE2ERIE
ERITEPIEAKRS - BEBER
TRAAEERRIBERZMEE
RIEHER - ZERESTERS
REEMECEEZFEIMEE
R & B 1H B R AT RRBR ©

by HR-ZZTE-—_mWEFE=A=+—8"
17 45 #:4,444,0000% T(=Z T =
FEERAEBCENER
4,444,000 T (ZTZ=F : &)
H2)EBEF—MERT e R=2F
Z=F=ZA=+—8" - RITEH
33,496,000 7L & F — R 1T
LRERTFAEEZETRITEE
(M 5E32) »

(HI=:

RBERAR REERAARKEFE
Z B & R IRITH 88 520,757,000 7T
(ZZ = =% :326,267000% 7T) « A
REIATEMABRBEMES - &
i AR 4R B A (O BE IR R B
RCHERE SERNEERRE)
AEEAEBEREREIIEED
ZHRITBARBRABEMEY -

RITERBRREEZARITERNE
FREZFENERBRRAL - ST
HERZEFARNF —REXRHE
B BASEZAKRESHERME
I 7 48 78 2 H1 E B 73 AR R R AR A
B ROTEHREEBEFEFEOERR
MHEENESBAEERFZRIT -

SRR ERARAT
T e mery 177
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28. Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Assets
Liabilities of A Disposal Company

178

and

28. BB F R EZE & K
A ZEE & ATE

Assets classified as held for sale PHEABELHEEE
Non-current assets classified as DERAFIELEEERSD
held for sale BE
— Property, plant and equipment —ME BEKEXK (@) 28,828 25,076
— Investment properties — REWE (b) 38,000 =
Assets of a disposal company HERARZEE
- Billion Good — = @ - 71,894
Total @ Et 66,828 96,970
Liabilities of a disposal company HEARZAE
— Billion Good ) (@] - 1,203
Notes: B 5
(a) On 15 March 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement (a) R_ZZ_MFE=A+AHB A&E
with an independent third party to dispose of a property classified as B—2BIFE=FILEEHZ
leasehold land and buildings included in property, plant and equipment DHESBEREE L oW EN
at a consideration of HK$41,000,000. The transaction was completed on 17 REtADE BEREKEBEZETF
May 2024. K {8 A£41,000,000/ T - ZXSE
RZZE-_MEARATEATK -
On 31 March 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement RZZE_=F=ZR=+—H K&
with an independent third party to dispose of a property classified as BE-EZBYE=FATLEEW
leasehold land and buildings included in property, plant and equipment FOUNRESEREELHIZY
at a consideration of HK$66,800,000. The transaction was completed on 30 EURGADE BERRHZEZ
June 2023. F » R 1& 566,800,000 7T ° Z X
SER-T_=F~A=tB=X -
(b)  On 31 January 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement (b)) RZZE-_MFE-R=+-—H X%

with an independent third party to dispose of a property classified as
investment properties at a consideration of HK$38,000,000. The transaction
was completed on 2 May 2024.
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28. Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Assets 28. ¥ AfifEiE2&EAE LT

and Liabilities of A Disposal Company (continued) AWl & E KA )

Notes: (continued) B 5 - (BR)

(©  Billion Good was disposed of during the year ended 31 March 2024. (0 HEREBEE-Z-_NF=A=+-—
Further details of the disposal are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated ALEFEERLE FRLESEHE
financial statements. The assets and liabilities of Billion Good (excluding CE—FHABEREREEMB R
inter-company loans and amounts due from/to group companies which are K39 - HER_T_=F=A
eliminated on consolidation) as at 31 March 2023 are as follows: =E+—BZEERBBEABER

BANBEEYE T EENATE
BB R U A 2 B A ) SR
o

Assets BE
Investment properties KREMHE 71,000
Trade receivables B 5 MWK E 60
Cash and bank balances Re RRITER 834
Assets of a disposal subsidiary classified as held forsale D3 AFIEHEZ LEHBRAREE 71,894
Liabilities BEF
Other payables and accruals Hip BT RIE R ETE R 189
Deferred tax liabilities BREREAR 1,014
Liabilities of a disposal subsidiary classified as DERBEHEZHENBAREGE
held for sale 1,203
Net assets directly associated with HEEWNBAREEREACEEFE
the disposal subsidiary 70,691
At 31 March 2024, the Group’s assets held for sale with an aggregate RZTZZWF=A=+—HB K&
carrying amount of HK$66,828,000 (2023: HK$96,076,000) were pledged R H 42 (& /66,828,000 L (= F
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group. The charges on Z =% :96,076,000 L) 2 HEH &
the Group’s investment properties and property, plant and equipment BEERDEETAEE 2 —RE
classified as held for sale had been released on 2 May 2024 and 17 May TEEELEER -XEESBERE
2024, respectively, upon partial repayment of the related secured bank EHECREMEUNRDE  BE
loans. REZEFRESNN T _MF

RA-BRER-_ZE-_NMERA++RHE
EBROHBEEERRITERERER -

T EHEEERBR AT
TUERAERATD 179
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29. Trade and Bills Payables

180

29. 5 5 Ak sk T B M A 55 R

Trade payables B 5 ENIE 26,463 79,489
Bills payable NS 4,444 -
Total #Et 30,907 79,489

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RBEERREREZAHEIN2EH
JE A~ 3R IR 2 RE AT R B 9 BR iR 9 AT 40
T

Within 1T month &8 A AR 13,817 29,259
1 to 3 months 12318 A 4,234 11,236
Over 3 months but within 6 months HBiB3E AEEeE A UK 1,364 1,117
Over 6 months HBiBofE A 11,492 37,877
Total M 30,907 79,489

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing. The bills payables of
the Group are secured by the Group's bank balances (note 27(b)) and
property, plant and equipment (note 15) and interest-bearing at 2.45%
per annum (2023: Nil). The trade and bills payables have an average term
of 30 to 360 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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30. Other Payables and Accruals/Contract Liabilities ~ 30. 3 fiy B fF 5% 36 K% W5t # A1~
HHRIAM

Receipts in advance T8 U 3k 18 1,118 201,721
Rental and other deposits received BElHEeRkEMES 12,268 102,021
Contract liabilities ERAaE (@ 12,020 175,870
Refund liabilities BHEE 1,194 2,114
Other payables H fth & 1 FOIE (b) 29,773 250,181
Accruals &R 56,430 82,987
Lease liabilities HEERE 17(b) 99,120 117,767
Subtotal INEF 211,923 932,661
Less: Portion classified as non-current WD EAERBEBEE
liabilities b (51,220) (66,403)

Portion classified as current liabilities NEARRDAGEND 160,703 866,258
Represented by: ¥
Contract liabilities ARAaE 12,020 175,870
Current portion of other payables and HENREREFER

accruals Z B E D 148,683 690,388
Portion classified as current liabilities DEARDEESD 160,703 866,258
Notes: B 2
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) EHBEFBRT:

Advances received from customers G-I EY:0F-F ¢
Sale of goods HEED 12,020 9,774 9,240
Sale of properties HEME - 166,096 233,727
Total Felay 12,020 175,870 242,967
Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in relation ARNEAGEEEREETEERRK
to sales of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food products R ME MR TP UK 2R R
and advances from buyers in connection with the Group's pre-sales of EHRAEEREMERBERN
properties. Decrease in contract liabilities during the year was due to the BR-FRAENEBERITARE
sales of properties recognised during the year and the derecognition of the NEBRHEENERTRKEY D
CAP Group upon completion of the Distribution in Specie. REBHERATHEE R EBEA
B o

(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within by EtEMREBERGTS BEE—F

one year. NEEIE ©

RrTE 2 E AR AT



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E o)

31 March 2024 —E-—MF¥=A=+—8H

. SRR R

31. Unsecured Notes

Unsecured Notes 2024, liability component 1% 2024 - 125,189
—ZONFEEERRE BEHS —E-F
On 19 May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term RZZE—WNFEFRA+NAB #ER

note program. The notes issued under the program were listed on the
Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only. The
interest on the notes was payable annually in arrears at the interest rate
of 1% per annum.

CAP issued 40 batches of notes with a total principal amount of
HK$400,000,000 which bore interest at 1% per annum in 2014 (the
“Unsecured Notes 2024"). The original maturity date of the entire
Unsecured Notes 2024 would be matured on 30 September 2024.

Details of the Unsecured Notes 2024 are as follows:

Redemption period by CAP: Three specified redemption dates from 31
December 2023 to 30 June 2024

Redemption amount on the maturity date: 96.85% of the principal
amount

CAP had repurchased and cancelled the Unsecured Notes 2024 in
an aggregate principal amount of HK$250,000,000 in prior years. As
at 31 March 2023, a principal amount of HK$150,000,000 remained
outstanding.

During the year and before the completion of the Distribution in
Specie, CAP repurchased and cancelled the Unsecured Notes 2024 in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$150,000,000 (2023: HK$140,000,000).

The interest expenses on the Unsecured Notes 2024 were calculated
using the effective interest method by using the effective interest rate
of 11.1% per annum.
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31. Unsecured Notes (continued) 31, IR IR w0
The fair value of the unsecured notes had been split into the liability and EEBZEZATFERVIAERE
derivative components at initial recognition and their movements are as ERORBERITEIARNS - H
follows: BEmMT

At 1 April 2022 R-ZEBE__FMMA—H 219,497 (9,849) 209,648
Accretion of interest RIEFE 19,826 = 19,826
Interest paid [RENEIPSS (1,898) S (1,898)
Early redemption REER (112,236) 4,755 (107,481)
Fair value gain NS R = (362) (362)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZEZ=F=HA=+—H

;r—E-_=FmMA—H 125,189 (5,456) 119,733
Accretion of interest Z2IEHE 8,848 - 8,848
Interest paid [RENEIESS (924) = (924)
Early redemption REED (133,113) 2,677 (130,436)
Fair value loss NEEEE - 2,779 2,779
At 31 March 2024 RZZTZWEFE=A=+—H - - -

I EEEERARAT
WERELERERS 183
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32. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 32. wHE SRAT B At £

Current:
RE:
Bank loans — secured HIBOR+(1.6t02)  On demand/ 165,416 HIBOR+(1.08t0 2)/  On demand/ 534,481
2024-2025 RMB base lending ~ 2023-2024
rate+(0 to 1.05)/Fixed
rate of 147 t0 7.35
ROER—FER ERRTRAEREy REBERXE/ BEROTRAEREL HNEEZRE/
(1.6EZ2E) =—Z-m%Z (108EZ2E)/ ZT-=%%
ZEChE ARBEEERF R+ —T-MF
OEZEI0SE)/E%
Fx147B Z735E
Long-term bank loans repayable on HIBOR+1.6  On demand 19,333 HIBOR+(1.65t02)  On demand 74210
demand — secured
RBRTER REEEXE FRATAERE+ REEZRE ERRIRAERET REETRE
BE—HHER 1.6E (165EZ2E)
Other loan — unsecured N/A  N/A - Fixed rate of 730 2023 5699
EnER— BER T#ER TER EATHx730E =—T==F
Subtotal 184,749 614,390
N
Non-current:
Eik
Bank loans — secured HIBOR+1.8  2025-2026 276,200 HIBOR+ (1.08t0 1.56)/  2024-2029 907,272
RMB base lending
rate+1.05/
Fixed rate of 7.35
RITER—BER ERRTAERE+ —T-1%Z ERERTAERE+ —E-REZR
18E Z—B-XE (L08EZE156E)/ ZFZNF
ARBEEEGHF %
+1.05E /B e Fl%
735E
Subtotal 276,200 907,272
Pt
Total 460,949 1,521,662
&3t
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32. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings  32. #t& 847 & H A4 £ ()

(continued)

Analysed into: "W A:
Bank loans repayable: RTIFHERZRITER:
Within one year or on demand —F AR B R
(Note (a)) (B 3% @) 184,749 608,691
In the second year E-F 13,600 213,781
In the third to fifth years, FE=-FZAF
inclusive (BIEERME) 262,600 672,976
Beyond five years RENUE - 20,515
Subtotal NeEF 460,949 1,515,963
Other loan repayable: RTINFHER EMER:
Within one year —FR - 5,699
Total #E 460,949 1,521,662
Notes: i
(a) As further explained in note 47 to the financial statements, the Group's term (a N OBY R R R M RE4VET #E — &
loans with an aggregate amount of HK$29,000,000 (2023: HK$120,681,000) B2 A% B 2% 529000000
containing an on-demand clause have been classified as current liabilities BT (ZF = =% :120,681,000%
of which HK$9,667,000 (2023: HK$46,471,000) are repayable within one year TIZEHERH AR EEERE
based on the respective loan agreements. For the purpose of the above BREF BE2EARATHARE
analysis, the loans are included within current interest-bearing bank and H H19,667,0008 T(Z T = =4
other borrowings and analysed into bank and other borrowings repayable 46,471,000 7T) R E = B W E X
within one year or on demand. MEBEAR-—FRAEE - LD
MmE  ZEERFARBDALR
TREMEERN  TR—-FRAR
RERERREE ZRITREM
EEEITDHN -
At the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of interest-bearing RBEBHR FERTREAME
bank and other borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set ERBERBHEME ZTEER
out in the loan agreements is as follows: HHE D2 B BMEAARNT
Bank loans repayable: RTHNERERZFTER:
Within one year —F R 165,416 534,481
In the second year FoF 23,267 224,241
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EZZRFBREEERE) 272,266 736,726
Beyond five years RFEMNUE - 20,515
Subtotal INEE 460,949 1,515,963
Other loan repayable: RTHNEHERAMER:
Within one year —F R - 5,699
Total w@Et 460,949 1,521,662
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32. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(continued)

186

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group's property,
plant and equipment (note 15), owned investment properties and certain
rental income generated therefrom (note 16), financial assets at FVTOCI
(note 19), properties held for sale (note 21), pledged deposits (note 27),
assets classified as held for sale (note 28) and the equity interests in certain
subsidiaries of the Company (note 1).

As at 31 March 2024, all bank loans of the Group bear interest at floating
interest rates (2023: except for bank loans of HK$204,267,000 and other
loan of HK$5,699,000 which bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear
interest at floating interest rates).

The carrying amounts of the Group's bank and other borrowings which are
denominated in the following currencies are as follows:

32.

il R AT B S Ath £ 8 ()

(b)

(0)

(d)

2

s ()

AEEETRITERNALEH
ZWE - BEREE M ES) M
BEREMERAEELAZETHE
ERAGIFEIS)  BAFELH
thzERE ARz emEE (M
9 HEHEWEME2D B
ERFERME27) 2 BERFHED
EZEE(MEB)RNRARRET
P 2 A1) e S 4 (BT ) RS9 -

RZTE-_mWE=ZA=Z+—H8" &
SERMARTEXRHUFHA
RHFB(CE_=ZF BETE
204,267,000 T &k H # B &
5,699,000 7t Jb 1% & & F & &+ 2
S FRARITERAUEEF KT

B)e

AEEUTIEEHEZRTR
Httfe B2 BREENT

HKS BT 460,949 961,701
RMB AR® = 559,961
Total #at 460,949 1,521,662

The agreements governing the bank loans of the Group contain conditions
and events of default customary for such financings. Certain bank loans
amounting to HK$276,200,000 (2023: HK$248,717,000) which were classified
as non-current liabilities as at the end of the reporting period also
contain financial covenants including leverage ratios, loan-to-value ratio,
minimum consolidated tangible net worth and minimum interest reserve
requirements with respective applicable test dates of each year until
maturity. The Group has complied with the covenants under the relevant
facility agreements as at 31 March 2024.
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33. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are

as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

33. EHEHLIH

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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FRAERCEHBAEEREEZEDMN

™

EEBHAE

At 31 March 2022 R-Z--F=fA=1+-H - 33912 512,780 124,623 671,315
Effect of adoption of amendments to RREBGHENER 2B

HKAS 12 (note 2.2(d)) Kz g2 (HE220) 4,368 - - - 4,368
At 1 April 2022 (restated) RZF-—FNMA-RAEES) 4,368 33912 512,780 124,623 675,683
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) & — R B 2 A (R 339) - o) - - ©)
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FRARBHRRFAZELHE

during the year (restated) (mE5) 716 (6,205) (10,439) (10,146) (26,074)
Exchange realignment (restated) EXAE(EEY) (328) - (30,495) (19,121) (49,944)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

(restated)

(B E3)) 4,756 27,698 471,846 95,356 599,656

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) & — BB A & (B E39) - (2,065) - - (2,065)
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FARBHERIAZEEHRE

during the year (3,160) (2,247) (21,773) 20,258 (6,922)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon TRENA RKEBAER

completion of the Distribution in WEAR

Specie (1,393) - (437,991) (112,772) (552,156)
Exchange realignment ERAE (153) - (12,082) (2,842) (15,077)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZZEZME=A=+—-A2

31 March 2024 EEHEARLE 50 23,386 - - 23,436
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33. Deferred Tax (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are

as follows: (continued)

Deferred tax assets

33. ¥EREBEIH ()

FREEHRBREREEZEBHMT
(%&)

EEBHREE

At 31 March 2022 RZF-—f=fA=+-A - 28,861 48 155 29,064
Effect of adoption of amendments to RREBGHENER 2B

HKAS 12 (note 2.2(d)) Kz H2(HH22d) 4,368 - - = 4368
At 1 April 2022 (restated) WZZZ_FWA-R(KEF) 4,368 28,861 48 155 33432
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) & — R B 2 A (i 339) - o) - - ©)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profitor  ERREBHERA/(GIK) ZE

loss during the year (restated) ERE(EEF) 716 7,193 - (108) 7,801
Exchange realignment (restated) EXAB(EES]) (328) - - - (328)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 ZE-ZEZA=1+-BR=

(restated) F=FWA-A(KES) 4,756 36,045 48 47 40,896
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) HE—RM B AR (M E39) - (1,051) - - (1,051)
Derecognition of subsidiaries upon TRENHRATHERNE

completion of the Distribution in NG|

Specie (4,726) (4,768) = = (9,494)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profitor  £RRBRRFA/(HIKB) 2

loss during the year BEHE 140 9,335 - 4 9,479
Exchange realignment EHAE (120) 49 - - (71)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2024 RZZZMF=A=+—-HZ

EEHEEELE 50 39,610 48 51 39,759

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for
financial reporting purposes:

MEWMBMME ATELEHEE
ERABEEESEAMBMRAETAE
85 o AT A AN 5 B /Y IR S B IR A R
R BHMEAWMSIELBDH

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the REFEEHMBARRARANEREIR

consolidated statement of financial position ERIBEEFE 17,685 11,633
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the Rir & BRI RAERD

consolidated statement of financial position EHBEBFE (1,362) (569,379)
Net deferred tax liabilities included in a disposal st AEERR ZELEF EEE

company (note 28) F 88 (B 5£28) - (1,014)
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ELERBEBEE (BF)FHE 16,323 (558,760)
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33. Deferred Tax (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of HK$802,816,000 (2023: HK$902,952,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. Except for tax losses of
HK$240,061,000 (2023: HK$218,455,000) which have been recognised
as deferred tax assets, deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the remaining amount of HK$562,755,000 (2023:
HK$684,497,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
Group also has unused tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland and Macau
with an aggregate amount of HK$51,341,000 (2023: HK$336,765,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Except for tax losses of HK$403,000 (2023: HK$403,000) which
have been recognised as deferred tax assets, deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of the remaining amount of
HK$50,938,000 (2023: HK$336,362,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 10% (2023: 5% to 10%). The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2024, there was no significant temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised.

At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$336,832,000. In the opinion of the Company’s
directors, the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference and, accordingly, the Group has taken into
consideration, among others, the probability the temporary difference
being reversed in the foreseeable future, and recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable in the foreseeable future on distribution
of unremitted earnings by the Company’s subsidiaries established in
Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

B4 5 e % B wE )
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33. EAEBEIHE (1)

REEHR XEBEREBELE
7 A& BB ® A 18 A802,816,000
B or(Z T = = :902,952,000%8
o) AEREABEEELEREBE
ZRBZARKERB HF - BRI IB
&5 $8240,061,0008 T(ZE = =4 :
218,455,000/ 7t) E R & IE L 18
BEMN BRRREFKRETAE
FF 0 B R B B &R B8 49562,755,000
BT (Z T Z = F 6844970008
TBRBELEHRIEELEE - KK ER
ERPEARMERRFEAZRE A
jFR HERES /\51 341 OOO/% TE(— =
— =% :336,765,0007% JT) - A A 1E
IR RERB EF - AR —
HE RN E M o B B I8 & #8403,000
B (Z T = =4 : 403,000 ) 2
ﬁi%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ' R 2R

m ) ROJR S AT FE B - B R B B ER
%ﬁ #950,938,000% T(Z T = = F:
336,362,000/ Jt) #E RIE & T H &
7 o

BEFBECEMESHE RPBERA
MY ZHEREEREINE
BEEIR 2B BEM10%MH E
B MPRERNBEBINEEERE
AR ARBIKL - BIA] g
%ff%wmioﬁmﬁlﬁm

HAMEARION (ZTEZ=F 5%=
10%) - At AEBAgp@EHERSP
BAK I ZHBARRE-ZEE
NE—A—BERE4AZEADIKZ
BB BB o

RZE-_MF=ZA=+—H HE
AREHAERETCHBAG S
BEfBARIZIREABZE XY K
EEE o

RZEBEZ=F=ZA=+—0 EBiEX
ﬁiLLﬁEEFZ¢IWMW§

REAIZREBHZERZEAH/Y
#3336,832,0008 7T - A A A EFR
R ARTREEGBEQEREEZ
R Bt AEBCEB(EFE
EONAIA R R RBOERZHZA
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NERCAE i ia vl )= NI
EELAZANDBERELBNE
HMRERZRRENENMAEH -

ENNCIE RS BN @ik
EAMEREZE -

(SRR ERARAR
“z-mesy 189



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E o)

31 March 2024 —Z W& =A=+—H

34. Share Capital 34. KA

Shares B’ 13

190

Authorised: JETE
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 60,000,000,0000% & A% 0.017%
each TZEBR 600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER:
1,171,102,888 (31 March 2023: 1,204,642,888) 1,171,102,888& (=&
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each Z=%=ZRA=+—81:
1,204,642,8880% ) & f%0.01
Bz EimRk 11,711 12,046
During the year, the movements in the share capital and share premium FA ARAREARKRDEERZ
account of the Company were summarised as follows: BEBAmT

At 1 April 2022 RZE-ZZFMA—A 1,231,642,888 12,316 2,106,799 2,119,115
Cancellation of shares repurchased (Note (i) & $52 B B 4 (M 3£ () (27,000,000) (270) (9,690) (9,960)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZF-Z=F=A=+-BR=%
—=f#mA—-A 1,204,642,888 12,046 2,097,109 2,109,155
Cancellation of shares repurchased (Note (i) # $52 BB 4 (M 3£ () (33,540,000) (335) (14,393) (14,728)
Share premium reduction (Note (i) BIRL AR 1 3% 1B (M 3 i) - - (950,000) (950,000)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=+—-A 1,171,102,888 11,711 1,132,716 1,144,427
Notes: o AE
(i) The Company repurchased 33,540,000 (31 March 2023: 27,000,000) of its 0] FRNARAREZAEGDE
shares on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of HK$14,728,000 (31 33,540,000 (= & = = F = A
March 2023: HK$9,960,000) during the year. The repurchased shares were =+ —H :27000,0000%) i% 15 - 42
cancelled during these years. RIEH14,728000B T (ZTE-=F

= A=+ —H:9960,000% ) °
EBEROHNZSFEDEITH -

(ii) Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company (i) BEAATBREARZT-_NFE=A
at the special general meeting held on 7 March 2024, an amount of +tHBRTHOREFIASLEB
HK$950,000,000 standing to the credit of the Share Premium Account was WERRFER  BREBEQREF46
reduced in accordance with section 46 of the Companies Act and Bye-law 16 B X A 4B B S 6 16 - HIRURR 19 08
6 of the Bye-laws and that the credit arising therefrom be transferred to the BER 2 E R $%950,000,000% 7T -
contributed surplus account. WHAMEEANERERAETRR

Share options B IR A

Details of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note 35 to ARRzBERESE 2FEH NG

the financial statements. R 35 -
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35. Share Option Scheme

The Company’s Share Option Scheme

On 22 August 2013, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“2013 Scheme”). The 2013 Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years from that day, unless otherwise terminated earlier by shareholders
in a general meeting.

Following the expiry of the 2013 Scheme during the year ended 31
March 2024, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“2023 Scheme”) on 22 August 2023. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after
a vesting period of one to three years and ends on a date which is not
later than five years from the date of offer of the share options or the
expiry date of the 2023 Scheme, if earlier.

The 2023 Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the 2023 Scheme, share options may be granted to any
Director or proposed Director, employee or proposed employee, of
the Company or its subsidiaries or any Director or proposed Director,
employee or proposed employee of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Group to let them subscribe
for shares in the Company at a consideration equal to the higher of the
closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange at
the date of offer of grant, the average closing price of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options and the nominal value of the
shares of the Company.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date of grant,
upon payment of HK$1. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of grant of the share options up to the tenth anniversary of the
date of grant as determined by the directors at their discretion.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which
options may be granted, when aggregated with any other share option
scheme of the Company, shall not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time excluding any shares issued
upon the exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2023 Scheme.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2023 Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the 2023 Scheme limit or as refreshed from time
to time.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to an eligible person under the 2023 Scheme within any 12-month
period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the number of shares of the
Company in issue at any time.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not have
a past practice of cash settlement for these share options. The Group
accounts for the 2023 Scheme as an equity-settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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35. Share Option Scheme (continued)

192

The Company’s Share Option Scheme (continued)
No share option has been granted till 31 March 2024 since the adoption
of the 2023 Scheme and 2013 Scheme.

There were no share options granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

There was no share-based payment recognised during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

CAP’s Share Option Scheme

CAP adopted a share option scheme (the "“CAP 2022 Scheme”)
with the approval of the shareholders of CAP at the annual general
meeting of CAP held on 26 August 2022 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives and recognition to eligible participants (the “CAP
Participants”) to take up options for their contribution or potential
contribution to the CAP and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “"CAP Group”) with the same terms as the share option scheme (the
“CAP 2012 Scheme”) adopted by CAP on 3 May 2012.

CAP Participants include directors of the CAP Group, including
independent non-executive directors and employees, who work for any
member of the CAP Group and/or any person or entity that provides
services to any member of the CAP Group. The CAP 2022 Scheme
became effective on 26 August 2022 and will remain in force for a
period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.

Under the CAP 2022 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP (the “CAP
Board") may grant share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe
for the Shares. The offer of a grant of share options must be accepted
by the relevant CAP Participants within 14 days after the date of grant
upon payment of a consideration of HKS1 for each lot of share options
granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the CAP Board and
shall not be less than the highest of:

(@)  the official closing price of the shares of CAP as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily

quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

() the nominal value of a share of CAP.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

35. Share Option Scheme (continued)

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the CAP 2022 Scheme, the maximum number of shares
in CAP in respect of which options may be granted when aggregated
with any other share option scheme of CAP is not permitted to exceed
995,306,782 shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of CAP as at the date of this report. Subject to the approval of the
Shareholders of CAP at general meeting, the CAP Board may refresh the
limit at any time to 10% of the total number of CAP’s shares in issue as
at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares of CAP which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the CAP 2022 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
CAP at any time shall not exceed 30% of CAP’s shares in issue from time
to time.

The number of shares of CAP in respect of which options may be
granted to the CAP Participants in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of CAP’s shares in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders
of CAP or independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any of their
respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of CAP’s shares in issue and
with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved
in advance by the CAP’s shareholders. There is no specific requirement
that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be
exercised but the CAP Board is empowered to impose at its discretion
any such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.
The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined
by the CAP Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be
exercised for a period of more than ten years from the date of grant.

During the year and up to the completion date of the Distribution in
Specie, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the CAP 2022 Scheme.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not have
a past practice of cash settlement for these share options. The Group
accounts for the CAP 2022 Scheme as an equity-settled plan.
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35. Share Option Scheme (continued)

194

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the CAP 2012
Scheme during the year:

35.

Ji I HE S ) ()

Bl E iz BB R B ()
BREXTETHE AERN YR K
BENBRARGLEER -

RERERES T ——FHE
AT BB O 45 9 4 R AT £

At beginning of year REH] 0.118 211,000 0.118 226,000
Lapsed during the year RER KK 0.118 (50,000) 0118 (15,000)
Derecognition of subsidiaries 52X & ¥ 2 K 1 EUH 78 32

upon the completion of the B 8~ =1 (B 3E13)

Distribution in Specie

(note 13) 0.118 (161,000) N/A I iE A
At end of year REF R N/A REH - 0.118 211,000

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding under the CAP 2012 Scheme as at 31 March 2023 are as
follows:

2023

MR-B-=#=A=+-A+HE
ER-T——Fi8EFHRTHE
ZHBREZTEERTESNT

—= — =

S

42,200 0.118
42,200 0.118
42,200 0.118
42,200 0.118
42,200 0.118

Total 11,000

mEt

* The exercise price of the share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme is

subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar
changes in CAP's share capital.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

35. Share Option Scheme (continued)

36.

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

The fair value of the share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme granted
during the year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$21,915,000 (HK$0.097
each), of which the Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$3,838,000 (2023: HKS$4,646,000) during the year ended 31 March

2024.

Reserves

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 76 and 77 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares issued and the consideration received, which is
governed by the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued ordinary
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group
reorganisation in 1995.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the credits arising from the
capital reduction effected by the Company less the amount
utilised for the purpose of the bonus issue of shares by the
Company, and the amount transferred from share premium less
the amount utilised for the Distribution in Specie.

Reserve funds
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Chinese Mainland,
a portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in Chinese
Mainland has been transferred to the reserve funds which are
restricted to use.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the amounts of
consideration paid and the net assets of the entities acquired by
the Group under business combinations under common control.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the amounts
of net consideration and the carrying values of non-controlling
interests acquired or disposed of.

B4 5 e % B Rk o)
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35.

36.

Ji I HE S ) ()
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37. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material 37, #fy 5 K Ik ¥ R HE 45 2 38 4

196

Non-Controlling Interests i A B R 2w
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling BEERFEREZ ZANEENE
interests are set out below: NAEAFEBERALDT

Percentage of equity interest held by FERERFAZRERS L
non-controlling interests:
CAP FERER - 46.63%

Profit for the year shared by non-controlling FEPEIRIE = DG 2 ANFE s A

interests 19,249 23,815
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RMEBHPRERERIEETR

interests of CAP at the reporting date w2 Rt - 1,334,437
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of TRELTBEREREB MK E
the CAP Group which was classified as discontinued operations in the BRAEEGEMBRERS>BEAE
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The amounts disclosed RIECEEBIBRE BRBEZSER
are before any inter-company eliminations: MBREMARMEEAN S8

Revenue for the year NFE W = 553,973 562,830
Profit/(loss) for the year NEEHF(EE) 19,334 (5,532)
Other comprehensive loss for the year REEHMEEEE (50,346) (238,497)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEREHEEEER (31,012) (244,029)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBMEZREREFE 161,473 64,076
Net cash flows used in investing activities BEEMACReRE FHE (30,896) (11,069)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEFHFACESRERE (194,013) (145,637)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RekReFRMBAM D FE (63,436) (92,630)

Current assets mENE E - 1,987,239
Non-current assets IEREBEE - 3,041,379
Current liabilities mEBaE - (1,076,262)
Non-current liabilities B aE - (1,764,144)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

38. Acquisition of Subsidiaries that are not

Businesses

For the year ended 31 March 2024

On 8 September 2023, the Group entered into two sale and purchase
agreements with Viva Action Ltd and Shining Sun Developments
Limited, indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wang On Properties
Limited ("WOP”, a 75% owned subsidiary of Wang On) in respect of the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Success Vision and Nice
Treasure and shareholder’s loans of Success Vision and Nice Treasure
owed to WOP at a total consideration of HK$78,444,000 as adjusted
based on the net asset value of the Success Vision and Nice Treasure as
at the date of completion on 25 October 2023 and 15 November 2023,
respectively. Success Vision and Nice Treasure are principally engaged
in property investment in Hong Kong. The transactions constituted
connected transactions of the Group.

The above acquisitions have been accounted for by the Group as
acquisitions of assets as the entities acquired by the Group do not
constitute a business.

The net assets acquired by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024 are as follows:

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

38. JEE T Z R 2w

BE-EZ-_ME=A=1+—HILEE

RZZE_=FAANE XEEH
REWEARAB(EREE] B
TR T75% 2 MY BB~ ) 6 A fE
2 & W B QA Viva Action Ltd &
Shining Sun Developments Limited
AIYMMmEERE A AMKE
BMERMNBZ2HEHETREAER
BERNBERELHENRRE
W BB /78,444,000 T - KW
ERANBRETXKBBRSN_T_=
FH+AZ+HEARZZ-_=F+—A
THEEZEEFERAE - BEHRF
EXE2EERERTYVERE - ZFE
RHOBRAEENBERS -

HRAKERBBRT FAERE
B BAKRER LK BEFENE
ERBARK -

(Z_T_NF=A=1+—HILFE
AEBUBzEEFENT:

Net assets acquired: i EEFE:
Property, plant and equipment WE- - BERSE 37,100 - 37,100
Investment properties BEYE 6,700 35,000 41,700
Other receivables H fh fE W k1B 65 5 70
Bank balances HRIT7 4 B4 8 312 320
Other payables and accruals HENRERESER (496) (250) (746)
Total w@ar 43,377 35,067 78,444
Satisfied by: HERN:
Cash Be 43,377 35,067 78,444

SRR ERARAT
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38. Acquisition of Subsidiaries that are not

39.

198

Businesses (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (continued)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions of Success

Vision and Nice Treasure is as follows:

38. FEFEBEZ B A wIBOE ()

BE-ZE-E=A=+—HILFE (H)
FBRRERFRIBZRSAED
T :

Cash consideration ReRE (43,377) (35,067) (78,444)
Bank balances acquired I U B8R 17 45 #4 8 312 320
Net outflows of cash and cash FAFAREEH2ES

equivalents included in cash flows MEZREEREER

from investing activities for the year HEREFE (43,369) (34,755) (78,124)
Transaction costs of the acquisitions FAKEEB 2 BHERE

included in cash flows from operating 2 W X B K AR

activities (478) (455) (933)
Total @5t (43,847) (35,210) (79,057)
Disposal of Subsidiaries 39. HHHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Details of the net assets of the subsidiaries disposed of during the
current year, other than the derecognition of subsidiaries upon

completion of the Distribution in Specie

as set out in note 13 to the

financial statements, and the financial impacts are summarised below:

HE-Z-NF=A=1+-HLFE
RAFEHEZWE QR (MK REK
MY FET3PT B ST A E Y 0 IR 1R BUK R
RMBARBKINNBEEFEFER
MBFERRNT

Net assets disposed of: FtEzEEFME:

Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 15 - 100,923 100,923

Investment properties wAE Y 16 71,000 - 71,000

Trade receivables B 5 WK IE 9 - 9

Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEAE 33 (1,014) - (1,014)
Subtotal INEF 69,995 100,923 170,918
Professional fees and expenses BEBRARAX 1,431 2,439 3,870
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZEIE 6 (2,665) (3,233) (5,898)
Total consideration HBRE 68,761 100,129 168,890
Satisfied by: wEIH

Cash R&e 68,761 100,129 168,890

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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39. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 39. HiHFRE 2 v o)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 (continued) BE-Z-OF=A=+—HLFE (H)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposals of Billion Good FHRLERERREZRERESD
and Oriental Sino is as follows: W :

Cash consideration ReRE 68,761 100,129 168,890
Professional fees and expenses paid ENEEERLAX (1,431) (2,439) (3,870)
Net inflows of cash and cash equivalents FhHEMHB AR ZHE S K
in respect of the disposal of ReEREARA
subsidiaries F 8 67,330 97,690 165,020
Notes: B 5L
(@  On 19 June 2023, the Group disposed of its entire equity interests in Billion @ RZZEZ=FXA+hB x£E
Good, a then indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which M—EBILE=ZFHERRAER
was holding an investment property in Hong Kong, together with the MEEZENBARKS(BE—
shareholder’s loan owed by Billion Good to the Group to an independent BEEREME )22 HRE &
third party at an aggregate consideration of HK$68,761,000. FHREARETEENRRER -

# R {B R68,761,000% 7T °

(b)  On 14 March 2024, the Group disposed of its entire equity interests in by RZZ-WF=ZA+HB - ££E
Oriental Sino, a then indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, M—EBBLE=ZFLEERARER
which was holding a property, plant and equipment in Hong Kong, WEE2EMNBRRARE(REE
together with the shareholder’s loan owed by Oriental Sino to the BHWE BERRMHB) 22K
Group to an independent third party at an aggregate consideration of e BRRELHRAEENRE
HK$100,129,000. B 208 5100,129,0008 7T °

SR PR RAT
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39. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

200

For the year ended 31 March 2023

On 22 March 2023, the Group disposed of its entire equity interests
in Sino Fame, which was holding an investment property in Hong
Kong, together with the shareholder’s loan owed by Sino Fame to the
Group to an independent third party at an aggregate consideration of
HK$48,416,000.

Details of the net assets of the subsidiary disposed of during the current
year and the financial impacts are summarised below:

39. HME B A @)

BE-ZE-_==A=t+—-RAILEE
RZZEZ=F=ZA=+=H x5H
M— BB E=FHERFGEFE—
BEBREME) 22 HRE  ER
EABRAEENRRER  BR
8 548,416,000/ 7T °

REAFEREZHEARNEEFE
HERMBEERLLT

Net assets disposed of: FTEECEEFE:

Investment property wEME 16 48,800

Other payables and accruals HMENREREFER (384)
Subtotal NEE 48,416
Professional fees and expenses HEERAKAX 1,769
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBRARZERE 6 (1,769)
Total consideration BRE 48,416
Satisfied by: HEERN

Cash RE 48,416

An analysis of the net inflows of cash and cash equivalents for the year
in respect of the disposal of Sino Fame is as follows:

FARLEGEFZRERRSER
BRARAFEZOFTMT

Cash consideration ReRE 48,416
Professional fees and expenses paid EXNEEBEARMAX (1,769)
Net inflows of cash and cash equivalents in respect of HEEMBRARZR S MRS EFEE

the disposal of subsidiaries mAEEE 46,647

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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40. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows

(a)

Major non-cash transactions
The Group has the following major non-cash transactions during
the year:

0

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group distributed
the CAP Shares with a consolidated net asset value of
HK$810,956,000 and Wang On Shares with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$58,333,000 as at the completion
date of the Distribution in Specie to the shareholders of the
Company and further details are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to lease
liabilities, right-of-use assets included in property, plant and
equipment and investment properties of HK$79,112,000,
HK$61,494,000 and HK$10,001,000 (2023: lease liabilities,
right-of-use assets included in property, plant and
equipment and investment properties of HK$68,135,000,
HK$65,434,000 and HK$2,881,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for leasehold land and buildings.

40. %A Bl e B R EE

(a)

TEFRERS
AEBFAZEIEZFRERS
mE

(i)

(i)

T EHERZERBRAR

HE-_Z-_WMF=A
=+t-—HLEHEE K&
EREKEYDIKAH
MARARRDIRES
& % 18810,956,000/%
THFRREERKRNO R
B T 48 {8 /358,333,000
TMERRD  FEH
R RS -

FR-AEERBEEL
whkBFZHERHER
HEBE stAWE.
BELRBZEBEE
ENRBREMEZIFR
TN E 2 B £79,112,000
B JT > 61,494,000 T
110,001,000% (= =
= HEAE &
AME BEERREZ
EREEEALRKED
% 9 5l %®68,135000/%
JT * 65,434,000 T K
2,881,000 7T) °
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40. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (continued)

40. A B SR EEXMEE @)

METHEEZEERY

(b) Changesin liabilities arising from financing activities (b)

202

At 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-_—_FMA—H 1,461,665 123,052 219,497
Changes from financing cash MEREREZD

flows 102,042 (62,517) (97,835)
Additions arising from new leases ¥z EEL ZARE - 65,254 =
Additions arising from lease BN EYMEHREES

modification for sub-leased ZRNE

properties = 2,881 =
Revision of a lease term arising HEE AT HPREESHMm

from a change in the non- ExzHBE

cancellable period of a lease - (10,527) -
Other lease modification HihBEEFT = (2,362) -
Interest expense B - 4,423 19,826
Gain on early redemption of REBOEEMRZER

unsecured notes & - - (16,299)
COVID-19-related rent A BT R A BT AL AR

concessions from lessors =R A B

HeRE® = (774) =
Foreign exchange movement HNE R B) (42,045) (1,663) -
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZE=Z=F=HA=+—H
E—ZE-_=FMA—H 1,521,662 117,767 125,189

Changes from financing cash MERSRELH

flows (111,228) (70,501) (119,250)
Additions arising from new leases ¥zl FHEEEX 2R E - 69,111 -
Additions arising from lease BIDHEMEREEE

modification for sub-leased NE

properties - 10,001 -
Interest expense MERHX - 6,174 8,848
Gain on early redemption of REBOEEMERZ K H

unsecured notes - - (14,787)
Elimination of intercompany loan $f$4i2EFHPBERERZ

to CAP AR E R 380,000 - -
Derecognition of subsidiaries TEKE W) 9 Ik 18 BUE HE R

upon completion of the Bt /& 2 &1 (B 513)

Distribution in Specie (note 13) (1,314,513) (32,869) -
Foreign exchange movement SN K & (14,972) (563) -
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_E=RA=+—H 460,949 99,120 -

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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40. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (continued)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash
flows is as follows:

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E )

31 March 2024 ZZE—mF =/ =+—H

40. B &0 2 LM EE @)

() HERERHAR
SARERERZEERER
M

Within operating activities REXE (7,631) (8,550)

Within financing activities BEED (70,501) (62,517)

Total #E (78,132) (71,067)
41. EEKM

41. Pledge of Assets

Details of the Group'’s assets pledged for the Group's trade and bills
payables and bank loans are included in notes 29 and 32 to the financial
statements.

42. Commitments

(@)

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

RAEEEZRNRARENRE
EROTBEREERNAIEBEES
BE N MAR M FE29%32 -

42, &

@ RMBEEHR AEEBZEHE
BT

Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 2,555 6,948
Properties under development BERPYE - 20,738
Properties held for sale BHIEHEME - 789
Investment properties wEME - 167,625
Total BEr 2,555 196,100

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has various lease contracts that
have not yet commenced. The future lease payments for these
non-cancellable lease contracts are HK$1,566,725 due within one
year and HK$4,866,295 due in the second to fifth years, inclusive as
at 31 March 2023.

by R-—T-_=F=R=+—8"
AEBBEZEBEAN AR
BeRZBEZ=F=ZA=+—
B ZE5 AaElEEe0s
R R & A 51,566,725 7T R
—F N B # 124,866,295 T R
FE_EnF(BRERMF)
H o

{1 7T B PRI IR A
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43. Related Party Transactions

(@) Transactions with related parties
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the year:

43. BT R 5

(a) EHEEBLIZXS
BzEPBHRELSsFa
2RI NEBRF AR
BHETUNTERRS

Wang On and its subsidiaries (other REREKB AR

than the Group) (R & BB SN

— Rental income earned by — AEEHRzHES
the Group* L A

- Management fees incurred by —REEELEZ
the Group ERE

- Interest income earned by — RNEBRIR ZHE
the Group KA

- Finance income on net — MR EFEL
investments in subleases B 75 W A

- Sales of pharmaceutical products — AEEEEER”
by the Group*

— Acquisition of subsidiaries** — W B AR

— Recognition of right-of-use assets ~ — #& R i M (& 3 1
for wet markets* BE*

— Interest expense on a loan —FREEELXZE
incurred by the Group RSB X

Associates iR /N

- Rental income earned by — AEERRzHS
the Group WA

- Management and promotion fees ~ — A& EHE &2
earned by the Group BEREMEE

- Sales of Chinese pharmaceutical — AEEHERE
products by the Group Em

- Finance income on net —DHEREFRZ
investments in subleases BB I

(viii)

- 925
359 39
39,484 39,461
= 79
3,158 4,662
78,444 997
- 9,644

= 2378
2,152 1,702
1,116 1,099
34,199 36,866
136 166

These related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

** These related party transactions also constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

204 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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43. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(a)

Transactions with related parties (continued)

Notes:

(iii)

(vi)

The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties.

The interest income was earned on loans advanced to CAP and
Wang On. Details of the terms of the relevant loans are set out in
note 24 to the financial statements.

The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with two
fellow subsidiaries in respect of the sub-licensing of office premises.
The aggregate amount of rent payable by the fellow subsidiaries
under the sub-licensing agreement was HK$619,000 per month,
which was determined with reference to terms mutually agreed
between the Group and the fellow subsidiaries. The agreements
were expired during the prior year.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the sales to the related parties
were made according to the published prices and conditions that
the Group offered to its customers, of which HK$1,383,000 (2023:
HK$1,467,000) of the sales of pharmaceutical products by the Group
were made to the CAP Group.

On 8 September 2023, the Group entered into shares transfer
agreements with certain fellow subsidiaries of the Group to acquire
100% equity interests in each of Success Vision and Nice Treasure
together with the shareholder’s loans at a total consideration of
HK$78,444,000. Details of these transactions are disclosed in note 38
to the financial statements.

On 1 October 2022, the Group entered into shares transfer
agreements with certain fellow subsidiaries of the Group to acquire
60% equity interests in each of Kingtex and Jet Success together
with the shareholder’s loans at a total consideration of HK$997,000.
Details of these transactions are disclosed in note 1 to the financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, CAP Group entered into
various lease agreements with a subsidiary of Wang On in respect of
leasing certain retail premises for the Group's wet market operations
in Hong Kong. The amount of rent payable by the CAP Group under
the lease ranged from HK$23,000 to HK$88,000 per month, which
was determined with reference to the prevailing market conditions
in the vicinity. At the commencement dates of the leases, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in aggregate of
HK$9,644,000 and HK$9,644,000, respectively.
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43. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(vi)  The interest expense was charged by a related party on a loan
advanced to the Group at an effective interest rate of 10% per
annum. The loan balance was fully repaid during the year ended 31
March 2023.

(viii)  The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with
certain associates in respect of the sub-licensing of certain retail
premises. The aggregate average amount of rent payable by the
associates under the sub-licensing agreement was HK$228,000 (2023:
HK$188,000) per month, which was determined with reference to
terms mutually agreed between the Group and the associates.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

43. BT A 5 ()

(a) EREBHzXZ(H)
MifAE ()

(i) BBIRBNTAEEZE
IR BB ) FR10% R A
B -BEREHRERBE-ZT
—Zf=ZRA=t—RLLEE
BHEE -

(vii) ANEHHEETFHEARRD
HETZEMEITLETH
i  BEQRRESA
HEEMNFEHASREAR
& A228000 T(ZE ==
188,000/ Jr) » Jh & &
EAEEARE AR ER D
EZNERETE °

(b) ZEEXTEEBASZHME

Fees e 757 876
Short-term employment benefits EHEERA 19,364 22,900
Post-employment benefits BB B A 165 134
Total e Et 20,286 23,910

The above compensation of key management personnel includes
the directors’ remuneration, details of which are set out in note 9
to the financial statements.

(c) Outstanding balance with related parties
Details of the Group's trade balances due from associates and
loans and interest receivables due from Wang On and the CAP
Group as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note
23 and 24 to the financial statements.

(d) Financial guarantee provided to a related party
As at 31 March 2024, the Group has given guarantees to a bank in
connection with banking facilities granted to a fellow subsidiary.
Details of the financial guarantees given by the Group to a fellow
subsidiary are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

44. Financial Guarantees

(a

The Group has provided guarantees to a bank in connection with
facilities granted to CAP up to HK$370,000,000 as at 31 March
2024 (2023: HKS$370,000,000) and such facilities were utilised
to the extent of HK$253,374,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$335,040,000).

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over the guarantees. The financial guarantee
contracts are measured at the higher of the ECL allowance and
the amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of
income recognised. The ECL allowance is measured by estimating
the cash shortfalls, which are based on the expected payments
to reimburse the holders for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from the debtor. The
amount initially recognised represents the fair value at initial
recognition of the financial guarantees.

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group did not recognise
any liabilities in respect of such corporate financial guarantees
as the directors of the Company consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote; accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of these guarantee contracts
and at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group provided guarantees of
approximately HK$36,077,000 to customers in favour of certain
banks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers of
the properties sold. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in
the event of default on mortgage payments by these purchasers
before the expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together with the
accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers
to the banks, net of any sales proceeds as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, in the
event of default on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the
banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and will realise the
pledged properties through open auction or other appropriate
means. The Group is responsible for repaying the banks when
the proceeds from the auction of the properties cannot cover
the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate
ownership certificates to the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors
of the Company consider that in the event of default on payments,
the net realisable value of the related properties can cover the
repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals together with
the accrued interest and penalties.
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45. Financial Instruments by Category 45. HEONE 0 S TR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RBEMARTEINzZERITAZEK
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: HEMAT:
31 March 2024 —E_WE=A=1+—H
Financial assets tREE

Listed equity investments FiRERE 24,986 13,340 - - 38,326
Listed debt investments THEEERE 8,128 - - - 8,128
Unlisted funds FEmESE - - 15,413 - 15,413
Trade receivables BHENHIE - - - 81,356 81,356
Net investments in subleases SEBREFE - - - 10,828 10,828
Loans and interest receivables EREZREFE - - - 494,759 494,759
Financial assets included in FABARE RER

prepayments, deposits, and Hip R HEZ &

other receivables BEE - - - 59,271 59,271
Pledged deposits BEAFER - - - 4,444 4,444
Cash and cash equivalents BekBLERER - - - 154,969 154,969
Total 5t 33,114 13,340 15,413 805,627 867,494
Financial liabilities SEAasE

Trade and bills payables BEHRNRERENRRE 30,907
Financial liabilities included in other payables and SPARMENRELESAERZSRARE

accruals (excluding lease liabilities) (HE &8 &R 42,041
Lease liabilities HEAE 99,120
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AFRRITEE 460,949
Total st 633,017
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45. 528 5 ) 43 i 4 ik T H ()

—EZ=F=A=t-H

45. Financial Instruments by Category (continued)

31 March 2023

Financial assets

EREE

Listed equity investments THRERE 143,649 123 - - 143,772
Listed debt investments FTHEBREE 50,056 = = = 50,056
Unlisted funds FrmES - - 41,638 - 41,638
Derivative component of EERAEZE TETA

unsecured notes 0o = - 5456 = 5456
Put options 7k ER - - 232 - 232
Trade receivables 25 MW g = = - 68,028 68,028
Net investments in subleases SHRKEFE - - - 1251 12,511
Loans and interest receivables EUEZRFE = = - 27,958 27,958
Financial assets included in HABRZE KER

prepayments, deposits, and HiElhZE Y &

other receivables REE _ _ _ 191212 191212
Pledged deposits BERER - - - 3349 33,496
Restricted bank balances IBHBRITEH - - = 12,174 12,174
Cash and cash equivalents BeRB4ZRER = - - 525,869 525,869
Total 5t 193,705 123 47326 871,248 1,112,402
Financial liabilities SEAasE

Trade payables B HRENRIE 79,489
Financial liabilities included in other payables and AAAEMENREREAERAZZRAR

accruals (excluding lease liabilities) (HE&a &R 352,202
Lease liabilities HEB®E 117,767
Unsecured notes IR 1R E IR 125,189
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FEERETREMESR 1,521,662
Total “EEt 2,196,309

fITE

EERRARAT
A nesn 209

=



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

S 85 e 2 Wt 6E o)

31 March 2024 —Z W& =A=+—H

46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

210

Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

46. &t THZ AP KA PHE

FH

AEESRTAGREERATES
BRENSBIARINZBEER
ATEMT

THMAE
AERTRAMEE

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings 460,949 1,521,662 479,646 1,568,461
Unsecured notes /9K 1 IR - 125,189 - 134,615
Total 4 Et 460,949 1,646,851 479,646 1,703,076

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances, pledged deposits, trade
receivables, net investments in subleases, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, loans and interest
receivables, trade and bills payables and financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the
Company are responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance
department reports directly to the Company’s directors and the audit
committee. At each reporting date, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the Company’s directors. The valuation process and results
are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024 were assessed to
be insignificant. The fair values of the liability portion of the unsecured
notes are estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using an equivalent market interest rate for similar securities with
consideration of the Group's own non-performance risk.

The fair values of listed equity investments and listed debt investments
are based on quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted fund
investments are determined based on the quoted market prices
provided by fund administrators with reference to prices derived
from the over-the-counter market. The fair values of unlisted debt
investments at FVTOC| have been estimated using a discounted cash
flow valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The directors of the Company believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they
were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the embedded derivatives in unsecured notes is
determined by valuation techniques and based on assumptions on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. The
valuation model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including
the expected volatility, discount rate, risk-free rate and mean reversion.

The fair value of the put options is determined by valuation techniques
and based on assumptions on market conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period. The valuation model requires the input
of subjective assumptions, including the expected volatility and
price-to-earnings ratio.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the put options was not
significant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The inputs
used and their sensitivity analysis were not disclosed as such disclosures
would result in particulars of excessive length and provide no additional
useful information to the users of the consolidated financial statements.
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46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

212

Instruments (continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity
analysis as at 31 March 2023:

As at 31 March 2023
R-B-=%=ZA=t+-H

A derivative component from unsecured notes Hull-white one factor ~ Volatility
classified as financial assets at FVTPL trinomial model i

PERBERATESBEARZOREEL FRERE-RE=R
BERRBZNETARS AEA

Discount rate
FRE

Mean reversion
HEES

During the year and before the Distribution in Specie, CAP repurchased
and cancelled all the Unsecured Notes 2024 and the corresponding
derivative component from unsecured notes classified as financial asset
at FVTPL was derecognised.
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Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
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46. &t TH2Z AV &A A
& )

ATESH
TRYUPAEMEBTAZATE
HES®

RATEHNBZAE:

As at 31 March 2024

R-B-MmE=A=+-H

Financial assets at FVTOCI: RAFEEEM2EYE
ARZEREE:
Listed equity investments FokERE 24,986 - - 24,986
Listed debt investments LHEBRE 8,128 - - 8,128
Financial assets at FVTPL: BRATESBRAEZER
BE:
Unlisted funds FEMES - 15,413 - 15,413
Listed equity investment ErlRkERE 13,340 - - 13,340
Total @it 46,454 15,413 - 61,867
As at 31 March 2023 RZB-=F=fA=+—-H
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BATESEM2ERE
AEZeREE:
Listed equity investments FiRERE 143,649 = = 143,649
Listed debt investments EHEREE 50,056 - - 50,056
Financial assets at FVTPL: RATHEEBRARZER
BE:
Unlisted funds FLETES - 41,638 = 41,638
Listed equity investment FrRERE 123 - - 123
Derivative component of unsecured notes EEAZBZITETIA
B S = 5456 5456
Put options RLEE - - 232 232
Total 5t 193,828 41,638 5,688 241,154
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46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

214

Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years

are as follows:

46. &t TH2Z AV &A A
& )

D ESR(E)
RATEABRZEE: (8)
RUATFE  BE=RATEFEZ
EEMT

At 1 April 2022

Addition

Early redemption of unsecured notes

Fair value gains recognised in profit or loss, net

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

Early redemption of unsecured notes

Fair value losses recognised in profit or loss, net

Loss of control of subsidiaries upon completion
of the Distribution in Specie

R-EBE--FMA—H 9,849
RE 391
PR &R E R (4,755)
REZPERZAFERKS  F5H8 203
R-F-=F=A=+-AR

—ZE-=FAF—H 5,688
i TR (2,677)
REZPERZAFEEE  FE (2,640)
EREYVHIREREHRBRARN

2 Il 4 (371)

At 31 March 2024

RZTEZWF=A=+—H =

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for

both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as

at 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  47. W#)a\k e PEER & BR

Policies

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
unsecured notes and bank and other borrowings disclosed in notes 31
and 32 to the financial statements, net of cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits and equity attributable to owners of the parent, which
comprises issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade receivables,
loans and interest receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at
FVTPL, net investments in subleases, financial assets at FVTOCI,
cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted bank
balances, trade and bills payables, bank and other borrowings,
unsecured notes, and financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risk.
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

216

Policies (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risks

(i)

Currency risk

The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency sales and purchases and foreign
currency bank deposits, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Substantially most of the Group’s bank
deposits and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are denominated in the relevant group entities’ functional
currencies. Substantially most of the Group's sales and
purchases are denominated in the relevant group entities’
functional currencies.

The Group currently does not implement hedging activities
to hedge against foreign currency exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange rate
fluctuation of the foreign currencies stated above against
the functional currencies of the respective group entities.

If the RMB exchange rate had increased/decreased by 5%
and other variables were held constant, the Group's profit
for the year ended 31 March 2024 would have increased/
decreased by HK$695,000 (2023: HK$282,000).

The Group's exposures to currency risk of other currencies
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore
no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risks (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 32 to the financial
statements) and bank deposits (see note 27 to the financial
statements) at prevailing market interest rates. The Group
monitors the movement in interest rates on an ongoing
basis and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of one to three months
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The Group currently
does not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings and bank deposits at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming that the amount
of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had increased/decreased by 50 basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit
for the year ended 31 March 2024 would have increased/
decreased by HK$1,924,000 (2023: HKS$5,476,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank borrowings. There is no material
impact on other components of the Group's equity.

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on bank balances
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore
no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

218

Policies (continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies a.

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices
and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed
to equity price risk arising from individual equity investments
included in financial assets at FVTOCI (note 19) and financial
assets at FVTPL (note 26) as at 31 March 2024. The Group's
listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange at the close
of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the
end of the reporting period, and its respective highest and
lowest points during the year are as follows:

47, WHus )R B A B E AR K BUSR ()

B RREEEERBK (H)

w5 E i ()
(iii) E#%mEE

EREREEEKER
BOKFERMEREHZE
BEEPABBELRESLQ
FETRZER- - H=
E-MFE=A=+—RH"
AEBEGFAERTE
REMEEKEARZ
A B EMH19 KR
ATELBERARZS
B & 2 (M 5E26) 19 18 5l
P #E 1% & T T B AR (B
BER - AEEZ LT
RETERGEMR LT
W A e & HI R 2 T 35 ]
BETHE-

REOBEHRORS
REXREAERE B
5P 2 T 5 B A R B
EENESHERER
mr

Hong Kong BE
- Hang Seng Index — B4 #EH 16,541 20,865/
14,794

20,400 22,701/
14,597

The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the
price movements and the changes in market conditions that
may affect the value of these financial investments.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
10% increase/decrease in the fair values of the listed equity
investments with all other variables held constant and
before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts
at the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of
this analysis, for the listed equity investments included in
financial assets at FVTOCI, the impact is deemed to be on
the fair value reserve (non-recycling).
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a.

B RREEEERBK (H)

E2:0:4¢ ¥
(iii) 1B mE (F)

TR ETRERE
RBEBMRZEME -
Y H D FEI0%E M,/
wmE i AERLQLFE
B & H A2 E WK AR
ZEMEEMN TR
BREZEEWBIEELD
FEMBECTTE &) 2

By 488
T

2024 —E-ME
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: REBLTZRERE:
- Financial assets at FVTPL —RAFEEBEAERL
SREE 13,340 1,334/(1,334) -
- Financial assets at FVTOCI —RATESEM2ERE
AEZEREE 24,986 - 2,499/(2,499)
2023 i St
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: REBLMZRERE:
- Financial assets at FVTPL —RAOVEEBEARY
tREE 123 12/(12) -
~Financial assets at FVTOCI —BRAFESE M2 IS
AEZEREE 143,649 - 14,365/(14,365)
Liquidity risk REBESLRER

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with

loan covenants.
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

220

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

47, WHus )R B A B E AR K BUSR ()

a. MHEAMERERRBEEE)

RBESRR (R

B EERFFREEF
TRHANAEE SR EBER %
BHFH MERBEAKER
FPABERRABNZEBARBAKR
ARERERR - IBELRA
BZEHATNERGEERA
#A o

TREEMNERASR SR
E-MAMSRERER/TE
AR BAUREHEHARZ
& -

As at 31 March 2024

R-ZB-ME=ZA=1+-H

Trade and bills payables BIHRNAERENEE 30,907 - - 30,907 30,907
Other payables and accruals HipRAFEREASER

(excluding lease liabilities) (AEBRERMN 41,951 90 - 42,041 42,041
Lease liabilities HEEE 53,400 52,720 - 106,120 99,120
Bank borrowings — BITEE —FE(HF)

variable rates (note) 203,468 296,911 - 500,379 460,949
Total &5t 329,726 349,721 - 679,447 633,017
As at 31 March 2023 RZBZ=F=A=+—H
Trade payables ES5RMNRE 79,489 - - 79,489 79,489
Other payables and accruals HitENRERENER

(excluding lease liabilities (HEABRIRBENE

and including liabilities of a ARZAE)

disposal company) 352,325 66 - 352,391 352,391
Lease liabilities HEARE 56,296 68,443 3,659 128,398 117,767
Bank and other borrowings —  RITREMEE — %8

variable rates (note) (H3E) 528,762 987,528 - 1,516,290 1,311,696
Bank and other borrowings —  BAREMEE — T8

fixed rates (note) (B 3E) 151,374 65,194 22,008 238,576 209,966
Unsecured notes BEERER 1,653 151,500 - 153,153 125,189
Total @it 1,169,899 1,272,731 25,667 2,468,297 2,196,498

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

Note:

Included in interest-bearing bank loans of the Group are term loans with
an aggregate principal amounted to HK$29,000,000 (2023: HK$120,681,000),
of which the respective loan agreements contain a repayment on-demand
clause giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total
amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that these
loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they consider
that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity dates as
set out in the respective loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of approval of
the financial statements; the Group's compliance with the loan covenants;
the lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the terms of
these loans, the contractual undiscounted payments are as follows:

B RREEEERBK (H)

RBESRR (R
B E 2 RFERbE & (&)
B 3T

AEBEGERTEREELAS A
#829,000,000% T(Z T = = F:
120,681,000% ) W EHE K - &
TEBEERGAREREREE
B BT RITHRG & DR
EHER Bt LR BB
AME 2RESHECHOHARIMRE
KEE] -

BEALBGRRAE BEFY
TRE ZEEFERNREARZ
BEE MRERBSZERETS
RESBERGHAANZAN
FEBAEE - RRAGETEED
THHES A ET ARERME
BRUEFHNFHBRR: AEH
BITERZG: RBLEBOSEMH:
NRAEBEBREEERNATA
HETBUE R o RIBZ S WA G
EHRFTRNFTMAT

31 March 2024 —ZE-_WNE=ZA=+—H 11,136 20,726 31,862
31 March 2023 —E-=%=A=+—H 48,763 77,769 126,532
Credit risk FEERRK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In order to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual receivable at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the credit risk is significantly reduced.
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. For listed debt investments, the
Group also monitors them by using external credit ratings. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2024

47, WHus )R B A B E AR K BUSR ()

B RREEEERBK (H)

FERR(E)
REBBRFZER
TERBETRENAEBENEE
BRNEEEZRESEE
R B B A HE (B
FEMERATEBANE AL
ERAREHOERT ER) -
RR=ZRA=+T—HWFHEER
D AKETFBINEEE
FRERLTEBRE - A2
JERAEREEMRKRAME -

R-ZE-_ME=/A=+—H

Listed debt investments at BATELEME

fair value through other AKZAEY
comprehensive income tREEERE
- LEBBIE — BBBEC 7,720 408 - 8,128
Trade receivables* B HIE* = = 94,402 94,402
Net investments in subleases SHABEFE = - 10,828 10,828
Loans and interest receivables  fEl B Z B F & 494,759 - - 494,759
Financial assets included in HABMRE . &
prepayments, deposits and SREMER
other receivables HEYLBE
Ll E—FE* 59,271 = = 59,271
Pledged deposits BHEARR 4,444 - - 4,444
Cash and cash equivalents BERBLER
EE 154,969 - - 154,969
Total @i 721,163 408 105,230 826,801
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2023

47, W )R B A B E AR K BUSR ()

a.

MERREEEERKE (FE)
EERK(E)
RZTEZ=F=A=+—H

Listed debt investments at BATEZEEME

fair value through other AkBAEY

comprehensive income tHEERE

= GalE —AAEC 49,43 - 813 - 50056
Trade receivables* e = - - 91,122 91,122
Net investments in subleases SHRBEFE = - - 12,511 12,511
Loans and interest receivables W EH K FI & 13,963 1,59 55,985 = 71,544
Financial assets included in FABRRE £

prepayments, deposits and R E i FE W 5R R

other receivables JEREE

— Normal** —EE* 176,827 - - - 176,827

— Doubtful** — BB = 14,385 - - 14,385
Pledged deposits BHEARR 33,496 = = = 3349
Restricted bank balances XBRHRITEH 12,174 - - - 12,174
Cash and cash equivalents B¢ ER4ZERE

(including assets of a B(BEHER

disposal company) RIZEE) 526,703 - - = 526,703
Total &5t 812,406 15,981 56,798 103,633 988,818
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * MAKEERG( T AR

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

*%
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47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

224

b.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by equity attributable to owners of the parent of the
Company. Net debt is calculated as the total of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and unsecured notes, less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

47, WHus )R B A B E AR K BUSR ()

BEREE
AEBEAEENTIZEARRE
REAEEFELENE
RgEmREERNL - BEK
REXBEERERREERA
1t -

AEBHAELERREOEE Y
EAREEBETEERERAERE -
E@EAFAERBRERMSRS
BRRETFRERBEITHRS
DRI ABRERNERE - HE
—E_NEN_T_=F=HA
=t+—HALFER BEXER
MEZE BEKBFHELHR

B -

AEBEFBaELEEBF
HHRAGRABHEAAREER)
ERER - EBFERFR
RITR H A& B AR BB R R
BeRERREMASERA
BREERERAE - BEH

AOBELERWT:
Interest-bearing bank and other ARROTLEMEE
borrowings 32 460,949 1,521,662
Unsecured notes EmIEMRIE 31 - 125,189
Less: Cash and cash equivalentsand B :BH& kR ESEHEEEH
pledged deposits REEBFR 27 (159,413) (559,365)
Net debt BT 301,536 1,087,486
Equity attributable to owners BARIEAARGRESR
of the parent 1,386,946 2,349,191
Gearing ratio BELE 22% 46%

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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48.

49.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Events After the Reporting Period

(i) On 3 May 2024, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of a property classified as investment properties at a consideration
of HK$33,000,000. The transaction is expected to be completed
in August 2024. Further details of the disposal are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated on 3 May 2024.

(i) On 17 June 2024, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of certain properties classified as leasehold land and buildings
included in property, plant and equipment at an aggregate
consideration of HK$21,900,000. The transaction is expected to be
completed in August 2024. Further details of the disposal are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated on 17 June 2024.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the transactions
have not been completed, it is not practicable to disclose further details
about these transactions.

Comparative Amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and re-presented
to conform with the current year's presentation and disclosures,
including the comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income which has been re-presented as if the
operations discontinued during the current year have been discontinued
at the beginning of the comparative period. Further details are included
in notes 4 and 13 to the financial statements.
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50. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

226

NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE

Investments in subsidiaries RHBARIZIEE - =
CURRENT ASSETS REEE

Due from subsidiaries NI R 1,944,292 2,735,077
Other receivables H ftb fE Uk 58 1,825 681
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFERIER 38,497 76,576
Total current assets BREEE 1,984,614 2,812,334
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE

Due to subsidiaries FE AT BT /B8 A B SR IE 745,993 643,820
Other payables and accruals HENHRERESER 4,334 6,978
Interest-bearing bank borrowing FRRITEE - 4,331
Total current liabilities rrsa’E 750,327 655,129
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 1,234,287 2,157,205
Net assets BEEFE 1,234,287 2,157,205
EQUITY Em

Issued capital BEITRAE 11,711 12,046
Reserves (note) et (M EE) 1,222,576 2,145,159
Total equity 1R = 1,234,287 2,157,205

Tang Ching Ho

Tang Wai Man

E A WEH
Director Director
EF EF

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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50. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

51.

(continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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50. A2 6] R O @)

i)

AAREEHEHIIOT :

t 1 April 2022 RZF-ZZFMA—A 2,106,799 (27,150 275,693 (6,270) (222,239) 2,126,833
Profit for the year KEFHF - - - - 27459 27459
Other comprehensive income for the year: R & & H it 2 IR 3 :

Change in fair value of equity RATESE M2 AN E
investments at fair value through ARz REREZ A
other comprehensive income TEEY - - - 557 - 557
Total comprehensive income for the year A4 & 2 E MK % &% - - - 557 27459 28016
Shares repurchased and cancelled BERFHERG (9,690) - - - - (9,690)
Reclassification adjustment foralosson HERATELEp2ANRS
disposal of equity investments at far ~ ABZREREFEZE
value through other comprehensive HORBE
income - - - 5713 (5713) -
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZZZ=ZF=ZA=+-
ZEC=FWA- El 2,097,109 (27,150) 275,693 - (200,493) 2,145,159
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - (366,561) (366,561)
Total comprehensive loss for the year K& & %EEETE B - - - - (366,561) (366,561)
Share premium reduction (note 34(ii)) #1138 A% 17 & B (B £ 34(i)) (950,000) - 950,000 - - -
Special dividend by way of the ENDEEFIRE
Distribution in Specie - - (541,629) - - (541,629)
Shares repurchased and cancelled BE R KRG (14,393) - - - - (14,393)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-WE=A=+-H 1,132,716 (27,150) 684,064 - (567,054) 1,222,576
Approval of the Financial Statements 1. BT B E
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the B REChHETeRn S -ME

board of directors on 26 June 2024.
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Five Year Financial Summary

AR 0 B R

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements is set out below.

As set out in the note 13 to the financial statements, the management of and
sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets segment owned
and operated by the CAP Group was not previously classified as discontinued
operations. The comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023 has been
re-presented to show the discontinued operations of the management of
and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets segment
separately from continuing operations. For the interests of the shareholders
of the Company, the results for the years ended 31 March 2022, 2021 and 2020
are not restated in this respect.

Results

TXRAEEBEREMRFE 2 EE R
AE REBERFFERESBE TXNHE
BEEAMZEERTBEE -

BN S HRRKM EBME AP EEER
SEREREENEERRIMBZYE
EREREEDDENTIEDPEADRIEL
BEm . BE_T_=—H#=RA=+—H1
FEMNAELBGAEZREM2EKE
REEY UBIL2MNNBERIENBRERR
SMEMEEERHBEDBRIFELEE
e BEAEARBIREMF = - WES I

ENBE-_ZT-__F —T-_—FR-FT
TZEZA=+-HIEFENES -
E 3

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREER
Revenue W & 783,881 1,391,411 1,108,565 620,741
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLATEF(BE) (13,633) (47,304) (303,131) 455,167
Income tax credit/(expense) kgL, (AX) 6,359 (40,519) (148,132) (17,199)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE BFECEERN

YEAR FROM CONTINUING KEERN/

OPERATIONS (E#) (7,274) (87,823) (451,263) 437,968
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS E&IL&KE XK
Profit/(loss) for the year from BRIEEEEBLH

discontinued operations REEHF

(B#) 11,319 - - _

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR EEERF(B1R)

THE YEAR 4,045 (87,823) (451,263) 437,968
Attributable to: ATA TR :

Owners of the parent YNGIEZSUN (15,356) (108,912) (375,995) 438,548

Non-controlling interests FEE R 19,401 21,089 (75,268) (580)
Total @at 4,045 (87,823) (451,263) 437,968

Assets, Liabilities and Non-Controlling Interests

B ~ QU B 1 I 4R

Total assets BEE 2,095,110 7,597,713 7,964,526 7,730,183
Total liabilities BmEE (709,654) (3,637,102) (4,014,177) (3,736,796)
Non-controlling interests FEERER 1,490 (1,444,813) (1,385,024) (1,350,601)
Equity attributable to owners of & QA7 HA A 1L

the parent = 1,386,946 2,515,798 2,565,325 2,642,786

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
228 ; g
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